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CSC HOLDINGS LIMITED AT A GLANCE 

CSC Holdings Limited Group of companies (“the 
Group”) is Singapore’s largest foundation and 
geotechnical engineering specialist and one of the 
regions leading ground engineering solutions provider 
for private and public sector works which include 
residential, commercial, industrial and infrastructure 
projects. Founded in 1975, it has been listed on 
the Main Board of the Singapore Stock Exchange  
since 1998.  

The Group operates principally as foundation and 
geotechnical engineering specialists and offers a full 
range of capabilities in this field which includes the 
construction and installation of large diameter bored 
piles, diaphragm walls, ground improvement works, 
driven piles, jack-in piles, micro piles, soil investigation 
and instrumentation services and automatic tunnel 
and structural monitoring survey. With a total regional 
workforce of over 1,695 employees, the Group 
currently operates in Singapore, Malaysia, Vietnam and  
Middle East. 

Backed by strong fundamentals and an experienced 
management team, the Group’s excellent reputation 
through the years has made professionalism, 
performance and good corporate governance a 
trademark of its business.
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CORPORATE MILESTONES

1975 Founding of Ching Soon 
Engineering Pte Ltd.

1981  Incorporation of CS 
Construction & Geotechnic Pte Ltd 
(formerly known as Ching Soon 
Construction Pte Ltd) (Foundation and 
civil engineering business).

1996 Incorporation of CS Bored 
Pile System Pte Ltd to undertake bored 
piling projects.

Incorporation of CS Geotechnic Pte Ltd 
to provide a wide range of geotechnical 
engineering services. 

Incorporation of Ching Soon Industries 
Pte Ltd (Design and manufacturing of 
precast reinforced concrete piles and 
welded steel fabric).

1997 Incorporation of CSC Holdings 
Limited (Investment holding).

Incorporation of Ching Soon Concrete 
Products Sdn Bhd (Malaysia) 
(Manufacturing & trading of reinforced 
concrete piles.

1998 Listing of CSC Holdings Ltd on 
the main board of the Stock Exchange 
of Singapore. 

Incorporation of CS Industrial Land Pte 
Ltd (Management, development and 
sale of industrial land).

1999 Joint venture with Santarli 
Construction Pte Ltd to form Excel Precast 
Pte Ltd (Design and manufacturing of 
precast structural elements).

2000 Incorporation of Kolette Pte 
Ltd (Sale and sublet of land and property 
development).

2002 Acquired 100% equity state 
in THL Engineering Pte Ltd (formerly 
known as THL Foundation Equipment 
Pte Ltd) (Sale and rental of foundation 
engineering equipment & related parts 
and foundation works).

2004 Joint Venture with Tat Hong 
Holdings Limited’s subsidiary, Tat Hong 
HeavyEquipment Pte Ltd to form THL 
Foundation Equipment Pte Ltd (Sale 
and leasing of foundation engineering 
equipment and parts).

2006 Incorporation of CS India Pte 
Ltd (Investment holding). 

Acquisition of L&M Foundation 
Specialist Pte Ltd, a specialist contractor 
in Diaphragm Wall and also involved 
in heavy foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works as well.

Incorporation of L&M Ground 
Engineering Sdn Bhd in Malaysia 
(Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works).

2007 Rights Issue - in March, a total 
of 222,478,390 ordinary shares were 
issued at $0.11 per ordinary shares for 
cash arising from the rights issue on the 
basis of one rights issue for every four 
existing shares held by the shareholders.

In April, the Group acquired G-Pile Sistem 
Sdn Bhd, a leading hydraulic jack-in-piles 
company in Malaysia. 

At the same month, the Group acquired Soil 
Investigation Pte Limited, one of Singapore’s 
leading soil investigation companies.

Incorporation of CS Prefab Steel Private 
Limited (India) (Manufacturing and 
supply of prefab steel products.)

2008 Incorporation of CSC Ground 
Engineering Sdn Bhd (Piling, foundation 
and geotechnical engineering works), 
earmarked as a Joint Venture vehicle 
with IJM Construction Sdn Bhd a wholly 
owned subsidiary of IJM Corporation 
Berhad (listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock 
Exchange) for the purpose of carrying out 
the business of foundation engineering 
and other related works in Malaysia and 
the region.

Acquisition of 70% equity stake in 
Wisescan Engineering Services Pte 
Ltd, a leading tunneling and automatic 
monitoring survey specialist which has 
carried out work in several overseas 
markets, including China, Taiwan, India  
and Malaysia. 

Incorporation of L&M Foundation 
Specialist (Vietnam) Limited Company 
(Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works).

Incorporation of L&M Foundation 
Specialist (Middle East) Limited Liability 
Company (Foundation engineering and 
geotechnical works).

Awarded one of Forbes Asia’s “Best 
Under A Billion” award recognising the 
Group as one of the region’s top 200 
small and mid size companies.

2009 Awarded one of Singapore’s 
50 faster growing companies by DP 
Information Group.

Acquisition of 70% equity stake 
in Spectest Sdn Bhd, a leading 
geotechnical instrumentation groups 
in Malaysia to facilitate CSC Holdings 
Limited and together with its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) to extent the Group’s 
current business of soil investigation, 
geotechnical instrumentation and 
monitoring services to be offered to the 
customers in Malaysia.

Incorporation of G-Pile Engineering 
Sdn Bhd to facilitate our business 
development activities in Malaysia.

Voluntary liquidation of CS Prefab Steel 
Private Limited

CSC Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2010 1



ENGINEERING ExPERTISE 
ENgINEERINg SOLuTIONS

As the region’s leading geotechnical and ground 
engineering group, CSC Holdings Limited possesses 
the critical engineering expertise, and human capital, 
to provide engineering solutions for a broad spectrum 
of requirements. 

From servicing the building industry in both public 
and private sectors, to fulfilling the needs of industrial  
and infrastructure projects, CSC continues to 
lead its industry with the strength of its innovative 
applications. 

From large diameter 

bored piles, diaphragm 

walls, soil improvement 

and soil investigation, to 

instrumentation services 

and automatic structural 

monitoring systems, we offer 

our customers an extensive 

and all-encompassing range 

of geo-technical and ground 

engineering solutions.
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Dharminder Singh
Geomatic Engineer
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Mohan s/o Maniam
Deputy Manager, Project

Loo Boon Keat
Project Engineer



Ting Hua Keong
Director of
Soil Investigation Pte Limited

Clara Chua
Senior Manager
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With an extensive inventory of foundation engineering 
equipment, and geotechnical heavy machinery, CSC 
Holdings is able to consistently deploy the necessary 
resources for each project it undertakes, to ensure their 
expeditious progress and completion.

With a full range of geotechnical and ground engineering 
equipment, CSC Holdings is able to consistently deploy 
the necessary resources for each project it undertakes, to 
ensure the timely and efficient completion of the work.

Our people, with their extensive experience and expertise 
are always on hand to provide our clients with creative 
and cost effective solutions to meet their geotechnical 
and ground engineering needs.

ExTENSIVE RESOURCES
ExTENSIvE CaPaCITy

People, Equipment and 

Expertise. These are our 

assets. It is the vision, 

dedication and resolve of 

our management and staff 

that forms the spine of the 

company, with the strength 

of our technical know-

how and heavy equipment 

delivering the muscle for our 

engineering solutions.

Chong Wei Jian
Civil / Geomatic Engineer
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Chee Teck Kwong, 
Patrick
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSagE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

When the going gets tough, the tough gets going.  CSC’s financial 
year ended 31 March 2010 (FY10) was characterized by soft 
demand for most of the year. Despite this, our team bonded 
together and successfully met the challenges head on. Adjusting 
our strategies to face the tumultuous economic conditions, we 
finished the year under review on a positive note. By pursuing 
a decisive strategy of restructuring, improving internal work 
processes and focusing on developing our people, we not only 
managed to chalk up decent profits, we now stand confident in 
facing the new financial year ahead.

The global financial crisis, which started in late 2008 and spilled 
over into 2009, had resulted in companies around the world 
experiencing some of the most difficult economic conditions.  
Despite the challenging landscape, we displayed business 
resilience, finishing the year with a healthy pick up in order book 
in the fourth quarter of 2010 (4Q10), as we secured projects 
in excess of $120 million in the infrastructure, residential and 
industrial sectors in 4Q10. However, work on these projects 
only commenced in the later part of 4Q10 and hence did not 
contribute largely to the full year results. These projects will only 
contribute more significantly in the new financial year.

Reflecting generally softer demand for most of the year, revenue 
for FY10 was $285.1 million, compared to $568.1 million in the 
previous financial year (FY09). Accordingly, the Group recorded 
a net profit of $26.0 million for FY10, compared to $42.5 million 
in FY09. Due to improved work efficiencies, net profit margin for 
FY10 also improved to 9.1% from 7.5% in FY09. In addition, we 
maintained a healthy balance sheet and improved our cash flow. 

DIvIDEND

In line with our practice of delivering a steady dividend payout 
for shareholders in profitable times, the Board of Directors 
is recommending a tax-exempt final cash dividend of 0.40 
Singapore cents, which if approved by shareholders at our Annual 
General Meeting to be held on 23 July 2010, will be paid out in 
September 2010. This is in addition to the interim dividend of 

0.20 Singapore cents that was paid out in December 2009.  The 
total dividend payout for the financial year would thus amount 
to 0.60 Singapore cents per ordinary share, which translates to a 
dividend payout ratio of 31%.

YEAR IN REvIEW

In response to the lull in market activity in the first half of FY10, 
we strengthened our foundations by restructuring some of our 
weaker business units and streamlining workflow processes, 
to raise productivity levels. We also focused on enhancing our 
capabilities and enlarging our Asian footprint to diversify our 
geographical revenue base. These prudent initiatives helped us to 
adapt better to the volatile conditions and to emerge leaner and 
more competitive as a whole.

Making further inroads into the Malaysian market, we 
incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary, G-Pile Engineering 
Sdn Bhd in October 2009. Along with this, in December 2009, 
we also successfully acquired a majority stake in Spectest Sdn 
Bhd and its subsidiaries (Spectest Group). Spectest Group is a 
leading geotechnical instrumentation group, and the acquisition 
is a natural extension of our current business of soil investigation, 
geotechnical instrumentation and monitoring services, which 
will provide us with a platform to offer a wider range of services  
in Malaysia.

In line with our vision to partake in strategic partnerships, while 
being pragmatic and cautious in our efforts to seek and grow 
opportunities overseas, we broke new ground in Vietnam, 
when we secured a foundation contract from a Singapore-listed 
developer, responsible for the development of some residential 
apartments in Ho Chi Minh City.

Our industrial land at Tuas that was acquired some 10 years 
ago is being put to good use as we inked an agreement with 
SB (Westpoint) Investment Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Soilbuild Group Holdings Ltd (Soilbuild) in December 2009, 
whereby the latter will develop and market the industrial space at 
Tuas.  Our partnership with Soilbuild will allow us to tap into their 
proven track record and expertise in developing industrial and 
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property space. In doing so, we hope to enhance the value of the 
proposed development, while continuing to focus our resources 
on growing our core foundation business.  

To further augment our bored piling capabilities, we proposed 
an investment of up to 30% in Double Wong Foundation Pte Ltd 
(Double Wong) in March 2010. Boasting one of the youngest 
fleets of foundation equipment in Singapore, Double Wong is 
a specialist in the installation of large diameter bored piles in 
very hard ground conditions. With this investment, our market 
presence in Singapore will be further enhanced.

AWARD

During the year, we received the Fastest Growing 50 certification 
from DP Information Group, a leading provider of business and 
credit information. This award is given out to the top 50 and 
top most dynamic companies who have consistently achieved 
outstanding corporate growth. We are gratified to have been 
accorded this recognition, particularly as some 8,000 companies 
in Singapore were considered. This award is truly a reflection of 
our team’s absolute dedication to providing innovative solutions 
for all of our customers, and our commitment to building up our 
competitive excellence.

THE ROAD AHEAD

Even as the global economic crisis appears to be tapering off, the 
recent sovereign debt crisis in Europe continues to pose some 
uncertainty on the strength of the economic recovery. As such, 
in preparation for any unexpected shocks in the global markets, 
we will need to be vigilant in our allocation of resources and  
cost management.

On the bright side, it is anticipated that the Singapore government 
will continue to push out infrastructure projects over the calendar 
year 2010, which should help to boost domestic construction 
activity. In addition, driven by strong sales in the property market, 
and continued confidence in the country’s socio-economic 
stability, the number of private residential projects, along with 
some significant industrial projects, should also help to sustain 
the growth of the construction industry through 2010.

We remain committed to strengthening our Asian footprint 
through the diversification of our geographical operations via 
collaborations with leading and strategic market players. On 
this note, we will continue to seek opportunities in Vietnam  
and Malaysia. 

The success of our Group has always been rooted in our ability to 
embrace change, innovate and excel. As such, we will continue 
to drive operational excellence and optimize synergies with our 
associates and business partners, by adhering to best practices 
in our work process and encouraging an atmosphere of mutual 
understanding and trust throughout the organization.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our valued 
shareholders, customers, bankers, suppliers and business partners 
for their unwavering support, continued trust and belief in us 
through the years. 

Underpinning our strong operating fundamentals is also the 
commitment and hard work of our management and all 
employees. I am very grateful to all of them for their unwavering 
dedication to the Group. 

To my fellow Board members, thank you for your steady guidance 
and wise counsel. Your vast and varied experience and insights 
have enriched Board deliberations and provided sound guidance 
to management. 

In enhancing shareholder value and delivering long-term benefits 
to all stakeholders, we will continue to focus on leveraging our 
full range of capabilities and service offerings.

Chee Teck Kwong Patrick
Chairman

“By pursuing a decisive strategy of restructuring, improving internal work 
processes and focusing on developing our people, we not only managed to 
chalk up decent profits, we now stand confident in facing the new financial 
year ahead.”
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See Yen Tarn
 

CEO’S MESSagE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Despite experiencing a slowdown in the construction industry 
over the first three quarters of the financial year ended 31 March 
2010 (FY10), which saw a number of projects being shelved 
or delayed, the light at the end of the tunnel shone through in 
the fourth quarter of 2010. This came in the form of a pick up 
in industry demand, which consequently resulted in CSC 
securing foundation projects in excess of $120 million. These 
projects are expected to contribute to our overall performance 
for the financial year ending 31 March 2011.

Reflecting softer demand for most part of the financial 
year, the Group registered a revenue decline of 49.8% 
from $568.1 million in FY09 to $285.1 million for 
the FY10. Notwithstanding the decline in full year 
revenue, overall gross margins held steady at 16.4%, 
versus 16.5% for the financial year ended 31 March  
2009 (FY09).  

Our concerted effort in streamlining the Group’s operations 
and improved work efficiencies resulted in a substantial 
57.3% reduction in operating expenses to $17.0 million, as 
compared to $39.9 million in FY09.

Consequently, we recorded a profit after tax of $26.0 million, 
compared to $42.5 million in FY09, along with a net margin 
improvement to 9.1% from 7.5%. Basic earnings per share 
was 1.97 cents for FY10, against 3.36 cents in the prior year.

The Group’s balance sheet was further strengthened, with net 
asset value per share of 15.5 cents, up from 13.8 cents in 
the last financial year. At the close of FY10, cash and cash 
equivalents stood at $27.1 million as compared to $25.7 
million in the previous corresponding period.

OPERATIONS REvIEW

We took the opportunity provided by the lull in market 
activity to restructure some of our business units and improve 
internal work processes. This was a crucial step that CSC had 
to undertake in order to emerge leaner, stronger and more 
resilient given the rapidly changing industry landscape.  

Bearing testimony to our strong engineering capabilities and 
project management expertise, we successfully secured a 
number of sizeable foundation and geotechnical contracts in 
both the public and private sectors. These include:

Infrastructure projects:

•	 geotechnical	work	for	4	out	of	12	stations	along	the	new		
Bukit Timah MRT Line

•	 foundation	work	for	part	of	the	Marina	Coastal	Expressway	
(MCE) and the building of a cofferdam to facilitate 
foundation works of the MCE

Residential & other public sector projects:

•	 public	 housing	 projects	 developed	 by	 the	 Housing	
Development Board of Singapore, located in various parts 
of Singapore such as Punggol, Sengkang, Woodlands and 
Bukit Timah

•	 education	 institutional	 projects	 including	 primary	 and	
secondary schools as well as colleges

•	 private	 residential	 projects	 in	 Malaysia	 and	 Singapore,	
including Interlace Condominium at Alexandra Road

Industrial projects:

•	 foundation	 work	 for	 the	 billion-dollar	 LNG	 Terminal	
located on Jurong Island

•	 foundation	work	for	the	Rolls	Royce	factory	at	the	Seletar	
Aerospace Hub and for various industrial developments  
at Tuas
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In December 2009, we entered into an agreement with SB 
(Westpoint) Investment Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Soilbuild Group Holdings Ltd (Soilbuild) to develop an 
industrial complex on a plot of land located in Tuas and owned 
by our Group. Under the terms of the agreement, Soilbuild 
will carry out the design, construction and marketing of the 
industrial development, in return for a portion of the units 
of the development. The land is about 322,000 sq ft large 
and will house a total of 70 single, double and triple storey 
terrace factory units, of about 3,000 to 6,000 sq ft each.

Leveraging on Soilbuild’s expertise in developing industrial 
and property space, we will now be able to unlock both the 
potential and value of the land. The development project has 
already been launched and are expected to be completed by 
June 2011. To date, about 70% of the units have been sold.  
This deal is a one-off agreement, and developing industrial 
space is not likely to be an area that CSC will be actively 
venturing into in the near future.

Our continued effort to build and improve upon our existing 
capabilities led us to propose an investment of up to 30% in 
Double Wong Foundation Pte Ltd (Double Wong) in March 
2010. Double Wong specialises in the installation of large 
diameter bored piles in very hard ground conditions, and have 
capabilities that serve to complement and enhance our existing 
resources and market presence. Pursuant to this agreement, 
Double Wong granted CSC an exclusivity period from the date 
of the agreement to 31 July 2010, during which CSC and its 
advisers are permitted to conduct full legal and financial due 
diligence on Double Wong and its business. We have also 
deposited a principal sum of $2 million with Double Wong, but 
in the event that we decide not to go ahead with the investment, 
Double Wong will repay the principal sum of the deposit in 
full, together with interest to be calculated at a rate of 5.5% per 
annum by 31 December 2010.

Beyond our shores

Our effort in diversifying and growing our geographical 
revenue base is progressing well, with overseas contribution 
to total revenue rising from 6% in FY09 to 13% in FY10.

In December 2009, we completed the acquisition of a 
70% stake in Spectest Sdn Bhd and its subsidiary (Spectest 
Group) for S$2 million (RM4.8 million).  Spectest  Group 
provides instrumentation and monitoring services in support 
of geotechnical, civil, structural, marine or environmental 
engineering activities in Malaysia, and is recognized for 
having developed and pioneered Global Strain Extensometer 
(Glostrext), a pile instrumentation test technology that is fast 
gaining popularity in driven pile instrumentation tests.  This 
acquisition is not only an extension of the Group’s current 
business of soil investigation, but is also able to augment our 
range of service offerings in Malaysia.  

We also incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary in Malaysia, 
known as G-Pile Engineering Sdn Bhd in October 2009, to 
facilitate business development activity in Malaysia.

During the year under review, we secured a project from a 
Singapore-listed developer, to construct bored piles for the 
foundation of some residential apartments in Ho Chi Minh 
City.  Living up to our reputation of delivering quality work in 
a timely manner, we completed the project ahead of schedule 
and are now tendering for a few more projects in Vietnam.  

OUTLOOK

The improving Singapore economy, coupled with an increase 
in the number of private residential projects and a steady 
inflow of public sector infrastructure projects, should herald 
an uptrend in construction activity from both the private 
and public sector.  In addition, industrial production across 
advanced and developing economies has continued to 

CEO’S MESSagE cont’d
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expand with improving economic conditions, which could 
ignite the take-off of large industrial projects in Singapore.  
All these developments bode well for CSC.

While the storm is seemingly over, the global economy 
remains in a delicate position, with potential EU economic 
weakness, arising from a possible sovereign debt crisis in 
Europe. We will thus temper optimism with caution, and will 
continue to be innovative in our response to market changes, 
where cost control will be a main focus. Our prudent 
approach towards risk, financial and capital management, 
coupled with our full range of geotechnical and foundation 
engineering capabilities and necessary skill sets, should stand 
us in good position to take advantage of any opportunity that 
may present itself during these ever-changing times.  

With a healthier balance sheet and improved cash flow, and 
strong underlying business fundamentals, we are well placed 
for our next phase of growth. As at 3 May 2010, our order 
book stood at approximately S$170 million.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am very thankful to our shareholders, customers and 
business partners. Your continued support and faith in me 
has been a constant source of strength. To my fellow Board 
members, thank you for your wise counsel and strategic 
guidance. My colleagues have also shown tremendous 
dedication and hard work in the course of a challenging 
year, and this has enabled CSC to pull through gallantly.   
I would also like to put on record my appreciation for their 
commitment and loyalty to CSC.

We have come a long way, but there is more to be done.  The 
next few years will continue to test our resilience in a volatile 
environment. Strong leadership and sound management will 
continue to steer us in the right direction, while teamwork and 
partnership, will be the cornerstone of our business strategy.  

I am confident that with the same determination, we will 
be able to make CSC an even stronger entity that is always 
focused on our customers’ needs, and thereby enhancing  
shareholder value.

SEE YEN TARN
Group Chief Executive Officer

“Our prudent approach towards risk, financial and capital management, 
coupled with our full range of geotechnical and foundation engineering 
capabilities and necessary skill sets, should stand us in good position to 
take advantage of any opportunity that may present itself during these ever-
changing times.”

FY 08/09 FY 09/10

Bored Piles / Diaphragm Walls 305.9 54% 132.8 47%

Driven Piles / Jack-in Piles 120.6 21% 36.4 13%

Micro Piles / Other Foundation 
- Related Activities 63.9 11% 55.8 19%

Soil Investigation & 
Instrumentation Works 21.6 4% 18.1 6%

Others 56.1 10% 42.0 15%

Total 568.1 100% 285.1 100%

Revenue By Project Type (S$’m)

Bored Piles / Diaphragm Walls

OthersDriven Piles / Jack-in Piles
Micro Piles / Other Foundation 
- Related Activities

Soil Investigation & 
Instrumentation Works

FY 08/09 FY 09/10
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305.9 54% 132.8 47%

120.6 21% 36.4 13%

63.9 11% 55.8 19%

21.6 4% 18.1 6%

56.1 10% 42.0 15%

568.1 100% 285.1 100%

2008/09 2009/10 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1  
CHEE TECK KWONG, PATRICK
Independent Non-Executive 
Chairman

Joined the Board as an Independent 
Director in March 1998 and was 
appointed as Non-Executive Chairman 
in September 2002. Mr. Chee chairs 
the Nominating Committee and is also 
a member of the Remuneration, Audit 
and CSC ESOS 2004 Committees. He 
holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) Degree 
from the University of Singapore. Mr. 
Chee is admitted as a Solicitor of the 
Senior Courts of England and Wales.  
Since 1980 he has been an advocate 
and solicitor of the Supreme Court of 
the Republic of Singapore. He is now 
practicing as a Senior Legal Consultant 
with KhattarWong. 

Mr. Chee is a Notary Public and a 
Commissioner for Oaths. He is a 
member of Singapore Institute of 
Arbitrators and Singapore Institute  
of Directors.

Mr. Chee is active in community service 
and is the Vice Chairman of Teck Ghee 
Community Club and the Organising 
Chairman of National Street Soccer 
League. Mr. Chee is the recipient of 
the National Day Awards 2003 – The 

Public Service Medal (Pingat Bakti 
Masyarakat) from the President of 
Republic of Singapore.

2  
SEE YEN TARN 
Executive Director/ 
Group Chief Executive Officer

Joined the Board as an Independent 
Director in November 2005 and was 
appointed as Group Chief Executive 
Officer in August 2006. Mr See sits on 
the Nomination, Risk Management and 
CSC ESOS 2004 Committees. He holds 
a Bachelor degree in Accountancy from 
the National University of Singapore 
and is also a Chartered Accountant, 
England and Wales. Mr See has more 
than 25 years of working experience 
at senior management level in various 
industries and has held such positions 
as Chief Financial Officer, Executive 
Director and Deputy Group Managing 
Director for both listed and non-listed 
entities in Singapore, Indonesia, Hong 
Kong, People’s Republic of China  
and Australia.

3  
POH CHEE KUAN 
Executive Director

Joined the Group as an Executive 
Director in September 1999 and  
oversees the group’s core business 

in foundation and geotechnical 
engineering. Mr Poh sits on the 
Risk Management & CSC ESOS 
2004 Committees. He has more 
than 30 years of professional and 
business experience in the field of 
civil, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering in Singapore, Malaysia, 
Indonesia and Philippines. He holds a 
Bachelor of Engineering degree from 
The National University of Singapore, 
a Master of Science (Civil Engineering) 
degree from The National University 
of Singapore and a MBA from Brunei 
University-Henley Management 
College (UK). In addition, Mr Poh is 
also a fellow of the Institute of Engineers 
(Singapore) and the American Society 
of Civil Engineers; a Chartered Engineer 
(UK) and a registered Professional 
Engineer (Singapore) in both civil and 
geotechnical engineering.

4  
TEO BENG TECK 
Executive Director

Joined the Group as a Non-Executive 
Director in November 2003 and was 
appointed as an Executive Director on 
15 January 2007. Mr Teo is currently 
a member of the Risk Management 
Committee. He has more than 35 

1 2 3
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years of experience in engineering and 
construction in both public and private 
sectors. He holds a Master of Science 
in Construction Engineering from The 
University of Singapore. Mr Teo is 
also a Chartered Secretary and holds 
memberships with several professional 
bodies relating to engineering, 
management and logistic services.

5  
NG SAN TIONG, ROLAND 
Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board as a Non- Executive 
Director in September 2002. Mr 
Ng is  a member of  the Audit , 
Remuneration and CSC ESOS 2004 
Committees. He is vastly experienced 
in corporate management and business  
development. He is currently the 
Managing Director of Tat Hong 
Holdings Ltd, one of the largest crane 
rental companies in the world. He holds 
a Bachelor of Science (Hons) degree 
from the University of Technology, 
Loughborough (UK). 

Mr Ng was also awarded “Businessman 
of the Year 2007”.

6  
TAN EE PING 
Independent Director 

Joined the Board as an Independent 
Director in August 2003. Mr Tan 
is currently the Chairman of the 
Remuneration, Risk Management 
and CSC ESOS 2004 Committees. He 
runs his own professional consulting 
firm, TEP Consultants Pte Ltd since 
1970. Mr Tan holds a Bachelor of Civil 
Engineering (Hons) degree from the 
University Malaya. He was conferred 
the Honorary Fellowship of ASEAN 
Federation of Engineering Organizations 
in 2006 and the Honorary Fellowship of 
the Institution of Engineers, Singapore 
in 2008. He is presently an accredited 
adjudicator and mediator and a 
member of Regional Panel of Arbitrators 
and Panel member, Strata Title Board. 
He is also a Director of Changi Airport 
Engineering Pte. Ltd. He was awarded 
the Public Service Medal (PBM) by the 
President of the Republic of Singapore 
in 1997.

7  
TAN HUP FOI 
Independent Director 

Joined the Board as an Independent 
Director in April 2006.  He is the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and is a member of the Nominating 
Committee. Mr Tan is currently the 
Chairman of Ngee Ann Polytechnic 
Council. He is the Honorary Vice-
President of the International 
Association of Public Transport (UITP) 
and Honorary Chairman of UITP 
Asia-Pacific Division. Mr Tan has over 
30 years experience in the transport 
industry.  He was the Chief Executive of 
Trans-Island Bus Services Ltd from 1994 
to 2005 and also the Deputy President 
of SMRT Corporation Ltd from 2003 
to 2005. A Colombo Plan scholar, Mr 
Tan graduated from Monash University 
in Australia with a First Class Honours 
degree in Mechanical Engineering 
in 1974 and he obtained a Master of 
Science (Industrial Engineering) degree 
from University of Singapore in 1979.  
Mr Tan was awarded the Pingat Bakti 
Masyarakat (Public Service Medal) in 
1996 and Bintang Bakti Masyarakat 
(Public Service Star) in 2008 by the 
President of Republic of Singapore.

4 5 6 7
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KEY MaNagEMENT

LIM CHEE ENG, JIMMY
Group Chief Operating Officer / Executive Committee Member

Mr Lim joined the Group as a Project Manager in December 1994. He was the General 
Manager/Director of CS Bored Pile System Pte Ltd since 1996 until his promotion to the 
position of Group Chief Operating Officer in January 2010. Mr Lim also sits on the boards of 
L&M Foundation Specialist Pte Ltd, CS Construction & Geotechnic Pte Ltd, CS India Pte Ltd, 
CS Industrial Land Pte Ltd, Kolette Pte Ltd and Wisescan Engineering Services Pte Ltd. 

Mr Lim has more than 25 years of working experience, mainly in geotechnical and foundation 
engineering. He holds a Bachelor degree (Hons) in Engineering (Civil), a Master of Science 
(Civil Engineering) degree and a postgraduate Diploma in Business Administration from 
the National University of Singapore. He is also a registered Professional Engineer with 
the Professional Engineering Board, Singapore, a registered Professional Engineer in the 
specialized Geotechnical field since May 2007, a Qualified Erosion Control Professional 
since October 2007, a Senior Member of Institute of Engineers, Singapore and a member of 
the Geotechnical Society of Singapore.

LIM YEOW BENG
General Manager (Contracts & Legal)

Mr Lim was appointed the General Manager (Contracts & Legal) in January 2003 and is 
responsible for overseeing the contractual and legal aspects of all projects under the Group. 
He has more than 25 years experience in this field.

KOO CHUNG CHONG
General Manager / Director, CS Construction & Geotechnic Pte Ltd / 
Executive Committee Member

Mr Koo joined the Group as a Senior Project Engineer in July 1996 and was promoted to the 
current position of General Manager / Director of CS Construction & Geotechnic Pte Ltd (“CSCG”)  
over the years. He is responsible for the management of CSCG, which specializes in Driven 
Piles, Jack-in Piles, Micro-piles and Civil Engineering Works. Concurrently he is also holding the 
appointment of Management Representative in the company’s Integrated Management System.

Mr Koo holds a Diploma in Civil Engineering from the Singapore Polytechnic and a Bachelor 
degree (Hons) in Engineering (Civil & Structural) from the University of Sheffield, England.

LEE QUANG LOONG
Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary

Mr Lee joined the Group as the Manager to the Chief Executive Officer’s Office in December 
2006 where he was responsible for the corporate finance activities of the Group. He was 
subsequently promoted to the position of Deputy Financial Controller in April 2007 and 
Chief Financial Officer in February 2010. Mr Lee currently sits on the board of Ching Soon 
Concrete Products Sdn Bhd. He has more than 10 years of working experience in the field of 
finance, tax and audit. Mr Lee graduated in 1997 with a professional qualification from The 
Association of Chartered Certificate Accountants and is currently a member of the Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.
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CHAN SOON KONG
General Manager / Director, CS Bored Pile System Pte Ltd

Mr Chan joined the Group in April 2001. During the last 9 years, he rose from the position of 
Senior Project Manager of the Company to the current position of General Manager / Director 
of CS Bored Pile System Pte Ltd.

 Mr Chan has more than 20 years of experience in the field of geotechnical and foundation 
engineering. He holds a Bachelor degree in Civil & Structural Engineering from the National 
University of Malaysia.

LEE KENG CHEE, MICHAEL
General Manager, HR & Admin

Mr Michael Lee joined the Group as the Senior Manager, HR & Administration in 2006. He 
was subsequently promoted to the position of General Manager, HR & Admin and has more 
than 20 years of working experience in the field of human resources and administration. 
He holds a Bachelor Degree (Hons) in Public Administration from The Northern University  
of Malaysia. 

ALLEN NG KEOK HENG
General Manager/ Director, Soil Investigation Pte Limited

Mr Ng joined the Group in December 2006 as the General Manager to set up the soil 
investigation, geotechnical instrumentation and laboratory business. He was instrumental 
in the acquisition of Soil Investigation Pte Limited in April 2007 and was appointed as the 
General Manager / Director. Mr Ng played a pivotal role in the acquisition of Wisescan 
Engineering Services Pte Ltd in April 2008, Spectest Sdn Bhd and Glostrext Technology Sdn 
Bhd in November 2009 and was appointed a Director of the respective companies.

Mr Ng has more than 25 years of experience in the field of geotechnical engineering and soil 
investigation works. Prior to joining the Group he was a Director in one of Singapore’s largest 
soil investigation company with projects in Singapore, the Asia Pacific region, China, Hong 
Kong, Maldives and Diego Garcia (Indian Ocean).

TING HUA KEONG
Director, Soil Investigation Pte Limited

Mr Ting joined Soil Investigation Pte Limited (“SIPL”) in 1998 and was involved in numerous 
roles in SIPL such as a geotechnical engineer, laboratory manager and general manager before 
the acquisition of SIPL by the Group in 2007. Since joining the group, he has been appointed 
as a director of SIPL and continues to oversee technical and operational growth.

He graduated from the National University of Singapore with a degree in civil engineering, 
and later obtained a Master of Science in the same field. He has more than 10 years of 
experience in the area of site investigation, laboratory testing and geotechnical and  
structural instrumentation.
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KEY MaNagEMENT cont’d

LAWRENCE CHONG JONG AN
Managing Director, THL Foundation Equipment Pte Ltd

Mr Chong is in charge of the overall business operations and management of THL Foundation 
Equipment Pte. Ltd. He has with him, more than 25 years of experience in the field of civil 
engineering, particularly in foundation and geotechnical engineering.

Mr Chong has a Bachelor of Science (Hons) degree in Civil Engineering from the Heriot-Watt 
University, United Kingdom.

LIM LEONG KOO
Managing Director, G-Pile Sistem Sdn Bhd

Mr Lim joined the Group in July 2006 as the Senior Manager (International Business/Special 
Projects) of the Group. He was subsequently appointed a Director of G-Pile Sistem Sdn Bhd, 
G-Pile Engineering Sdn Bhd and L&M Ground Engineering Sdn Bhd. He was promoted to 
the position of Managing Director of G-Pile Sistem Sdn Bhd in February 2009. Mr Lim has 
more than 20 years of experience in the field of geotechnical and foundation engineering in 
Malaysia and Singapore. He holds a Bachelor degree (Hons) in Civil Engineering from the 
Middlesex Polytechnic, UK.

MOY WENG YOEW 
General Manager/Director, Borneo Geotechnic Sdn Bhd

Mr. Moy joined the Group in September 2007 as the General Manager and Director of 
Borneo Geotechnic Sdn Bhd. He is also a director of CSC Ground Engineering Sdn Bhd 
and L&M Ground Engineering Sdn Bhd.

Mr. Moy has more than 25 years of experience in the field of geotechnical and foundation 
engineering. He holds a Bachelor of Technology in civil engineering from Indian Institute 
of Technology, Bombay and Master of Engineering in geotechnical engineering from Asian 
Institute of Technology, Bangkok.

He is a Professional Engineer in Malaysia and a Corporate Member of the Institute of 
Engineers, Malaysia (I.E.M.).
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CHUA KENG GUAN
Managing Director, Wisescan Engineering Services Pte Ltd

Mr Chua founded Wisescan Engineering Services Pte Ltd (“WES”) in 1993 and joined the 
Group as the Managing Director of WES when the Group acquired WES in April 2008. 

Mr Chua has over 35 years of experience in the field of Geomatic Engineering. He is currently 
a qualified Registered Surveyor in Singapore, a Fellow member of the Institution of Civil 
Engineering Surveyors, UK (ICES) and a member of the Singapore Institute of Surveyors and 
Valuers (SISV).

LING HUA EE
Executive Director, G-Pile Sistem Sdn Bhd

Mr Ling joined the Group as an Executive Director of G-Pile Sistem Sdn Bhd (“G-Pile) when 
the Group acquired G-Pile in April 2007. For the last 10 years, he has overseen G-Pile projects 
in Malaysia in his role as an Executive Director.

Mr. Ling has more than 20 years experience in the field of geotechnical and foundation 
engineering in Malaysia. He holds a Bachelor degree (Hons) in Civil Engineering from 
the University of Malaya. He is a graduate member of the Institute of Engineers Malaysia 
(I.E.M.).



WONG KONG HEE
General Manager (Regional Business), L&M Foundation Specialist Pte Ltd

Mr. Wong joined the group in April 2008 as the General Manager (Regional Business) of L&M 
Foundation Specialist Pte Ltd. Mr. Wong was a Senior Executive of various listed companies 
in Singapore. Mr. Wong has more than 20 years experience in managing the operations 
of local and regional business ventures in the construction and building industry covering 
ASEAN, Greater China and Middle East. Mr. Wong is responsible for the development of the 
Group’s regional business. He holds a Bachelor degree in Hydraulic (Civil) Engineering from 
National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan.

YEE LIP CHEE
General Director, L&M Foundation Specialist (Vietnam) Limited Company

Mr. Yee joined L&M Foundation Specialist Pte Ltd as Project Engineer in April 1994. He was 
subsequently appointed as General Director for the newly established company in Vietnam 
in 2008. He is responsible for the business operation and management of L&M Foundation 
Specialist (Vietnam) Limited Company.   

Mr. Yee has nearly 20 years of experience in the field of deep foundation works. He holds 
a bachelor degree in Civil Engineering from the National Taiwan University in the Republic  
of China.

LEE SIENG KAI
Managing Director, Spectest Sdn Bhd

Mr. Lee founded Spectest Sdn Bhd in 1992 and joined the Group as the Managing Director 
of Spectest Sdn Bhd when Soil Investigation Pte Limited acquired Spectest Sdn Bhd and its 
subsidiaries in 2009. He is also a director of Glostrext Technology Sdn Bhd and Glostrext 
Technology (S) Pte Ltd.

Mr. Lee has more than 19 years of experience in the field of geotechnical engineering and 
pile test instrumentation technologies. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Civil Engineering 
from University of Malaya. He is a Professional Engineer registered with Board of Engineers, 
Malaysia and a Corporate Member of the Institute of Engineers, Malaysia. Presently, he is 
also the researcher (PhD candidate) and industrial collaborator of University of Malaya in the 
field of pile instrumentation. His research has been awarded with three GOLD medals in the 
national and international innovation competitions. 

TAN AH HUAT
Executive Director, Glostrext Technology Sdn Bhd

Mr. Tan joined Spectest Sdn Bhd in 1993 and joined the Group when Soil Investigation Pte 
Limited acquired Spectest Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries in 2009. He is a director of Glostrext 
Technology Sdn Bhd, Glostrext Technology (S) Pte Ltd and Spectest Sdn Bhd.

He has over 15 years of experience in the pile test instrumentation and geotechnical 
monitoring of deep excavation works. He has focused his entire career on the development 
and improvement of these technologies.
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FIVE YEARS FINaNCIaL SuMMaRy

FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10

Group Profit & Loss (S$’m) 

Revenue 107.3 126.7 483.7 568.1 285.1

Gross Profit 14.8 19.6 97.8 93.9 46.8

Net Profit After Tax 4.4 9.3 45.4 42.5 26.0

EBITDA 9.0 16.6 80.3 78.6 55.0

Group Balance Sheet (S$’m)

Property, Plant & Equipment 15.4 44.0 102.4 128.4 126.1

Other Non-Current Assets 10.4 15.1 22.4 20.9 22.5

Total Current Assets 90.7 134.2 230.2 245.6 215.0

Total Assets 116.5 193.3 355.0 394.9 363.6

Total Equity 53.6 87.3 133.5 168.9 189.8

Other Non-Current Liabilities 16.9 31.4 47.4 44.2 32.3

Total Current Liabilities 46.0 74.6 174.1 181.8 141.5

Total Equity & Liabilities 116.5 193.3 355.0 394.9 363.6

Per Share Data (Cents)

Earnings After Tax (Basic) 0.38 0.87 3.85 3.36 1.97

Net Asset Value 6.02 7.85 11.60 13.80 15.50

Special Dividends 

       - gross less 18% tax (Interim) - - 0.23 - -

       - tax exempt one-tier - - 0.40 - -

Dividends - tax exempt one-tier - - 0.50 0.60 0.60

Financial Ratios 

Return on Equity 7.6% 12.6% 40.3% 27.6% 14.1%

Gross Profit Margin 13.8% 15.4% 20.2% 16.5% 16.4%

Debt/Equity Ratio 57.7% 65.7% 63.7% 48.6% 38.1%

Current Ratio 1.97 1.80 1.32 1.35 1.52
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FINANCIAL HIgHLIgHTS
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FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09  FY10

Bored Piles / Diaphragm Walls  42.3 74.0 348.8 305.9 132.8

Driven Piles / Jack - in Piles  33.1  22.6 67.9 120.6 36.4

Micro Piles / Other Foundation - Related Activities 6.5 12.0 21.1 63.9 55.8

Soil Investigation & Instrumentation Works   -  -  7.2 21.6 18.1

Others 25.4 18.1 38.7 56.1 42.0

Total 107.3 126.7 483.7 568.1 285.1

107.3 126.7

483.7

568.1

285.1

Revenue By Segment 
(S$’m)

Revenue & Gross Profit
(S$’m)

Profit After Tax & EBITDA  
(S$’m)

FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10

FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10

Gross Profit

Revenue

EBITDA

Profit After Tax

107.3

4.4
9.3

16.6

45.4 42.5

26.0

55.0

78.6
80.3

9.0

126.7

14.8 19.6

483.7

568.1

97.8 93.9
46.8

285.1



CORPORATE STRuCTuRE
As at 31 March 2010

CSC Holdings Limited
199707845E

L&M  
Foundation  
Specialist
Pte Ltd 
100%

CS  
Construction  
& Geotechnic

Pte Ltd 
100%

CS  
Geotechnic 

Pte Ltd 
100% 

Wisescan 
Engineering 

Services  
Pte Ltd
70%

Borneo 
Geotechnic  

Sdn Bhd 
100% 

THL 
Foundation 
Equipment  

Pte Ltd 
55%

CS
Prefab Steel

Private 
Limited
100%

Spectest
Sdn Bhd 
70%

Glostrext 
Technology

Sdn Bhd 
100%

Glostrext 
Technology
(S) Pte Ltd
100%

Soil  
Investigation  
Pte Limited 

100%

CSC  
Ground 

Engineering  
Sdn Bhd 
70%

THL 
Engineering  

Pte Ltd
100%

CS India 
Pte Ltd 
100%

L&M 
Foundation 
Specialist 
(Vietnam) 
Limited 

Company 
100%

L&M 
Foundation 
Specialist 

(Middle East) 
LLC

49%

L&M 
Foundation 
Philippines, 

Inc
40%

CS 
Geotechnic 

Soil 
Investigation 

JV *

**

Notes:

*    50% owned by CS Geotechnic Pte Ltd / 50% owned by Soil Investigation Pte Limited.
**   Voluntary winding up.
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CS  
Bored Pile  

System  
Pte Ltd 
100%

G-Pile 
Engineering

Sdn Bhd 
100%

Excel
Precast

Sdn Bhd 
100%

CS  
Industrial  

Land  
Pte Ltd 
100%

Kolette  
Pte Ltd  
100%

G-Pile  
Sistem  

Sdn Bhd 
100%

Ching Soon 
Concrete  
Products
Sdn Bhd 
100%

Excel  
Precast  
Pte Ltd 
40% 

L&M 
Ground 

Engineering 
Sdn Bhd 
100%
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CORPORATE INFORMaTION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Executive
See Yen Tarn (Group Chief Executive Officer)
Poh Chee Kuan
Teo Beng Teck

Non-Executive
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick (Chairman)
Ng San Tiong Roland 
Tan Ee Ping (Independent)
Tan Hup Foi (Independent)

Audit Committee
Tan Hup Foi (Chairman)
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick
Ng San Tiong Roland

Nominating Committee 
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick (Chairman)
Tan Hup Foi
See Yen Tarn

Remuneration Committee 
Tan Ee Ping (Chairman)
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick
Ng San Tiong Roland

Risk Management Committee
Tan Ee Ping (Chairman)
See Yen Tarn
Poh Chee Kuan
Teo Beng Teck

The CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 
2004 Committee and Performance Share Scheme 
2008 Committee 
Tan Ee Ping (Chairman) 
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick
See Yen Tarn
Poh Chee Kuan
Ng San Tiong Roland

Executive Committee
See Yen Tarn (Chairman)
Poh Chee Kuan
Teo Beng Teck
Lim Chee Eng
Koo Chung Chong

Company Secretary 
Lee Quang Loong, CPA

Registered Office
No. 2 Tanjong Penjuru Crescent,
Singapore 608968
Tel: (65) 6367 0933
Fax: (65) 6367 0911
Email: corp@cschl.com.sg
Website: http://www.cschl.com.sg

Share Registrar & Share Transfer Office
M & C Services Private Limited
138 Robinson Road #17-00
The Corporate Office
Singapore 068906
Tel: (65) 6227 6660
Fax: (65) 6225 1452

Auditors
KPMG LLP
Certified Public Accountants
16 Raffles Quay, #22-00
Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581

Audit Partner-in-Charge
Lo Mun Wai
Appointed since financial year ended 31 March 2007

Principal Bankers
Hong Leong Finance Limited
Malayan Banking Berhad
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
United Overseas Banking Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CSC Holdings Limited continues to nurture a high standard of corporate governance and confirms its commitment to comply 

with the Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”).

PRINCIPLE 1 : BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) is responsible for: 

(1) approving the Group’s key business strategies and financial objectives; 

(2) overseeing the conduct of the Company’s business to evaluate whether the business is being properly managed;

(3) establishing a framework for proper internal controls and risk management; 

(4) the Group’s compliance to laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal code of conduct; and

(5) the satisfactory fulfillment of social responsibilities of the Group. 

Matters which are specifically reserved to the full Board for decision are those involving corporate plans and budgets, material 

acquisitions and disposals of assets, share issuances, dividends and other returns to shareholders. The Board also delegates 

certain of its functions to the Audit Committee (“the AC”), Nominating Committee (“the NC”), Remuneration Committee (“the 

RC”) and The CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004 Committee (“the ESOSC”) . Each Committee has its own defined 

terms of reference and operating procedures. 

Formal board meetings are held at least once every three months to oversee the business affairs of the Group, and to approve, if 

applicable, any financial or business objectives and strategies. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when the circumstances require. 

In addition, the Directors also received updates on the business of the Group through regular presentations and meetings. 

The attendance of Directors at meetings of the Board and Board Committees for the financial year ended 31 March 2010, as 

well as the frequency of such meetings are set out below: 

Board Meeting Audit Committee Remuneration Committee 

Name of Directors
No. of

Meetings Attendance 
No. of

Meetings Attendance
No. of

Meetings Attendance
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick 5 5 4 4 1 1
See Yen Tarn 5 5 NA NA NA NA
Poh Chee Kuan 5 5 NA NA NA NA
Teo Beng Teck 5 5 NA NA NA NA
Ng San Tiong Roland 5 5 4 4 1 1
Tan Ee Ping 5 5 NA NA 1 1
Tan Hup Foi 5 5 4 4 NA NA

Nominating Committee

The CSC Executive Share 
Option Scheme 2004 

Committee

Name of Directors
No. of

Meetings Attendance 
No. of

Meetings Attendance
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick 1 1 1 1
See Yen Tarn 1 1 1 1
Poh Chee Kuan NA NA 1 1
Teo Beng Teck NA NA NA NA
Ng San Tiong Roland NA NA 1 1
Tan Ee Ping NA NA 1 1
Tan Hup Foi 1 1 NA NA
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Directors’ Training

Updates on corporate governance are circulated to all Board members by the Company Secretary on a regular basis. Relevant 

courses conducted by various institutions are attended by Directors when possible.

PRINCIPLE 2 : BOARD COMPOSITION AND BALANCE 

The Board consists of seven Directors, three of whom are independent directors. The independence of each director is reviewed 

annually by the NC. The NC adopts the Code definition of what constitutes an independent director in its review. The Board 

of Directors are as follows:-

Name of Directors Date of appointment / 

Date of last  re-election

Functions Current Directorships in 

other listed companies and 

other major appointments

Past 

directorships 

in other listed 

companies 

and major 

appointments 

over the 

preceding 

three years

Mr Chee Teck 

Kwong Patrick

20 March 1998 /

24 July 2009 

Independent 

Non-Executive Chairman

Chairman of the 

Nominating Committee 

and member of the 

Remuneration, Audit 

and CSC ESOS 2004 

Committees

Independent Director of 

China International Holdings 

Limited, Hai Leck Holdings 

Limited, Hengxin Technology 

Ltd, PSC Corporation Ltd, 

Ramba Energy Limited, 

Singapore Windsor Holdings 

Limited and Tat Seng 

Packaging Group Ltd

Independent 

Director 

of King’s 

Safetywear 

Limited

Mr See Yen Tarn 11 November 2005/ 

24 July 2009

Group Chief Executive 

Officer

Member of the 

Nomination, Risk 

Management, CSC ESOS 

2004 and Executive 

Committees

Independent Director 

of Changjiang Fertilizer 

Holdings Limited, Eagle 

Brand Holdings Limited, 

Longcheer Holding Limited, 

Renewable Energy Asia 

Group Limited (formerly 

known as Superior Fastening 

Technology Limited) and 

Swing Media Technology 

Group Limited

Independent 

Director of 

China Great 

Land Holding 

Limited

Mr Poh Chee Kuan 15 September 1999/

25 July 2008

Executive Director

Member of the Risk 

Management, CSC ESOS 

2004 and Executive 

Committees

Nil Nil
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Mr Teo Beng Teck 24 November 2003/

24 July 2009

Executive Director

Member of the Risk 

Management and 

Executive Committees

Nil Nil

Mr Ng San Tiong 

Roland

25 September 2002/ 

25 July 2007

Non-Executive Director

Member of the Audit, 

Remuneration and CSC 

ESOS 2004 Committees

Managing Director of Tat 

Hong Holdings Ltd

Deputy Chairman and 

Non-Executive Director of 

Yongmao Holdings Limited

Nil

Mr Tan Ee Ping 28 August 2003/

25 July 2008

Independent Director 

Chairman of the 

Remuneration, Risk 

Management and CSC 

ESOS 2004 Committees

Nil Nil

Mr Tan Hup Foi 3 April 2006/

25 July 2008

Independent Director

Chairman of the Audit 

Committee and member 

of the Nominating 

Committee

Independent Director of 

Ausgroup Limited, Cityneon 

Holdings Limited, ECS 

Holdings Limited, Linair 

Technologies Limited and 

SHC Capital Limited

Nil

The Board has determined that it is of an appropriate size to meet the objective of having a balance of skills and experience. The 

Board comprises business leaders and professionals with legal, finance, engineering, business and management backgrounds 

and its composition enables the management to benefit from a diverse and objective external perspective, on issues raised 

before the Board. Each Director has been appointed on the strength of his calibre, experience and his potential to contribute 

to the Group and its business. Details of their academic and professional qualifications are set out in the Board of Directors’ 

section of this Annual Report. 

The composition of the Board and independence of each non-executive director will be reviewed annually by the NC. 

The Board is provided with timely notices and information prior to Board meetings as and when the need arises. Where 

a physical Board meeting is not possible, timely communication with members of the Board can be achieved through 

electronic means. 

The Board also takes independent professional advice as and when necessary to enable the independent directors to discharge 

their responsibilities effectively.

 

The Board has separate and independent access to the Company Secretary and other senior management executives of the 

Company and the Group at all times in carrying out their duties. The Company Secretary attends all Board and Board Committee 

meetings and prepare minutes of meetings, assists the Chairman in ensuring that board procedures are followed and reviewed 

so that the Board functions effectively, and comply with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and relevant 

rule and regulations, including requirements of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Listing Manual of SGX-ST. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT cont’d
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PRINCIPLE 3 : ROLE OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated. 

Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick is presently the Group’s independent non-executive Chairman, he leads the Company’s 

compliance with guidelines on corporate governance and is free to act independently in the best interests of the 

Company and its shareholders. The Group Chief Executive Officer is Mr See Yen Tarn, who is responsible for the day-to-

day operations of the Group, as well as monitoring the quality, quantity and timeliness of information flow between the 

Board and the Management.

The Board is of the view that the current leadership structure is in the best interests of the Group. The decision making process 

of the Group would not be unnecessarily hindered as there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the process 

of decision making by the Board is independent and based on collective decisions without any individual exercising any 

considerable concentration of power or influence. In addition, all the Board Committees are chaired by Independent Directors 

of the Company. 

PRINCIPLE 4 : BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
PRINCIPLE 5 : BOARD PERFORMANCE
 
NOMINATING COMMITTEE 

The NC comprises Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick (Chairman), Mr Tan Hup Foi (who are independent directors) and Mr See Yen 

Tarn. The NC is responsible for inter alia the following:

•	 Review	of	 the	background,	academic	and	professional	qualifications	of	 the	nominee	director	 for	 the	Company	and	

Group subsidiaries;

•	 Re-nomination	of	existing	directors	and	re-election	by	shareholders	at	every	annual	general	meeting;

•	 Providing	criteria	for	an	objective	performance	evaluation	of	the	Board;	and

•	 Determining	the	independence	of	the	directors	annually.	

New directors of the Company and the Group are appointed by way of a Board resolution of the respective companies, 

after the NC makes necessary recommendation to the Board. According to the Articles of Association of the Company, such 

new directors of the Company shall submit themselves for re-election at the next annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the 

Company. 

In addition, the Company’s Articles of Association also provide that at least one third of the directors will be subjected 

to re-election by rotation at each AGM. Accordingly, the Directors submit themselves for re-nomination or re-election at 

regular intervals.

Although the independent directors hold directorships in other companies which are not in the Group, the Board is of the view 

that such multiple board representations do not hinder them from carrying out their duties as directors. These directors would 

widen the experience of the Board and give it a broader perspective. 
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The NC, in considering the re-appointment of any director, evaluates the performance of the director. The NC has implemented 

a self-assessment process that requires each director to assess the performance of the Board as a whole for FY2010. The self-

assessment process took into consideration, inter alia, board structure, corporate strategy and planning, risk management and 

internal control, performance measurement and compensation, succession planning, financial reporting, conduct of meetings 

and communication with shareholders.

PRINCIPLE 6 : ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, the management provides the Board members with 

quarterly management accounts and all relevant information. In addition, all relevant information on material events and 

transactions are circulated to directors as and when they arise. Whenever necessary, senior management staff will be invited 

to attend the Board meetings and Audit Committee meetings to answer queries and provide detailed insights into their areas 

of operations. A quarterly report of the Group’s activities is also provided to the Directors. 

The Board, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, has access to independent professional advice, 

if necessary, at the Company’s expense. 

The Board members have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary attends all 

board meetings and audit committee meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Board to ensure that Board procedures, 

rules and regulations are complied with. 

PRINCIPLE 7 : PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES
PRINCIPLE 8 : LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
PRINCIPLE 9 : DISCLOSURE OF REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The RC comprises Mr Tan Ee Ping (Chairman), Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick and Mr Ng San Tiong Roland. The RC has access 

to external expert advice, if required. 

During the financial year, the term of reference of the RC includes, inter alia, the following: 

•	 Recommendation	 to	 the	 Board	 a	 framework	 of	 remuneration	 for	 non-executive	 and	 executive	 directors	 and	 key	

executives; and

•	 Review	 and	 approval	 of	 the	 remuneration	 packages	 of	 the	 executive	 directors	 and	 senior	 executives	 after	 taking	

into consideration their responsibilities, skills, expertise and contribution to the Company’s performance and the 

appropriateness of the remuneration packages to attract, retain and motivate the best available executive talents. 

During the financial period under review, only non-executive directors are paid directors’ fees. The payment of such fees are 

recommended for approval at the AGM of the Company. 
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The annual remuneration bands of the directors are set out below:

Remuneration Band Name of Directors 

Directors’
Fees 
(%) *

Salaries (1) 
(%) 

Bonus (2)

(%)
ESOS (3)

(%)
Total
(%)

$750,000 and above See Yen Tarn 0 40 50 10 100

$500,000 to below $750,000 Poh Chee Kuan 0 59 30 11 100

$250,000 to below $500,000 Teo Beng Teck 0 36 49 15 100

Below $250,000 Chee Teck Kwong
Patrick 

Tan Ee Ping 

Ng San Tiong Roland 

Tan Hup Foi 

69

64

70

51

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

31

36

30

49

100

100

100

100

* Director’s fees are subject to approval at the AGM.
(1) The salary amount shown is inclusive of allowances, benefits in kinds, CPF, all fees other than Directors’ fees. 
(2) The bonus amount shown is inclusive of CPF.
(3) Value of share options received. 

The Code recommends that at least the top five executives’ remuneration be disclosed. However, the RC believes such 
disclosure would be disadvantageous to the Group’s business interests, given the highly competitive environment in the 
construction industry where poaching of staff is prevalent.

In order to provide a macro perspective of the remuneration patterns of key executives, while maintaining the confidentiality, 
the disclosure of the top ten executives’ remuneration (who are not directors) of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 
are set out below: 

Remuneration Bands Number of Key Executives 
$500,000 to below $750,000 1
$250,000 to below $500,000 6
Below $250,000 3

There is no employee related to any director or the CEO, whose remuneration exceeds $150,000 for the financial year ended 
31 March 2010.

The remuneration policy for staff adopted by the Company comprises a fixed component and a variable component. The fixed 
component is in the form of a base salary. The variable component is in the form of a variable bonus that is linked to the Group 
and individual performance.

THE CSC EXECUTIVE SHARE OPTION SCHEME 2004 COMMITTEE (“ESOSC”)

The Committee comprises of five directors, namely, Mr Tan Ee Ping (Chairman), Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick, Mr Ng San Tiong 
Roland, Mr See Yen Tarn and Mr Poh Chee Kuan.

THE CSC EXECUTIVE SHARE OPTION SCHEME 2004 (“ESOS Scheme”)

The ESOS Scheme was approved on 22 July 2004. The ESOS Scheme has expired on 21 July 2009.

The ESOS Scheme is administered by ESOSC.
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The main responsibilities of ESOSC is to: 

•	 Ensure	that	the	rules	of	the	ESOS	Scheme	are	adhered	to;	

•	 Select	eligible	directors	and	employees	of	the	Group	to	participate	in	the	ESOS	Scheme;	and	

•	 Determine	the	number	of	shares	and	the	exercise	price	to	be	offered	to	each	participant	taking	into	consideration,	the	

service and performance of the participant. 

The following grants of options were made: 

(i) on 3 May 2006 with 45,000,000 options granted to certain eligible directors and employees pursuant to the 

ESOS Scheme; 

(ii)  on 1 August 2006 with 5,000,000 options granted to an executive director pursuant to the ESOS Scheme;

(iii)  on 23 November 2006 with 1,000,000 options granted to a key management staff pursuant to the ESOS Scheme; 

(iv)  on 1 December 2006 with 500,000 options granted to a key management staff pursuant to the ESOS Scheme; 

(v) on 15 January 2007 with 500,000 options granted to a key management staff pursuant to the ESOS Scheme; 

(vi) on 23 August 2007 with 40,750,000 options granted to certain eligible directors and employees pursuant to 

the ESOS Scheme; 

(vii) on 22 September 2008 with 50,000,000 options granted to certain eligible directors and employees pursuant to 

the ESOS Scheme. 

THE CSC PERFORMANCE SHARE SCHEME 2008 (“THE PSS SCHEME”)

The PSS Scheme was approved on 25 July 2008. 

The PSS Scheme shall be in place for a maximum period of 10 years commencing on the adoption date. The termination of 

the PSS Scheme shall not affect any awards which have been granted, whether such awards have been released (whether fully 

or partially) or not. 

The PSS Scheme is administered by the ESOSC. 

The main responsibility of the ESOSC with respect to the PSS Scheme is to:

•	 Ensure	that	the	rules	of	the	PSS	Scheme	are	adhered	to;	

•	 Select	eligible	directors	and	employees	of	the	Group	to	participate	in	the	PSS	Scheme;	and	

•	 Determine	the	number	of	shares	to	be	offered	to	each	participant	taking	into	consideration,	the	service	and	performance	

of the participant. 

At the end of the financial year, there has been no grant or award arising from the PSS Scheme.

PRINCIPLE 10 : ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board is mindful of its overall responsibility to shareholders for ensuring that the Group is well guided by its strategic 

objectives so as to deliver long term shareholder value. The Board is supported by board committees with certain areas 

of responsibilities. In addition, the Board also aims to present a balanced and fair assessment of the Group’s position and 

prospects in its annual financial statements, results announcements and all announcements on its business and operations. 
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PRINCIPLE 11 : AUDIT COMMITTEE 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The AC comprises of Mr Tan Hup Foi (Chairman), Mr Chee Teck Kwong Patrick and Mr Ng San Tiong Roland. 

The AC’s responsibilities include, inter alia, the following: 

•	 Review	 of	 the	 annual	 audit	 plan,	 internal	 audit	 process,	 the	 adequacy	 of	 internal	 controls,	 and	 interested	 person	

transactions for the Group. 

•	 Review	of	the	scope	and	results	of	the	audit	and	cost	effectiveness	and	the	independence	and	objectivity	of	the	external	

auditors annually and the nomination of their re-appointment as auditors of the Group.

•	 Review	of	quarterly	and	full	year	financial	statements	before	submission	to	the	Board	for	approval.	

The external auditors have full access to the AC and the AC has full access to the management. The AC has express power to 

commission investigations into any matters, which has or is likely to have material impact on the Group’s operating results or 

financial results. 

The AC meets with both the internal and external auditors, without the presence of Management at least once a year. During 

the financial year under review, the AC met four times.

The AC has also conducted a review of all non-audit services provided by the auditors and is satisfied that the nature and 

extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the auditors. The Board and the AC are satisfied 

that the appointment of different auditors for certain subsidiaries and associates would not compromise the standard and 

effectiveness of the audit of the Group. 

The AC has in consultation with the Board, initiated the implementation of whistle blowing policy for all employees including 

overseas subsidiaries and associates. This policy aims to provide an avenue for employees to raise concerns and reassurance 

that they will be protected from reprisals or victimization for whistle blowing in good faith. 

PRINCIPLE 12 : INTERNAL CONTROLS 
PRINCIPLE 13 : INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board recognises the need to put in place a system of internal controls for companies within the Group, procedures and 

processes to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Group’s business and assets. In this regard, the Internal Audit (“IA”) 

function is responsible for identifying deficiencies in internal control and reports directly to the AC. 

The Group has outsourced its IA function to Ernst & Young Risk Advisory Servicers Pte. Ltd., a professional consultancy firm. 

The appointed IA reports directly to the AC and the AC is of the opinion that the appointed firm is adequately resourced with 

qualified personnel to discharge its responsibilities. 

During the financial year, the IA conducted its audit reviews and reports its findings and recommendations to the AC. The 

AC reviewed the effectiveness of the key internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 

management on an on-going basis. 

The AC and the Board are satisfied that there are adequate internal controls in the Group. 
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

PRINCIPLE 14 : COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS 
PRINCIPLE 15 : GREATER SHAREHOLDER PARTICIPATION 

The Company recognises the need to communicate with shareholders on all material matters affecting the Group and does 

not practise selective disclosure. Price sensitive announcements, including quarterly and full-year results and press release 

are released through SGXNET. All shareholders of the Company receive the Annual Report and Notice of AGM. The Notice of 

AGM is also advertised in a national newspaper. At AGMs, shareholders are given the opportunity to air their views and ask 

questions regarding the Group and its businesses. Separate resolutions on each distinct issue are proposed at general meetings 

for approval. The external auditors and legal advisors (if necessary) are present to assist the Directors in addressing any queries 

by shareholders. 

The Articles of Association of the Company allow a member of the Company to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote 

instead of the member. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management practices are in place in the Group. Management regularly reviews the Group’s business and operational 

activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well as measures to control these risks. Management also reviews all 

significant control policies and procedures and highlights all significant matters to the Board and AC. 

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (“RMC”)

The RMC formed in May 2004, comprises Mr Tan Ee Ping (Chairman), Mr See Yen Tarn, Mr Poh Chee Kuan and Mr Teo Beng 

Teck. The RMC assits the Board in reviewing risk policies and matters relating to management of risks. 

The key area of focus for RMC includes:-

•	 Review	of	tendering	procedure	and	award	of	sub-contracts;

•	 Review	of	risk	management	control	in	project	management;	and	

•	 Evaluation	of	risks	in	new	business	and	in	new	markets.	

The IA also assists the RMC by identifying and highlighting any areas of concern it comes across while conducting the audit. 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee is headed by the Group CEO, Mr See Yen Tarn and comprises Mr Poh Chee Kuan, Mr Teo Beng 

Teck, Mr Lim Chee Eng and Mr Koo Chung Chong. It meets weekly to review strategic, business and operational issues and 

determine policies of the Group to ensure the smooth functioning of the Group. The Committee implements and communicates 

the directions and guidelines of the Board and Board Committees to relevant Committees, departments and employees.
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DEALING IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct to provide guidance to key officers of the Company and its subsidiaries 

with regards to dealings in the Company’s securities in compliance with the Best Practices Guide introduced by SGX-ST. 

The Company has complied with Listing Rule 1207(18) of the Listing Manual.

The Company circulates notices to its Directors, principal officers and relevant officers who have access to unpublished 

material price-sensitive information to remind them that they are required to refrain from dealing in shares of the Company. 

They are also reminded of the prohibition in dealings in shares of the Company two weeks before the announcement of the 

Company’s financial results for each of the first three quarters of its financial year and one month before the release of the 

Company’s full year financial results, and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results, and when they are 

in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information.

The guidelines on share buyback under the Share Buyback Mandate, to be renewed at the Company’s forthcoming AGM also 

provides that the Company will not effect any purchases of shares on the SGX-ST during the period of one month immediately 

preceding the announcement of the Company’s full year results and two weeks immediately before the announcement of the 

Company’s financial results for each of the first three quarters of its financial year.

Directors are required to report to the Company Secretary whenever they deal in the Company’s shares and latter will make 

the necessary announcements in accordance with requirements of SGX-ST. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ Report and the financial statements, no material contracts (including loans) of the Company 

or its subsidiaries involving the interests of the CEO or any director or controlling shareholders subsisting at the end of the 

financial year have been entered into since the end of the previous financial year. 

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“IPT”)

The Company has adopted a policy in IPTs and has established procedures to monitor and review such transactions. 

The aggregate value of IPT entered into during the financial period under review pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate 

obtained under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual were as follows: 

Name of interested person 

Aggregate value of all interested person 
transactions during the financial year 
under review (excluding transactions 
less than $100,000 and transactions 

conducted under shareholders’ mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted under 
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to 

Rule 920 (excluding transactions less 
than $100,000)

Tat Hong HeavyEquipment (Pte.) Ltd. (1) NIL S$4,994,184
Tat Hong Plant Leasing Pte Ltd (1) NIL S$3,013,072
CMC Construction Pte Ltd (1) NIL S$1,310,999

Note:
(1)  Tat Hong HeavyEquipment (Pte.) Ltd., Tat Hong Plant Leasing Pte Ltd and CMC Construction Pte Ltd are related companies of TH 

Investments Pte Ltd, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

The Directors of CSC Holdings Limited (“the Company”) proposes to renew the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested 

Person Transactions (“IPT Mandate”) that will enable the Company and its subsidiaries and associated company 

(“CSC Group” or the “Group”), or any of them, to enter into transactions with the Company’s interested person 

(“Interested Person”). 

The approval of shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) for the renewal of the IPT Mandate will be sought at the 

Annual General Meeting of the company (“AGM”) to be held at 4th Floor, No. 2, Tanjong Penjuru Crescent, Singapore 

608968 on 23 July 2010 at 10:00 am. 

 

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) takes no responsibility for the accuracy of any statements 

or opinions made in this IPT Mandate. 

General information with respect to listing rules of the SGX-ST relating to interested person transactions, including 

meanings of terms such as “associate”, “entity at risk”, “interested person” and “interested person transaction” used in 

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, is also set out in pages 43 of this Annual Report. 

2.  RATIONALE FOR THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF IPT MANDATE 

It is envisaged that the Group which is considered to be the entity at risk within the meaning of Chapter 9 of the Listing 

Manual (“the EAR Group”), or any of them, would, in the ordinary course of their businesses, enter into Interested 

Person Transactions (“IPT or IPTs”) with certain classes of Interested Persons in the categories of transactions as set out 

in paragraphs 5 and 6 below. 

Given that such IPTs will occur with some degree of frequency and may arise at any time, the IPT Mandate is intended 

to facilitate transactions in the normal course of business of CSC Group provided that such IPTs are made on normal 

commercial terms, and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders. 

3.  SCOPE OF IPT MANDATE 

The IPT Mandate will cover a range of transactions arising in the ordinary course of business operations of the EAR 

Group as set out in paragraph 6 below. 

 

The IPT Mandate will not cover any IPT, which has a value below S$100,000 as the threshold, and aggregate requirements 

of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual do not apply to such transactions. 

Transactions by the EAR Group with Interested Persons that do not fall within the ambit of the IPT Mandate (including 

any renewal thereof) will be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 and/or other applicable provisions of the 

Listing Manual. 
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RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

4.  BENEFITS OF IPT MANDATE 

The IPT Mandate is intended to facilitate specified categories of IPTs in the normal course of business of the EAR Group 

which are transacted, from time to time, with the specified classes of Interested Persons, provided that they are carried 

out on the EAR Group’s normal commercial terms, and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its 

minority Shareholders. 

Where the IPT relates to the purchase / sale of products and supply / receipt of services from Interested Persons, the EAR 

Group will benefit from having access, where applicable, to competitive quotes from, or transacting with, Interested 

Persons, and may also derive savings in terms of cost efficiencies and greater economies of scale in its transactions with 

Interested Persons. By having the IPT relating to corporate support transactions with the Interested Persons, the EAR 

Group will enjoy sharing of resources and economies of scale and eliminate duplication of efforts. Where the IPT relates 

to treasury transactions, the EAR Group will benefit from the competitive rates or quotes from its Interested Persons, thus 

leveraging on the financial strength and credit standing of the Interested Persons. 

The IPT Mandate will eliminate the need for the Company to convene separate general meetings on each occasion 

to seek Shareholders’ approval as and when such IPTs with the Interested Persons arise, thereby reducing substantial 

administrative time and expenses associated with the convening of such meetings, without compromising the corporate 

objectives and adversely affecting the business opportunities available to the EAR Group. 

5.  CLASSES OF INTERESTED PERSONS 

The IPT Mandate will apply to transactions described in paragraph 6 below that are carried out with the following classes 

of Interested Persons: 

(a)  Tat Hong Holdings Ltd, TH Investments Pte Ltd and their associates (as defined in the Listing Manual) but not 

limited to Mr Ng San Tiong Roland (the “Tat Hong Group”); 

(b)  Mr Ng San Tiong Roland and his associates (as defined in the Listing Manual); and 

(c)  Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and their respective associates. 

6.  CATEGORIES OF IPTS 

The IPTs with the Interested Persons as described in paragraph 5 above that will be covered by the IPT Mandate are 

as follows: 

(a) General Transactions 

 This category relates to general transactions (“General Transactions”) on the provision to, or obtaining from, 

Interested Persons of products and services in the ordinary course of the business of the EAR Group. The transactions 

for the supply / receipt of products and / or services to / from Interested Persons are as follows: 

(i)  rental and purchase of machinery / site equipment and accessories, purchase of spare parts and repair of 

machinery by the EAR Group from Interested Persons; 
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(ii) rental and sale of machinery / site equipment and accessories, sale of spare parts and repair of machinery by 

the EAR Group to Interested Persons; 

(iii) provision or receipt of transportation services by the EAR Group to or from Interested Persons; 

(iv) rental of office space and land by the EAR Group to or from Interested Persons; 

(v) provision or receipt of training services by the EAR Group to or from Interested Persons; 

(vi) provision or receipt of foundation work services by EAR Group to or from Interested Persons; and 

(vii) trading of construction materials. 

(b) Corporate Support Transactions

 

 This category relates to corporate management and support services (“Corporate Support Transactions”). The EAR 

Group may, from time to time, receive corporate management and support services from its Interested Persons. 

These services include computer support, personnel, administration and / or accounting services. 

(c) Treasury Transactions 

Treasury transactions (“Treasury Transactions”) comprise the borrowing of funds from any Interested Persons. 

7. REVIEW PROCEDURES FOR IPTS 

In general, the EAR Group has internal control procedures to ensure that the IPTs are undertaken on normal commercial 

terms, and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders. Save for the Corporate 

Support Transactions which are carried out on a cost reimbursement basis, all IPTs are to be carried out: 

(a) at the prevailing market rates / prices of the services or product providers (including, where applicable, preferential 

rates / prices / discounts accorded to a class of customers or for bulk / long term purchases, where the giving 

of such preferential rates / prices / discounts are commonly practised within the applicable industry and may 

be extended to unrelated third parties, provided that there is no difference in terms of preferential rates / prices 

/ discounts accorded to unrelated third parties vis-à-vis interested persons), or otherwise in accordance with 

applicable industry norms; and 

(b) on terms which, in relation to services or products to be provided to an Interested Person, are no more favourable 

to the Interested Person than the usual commercial terms extended to unrelated third parties; or in relation to 

services or products to be obtained from an Interested Person, are no more favourable than those extended to the 

EAR Group by unrelated third parties. 

In particular, the following review procedures have been established by the Company under the IPT Mandate: 

(a) General Transactions 

(i) Purchase of Products or Services 

 The review procedures applicable to the purchase of machinery / site equipment and accessories, construction 

materials, spare parts, repair of machinery, and receipt of foundation work services, transportation services 

and training services are as follows:
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(aa) in determining whether the price and terms offered by the Interested Person are fair and reasonable and 

comparable to those offered by unrelated third parties to the EAR Group for the same or substantially 

similar type of product or service, the management of the relevant company of the EAR Group will 

obtain at least two other quotations from unrelated third party vendors or suppliers for similar or 

substantially similar type of product or service as bases for comparison. The management will then 

submit the recommendation to a director of the relevant company of the EAR Group (who has no 

interest, direct or indirect, in the transactions) for approval; and 

 

(bb)  where it is impractical or not possible for such quotations to be obtained (for example, there are no 

unrelated third party vendors or suppliers of similar type of product or service, or the product or 

service is proprietary), a director of the relevant company of the EAR Group (who has no interest, 

direct or indirect, in the transaction) will ensure that the price and terms offered to the EAR Group are 

fair and reasonable and that the terms of supply from the Interested Persons will (where applicable) be 

in accordance with industry norms. 

(ii)  Sale of Products or Services 

 The review procedures applicable to the sale of machinery/site equipment and accessories, construction 

materials, spare parts, repair of machinery, and receipt of foundation work services, transportation services 

and training services are as follows: 

(aa) selling prices will be determined with reference to a standard price list in relation to sales of such 

products or provision of such services to unrelated third parties (“Standard Price”). Should there be 

any variation between the selling price and the Standard Price, the extent to which the selling price 

deviates from the Standard Price and the reasons for such variation will be analysed and shall be 

subject to the approval of a director of the relevant company of the EAR Group (who has no interest, 

direct or indirect, in the transaction). 

(bb)  where the Standard Price is not available due to the unique nature of the product to be sold or service 

to be provided, a director of the relevant company of the EAR Group (who has no interest, direct or 

indirect, in the transaction) and subject to the relevant approval levels as set out in part (iv) below, will 

determine the pricing of such products to be sold or services to be provided to an Interested Person 

in accordance with industry norms and be consistent with the usual business practices and pricing 

policies of the relevant company of the EAR Group. 

(iii) Rental of Office Space and Land 

 The review procedures are as follows: 

(aa) a director of the relevant company of the EAR Group (who has no interest, direct or indirect, in the 

transaction) will determine that the rental arrangements between the EAR Group and the Interested 

Persons, including but not limited to, the rental rates and terms offered to / by the Interested Persons 

are comparable to the then prevailing market rates and terms for other properties within its vicinity of 

similar or comparable standing and facilities, after taking into account the tenure of the lease, the areas 

of the leased premises and any other factor which may affect the rental rates or terms of the lease; 
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(bb)  where it is impractical or not possible for such prevailing market rates and terms for other properties 
within its vicinity of similar or comparable standing and facilities to be obtained, a director of the 
relevant company of the EAR Group (who has no interest, direct or indirect, in the transaction) will 
determine whether the rental rates and terms accorded to the EAR Group are fair and reasonable and, 
where applicable, are in accordance with industry norms; and 

(cc)  any change in the rental arrangements between the EAR Group and the Interested Persons is subject to 
the review of the Audit Committee. 

(iv)  In addition, to streamline the review procedures for general transactions, all general transactions will be 
approved by the authorised persons in the manner hereinafter stated: 

Value of each transaction Approval level 
Greater than or equal to S$100,000 but less 
than or equal to 3% of the Company’s latest 
audited Net Tangible Asset (“NTA”)

The approval of the head of relevant company in the EAR 
Group and verification and confirmation by the Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”) (who shall not be an Interested 
Persons in respect of the particular transaction) prior to 
making any commitment to the transaction.

Greater than 3% but less than or equal to 
5% of the Company’s latest audited NTA

The approval of the CEO or Executive Director (who shall 
not be an Interested Person in respect of the particular 
transaction) prior to making any commitment to the 
transaction.

Greater than 5% of the Company’s latest 
audited NTA

The approval of the majority of the members of the Audit 
Committee prior to making any commitment to the 
transaction.

(b)  Corporate Support Transactions 

 The fees in consideration for corporate management and support services received will be on a cost reimbursement 
basis and are subject to adjustment at the end of the relevant financial year for any variation in services provided. 

 The invoice issued by the Interested Person to the EAR Group, which indicates the basis of the cost reimbursement, 
for the provision of corporate support transactions is subject to the approval of a director of the relevant company of 
the EAR Group. In addition, a transaction exceeding S$100,000 in value must be approved by the Audit Committee 
prior to its entry, and any transaction which is equal to or less than S$100,000 in value must be approved by the 
CEO or Executive Director of the Company (who shall not be an Interested Person in respect of the particular 
transaction) prior to its entry, and reviewed by the Audit Committee on a half-yearly basis. 

(c)  Treasury Transactions 

 In respect of borrowing of funds from Interested Person by the EAR Group, the Company will require quotations to 
be obtained from such Interested Person and at least two banks within the same country for loans of an equivalent 
amount and for an equivalent period. The EAR Group will only borrow funds from such Interested Person provided 
that the terms quoted are no less favourable than the terms quoted by such banks. The approval of the CEO or 
Executive Director (who shall not be an Interested Person) will be required prior to such borrowing of such funds. 
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 In addition, where the aggregate value of funds loaned to the EAR Group shall at any time exceed the consolidated 
shareholders’ funds of the Company (based on its latest audited accounts), each subsequent amount of funds 
loaned to the EAR Group shall require the prior approval of the Audit Committee. 

(d)  Other Review Procedures 

 In addition to the guidelines set out above, the Company will maintain a register of transactions carried out with 
Interested Persons (recording the basis, including the quotations obtained to support such basis, on which they 
are entered into), and the Company’s annual internal audit plan will incorporate a review of IPTs entered into in 
the relevant financial year pursuant to the IPT Mandate. The internal auditors shall, on the quarterly basis, perform 
a compliance review on IPTs entered into with Interested Persons during the preceding quarters and forward the 
quarterly report to the Audit Committee on such transactions. 

 The Company shall, on a quarterly basis, report to the Audit Committee on all IPTs, and the basis of such 
transactions, entered into with Interested Persons during the preceding quarter. The Audit Committee shall 
review such IPTs at its quarterly meetings except where such IPTs are required under the review procedures 
to be approved by the Audit Committee prior to the entry thereof. The Audit Committee shall also review the 
quarterly internal audit report. 

 
 If during the periodic reviews by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee is of the view that the guidelines and 

review procedures for IPTs have become inappropriate or insufficient in the event of changes to the nature of, or 
manner in which, the business activities of the EAR Group or the Interested Persons are conducted, the Company 
will revert to the Shareholders for a fresh shareholders mandate based on new guidelines and review procedures 
so that IPTs will be carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the 
Company and its minority Shareholders. 

 For the purposes of the above review and approval process, any Director, who is not considered independent 
for purposes of the IPT Mandate and/or any IPT, will abstain from voting in relation to any respective resolution, 
and / or abstain from participating in the Audit Committee’s decision during its review of the established review 
procedures for the IPTs or during its review or approval of any IPT. 

8.  EXPIRY AND RENEWAL OF THE IPT MANDATE 

If approved by the Shareholders at the AGM, the IPT Mandate will take effect from the date of receipt of the Shareholders’ 
approval, and will (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) continue in force until the next AGM 
of the Company and will apply to IPTs entered into from the date of receipt of Shareholders’ approval. Approval from 
Shareholders will be sought for the renewal of the IPT Mandate at each subsequent AGM, subject to review by the Audit 
Committee of its continued application to the IPTs. 

9.  DISCLOSURES 

Pursuant to Rule 920(a) of the Listing Manual, (a) the Company will disclose in its annual report the aggregate value of 
IPTs conducted pursuant to the IPT Mandate during the financial year as well as in the annual reports for subsequent 
financial years that the IPT Mandate continues in force. In addition, the Company will announce the aggregate value of 
transactions conducted pursuant to the IPT Mandate for the financial periods that it is required to report pursuant to Rule 
905 of the Listing Manual within the time required for the announcement of such report. These disclosures will be in the 
form set out in Rule 907 of the Listing Manual. 
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10.  STATEMENT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee of the Company confirms that: 

(a)  methods and procedures for determining the transaction prices of the IPTs conducted under the IPT Mandate have 

not changed since the last approval of the IPT Mandate on 25 July 2008; and 

(b)  the methods and procedures referred to in (a) above continue to be sufficient to ensure that these IPTs will be 

carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its 

minority Shareholders. 

11.  DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST 

The interest of the directors’ and substantial shareholders’ interests of the Company as at 21 April 2010 and as at 

11 June 2010 respectively can be found on Pages 45 to 47 and Pages 125 to 126 of this Annual Report. 

Directors and his alternate director of the Company will abstain from voting their shareholdings in the Company, if any, 

on Resolution 8 relating to the renewal of the IPT Mandate at the forthcoming AGM. 

Controlling Shareholders and their respective associates, being Interested Persons under the IPT Mandate, will abstain 

from voting their respective shareholdings in the Company on Resolution 11 relating to the renewal of the IPT Mandate 

at the forthcoming AGM. 

12.  INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION 

The Independent directors having considered, inter alia, the terms, the rationale and the benefits of the IPT Mandate, are 

of the view that the IPT Mandate is in the interests of the Company and accordingly recommend that Shareholders vote 

in favour of the Resolution 11 relating to the renewal of the IPT Mandate at the forthcoming AGM.

 

13.  DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given herein 

and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated 

herein are fair and accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which would make any statement in 

this report misleading. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION RELATING TO CHAPTER 9 OF THE LISTING MANUAL

1.  CHAPTER 9 OF THE LISTING MANUAL 

1.1  Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual governs transactions between a listed company, as well as transactions 

by its subsidiaries and associated companies that are considered to be “at risk”, with the listed company’s 

interested persons. 

1.2  Except for any transaction which is below S$100,000 in value and certain transactions which, by reason of the 

nature of such transactions, are not considered to put the listed company at risk to its interested person and hence 

are excluded from the ambit of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual. When this Chapter applies to a transaction and 

the value of the transaction alone or on aggregation with other transactions conducted with the interested person 

during the financial year reaches or exceeds certain materiality thresholds [which are based on the listed company’s 

latest consolidated NTA1], the listed company is required to make an immediate announcement, or to make an 

immediate announcement and seek its shareholders’ approval for the transaction. In particular, shareholders’ 

approval is required for an interested person transaction of a value equal to, or exceeding: 

(a) 5% of the listed company’s latest audited consolidated NTA1; or 

(b) 5% of the listed company’s latest audited consolidated NTA¹, when aggregated with the values of all other 

transactions entered into with the same interested person (as such term is construed under Chapter 9 of the 

Listing Manual) during the same financial year. 

1.3  Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, however, allows a listed company to seek a mandate from its shareholders for 

recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature or those necessary for its day-to-day operations such as the 

purchase and sale of supplies and materials (but not for the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses) 

which may be carried out with the listed company’s interested persons. A general mandate is subject to annual 

renewal. 

 Note: 

1 Based on the latest audited consolidated accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2010, the 

NTA of the Group was S$186,780,164. Accordingly, in relation to the Company, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, 

in the current financial year, 5% of the Company’s consolidated NTA would be S$9,339,008. 

2.  DEFINITIONS 

For the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual: 

(a) an “entity at risk” means: 

(i)  the listed company; 

(ii) a subsidiary of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange; and

(iii)  an associated company of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange, 

provided that the listed company and/or its subsidiaries (“listed group”), or the listed group and its interested 

person(s), has control over the associated company.
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(b)  an “interested person” means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of the listed company 

or an associate of any such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder; 

(c)  an “associate” means: 

in relation to an interested person who is a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholders includes:-

(i)  the spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, sibling and parent (“immediate family”) of such director, chief 

executive officer or controlling shareholder; 

(ii)  the trustees of any trust of which the director/his immediate family, the chief executive officer/his immediate 

family or the controlling shareholders/his immediate family is a beneficiary or, in the case of a discretionary 

trust, is a discretionary object;

(iii)  any company in which the director / his immediate family, the chief executive officer / his immediate family 

or the controlling shareholders/his immediate family together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% 

or more; and 

(iv)  where a controlling shareholder being a corporation, its subsidiary or holding company or fellow subsidiary 

or a company in which it and / or they have (directly or indirectly) an interest of 30% or more. 

(d)  an “approved exchange” means a stock exchange that has rules which safeguard the interest of shareholders 

against interested person transactions according to similar principles as Chapter 9; 

(e)  an “interested person transaction” means a transaction between an entity at risk and an interested person; and 

(f)  a “transaction” includes the provision or receipt of financial assistance; the acquisition, disposal or leasing of 

assets; the provision or receipt of services; the issuance or subscription of securities; the granting of or being 

granted options; and the establishment of joint ventures or joint investments, whether or not entered into in the 

ordinary course of business, and whether entered into directly or indirectly.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for 

the financial year ended 31 March 2010.

DIRECTORS

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Chee Teck Kwong Patrick (Chairman)
See Yen Tarn (Group Chief Executive Officer)
Poh Chee Kuan
Teo Beng Teck
Ng San Tiong Roland
Tan Ee Ping
Tan Hup Foi

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 

(the Act), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their 

spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations 

are as follows:

Name of director and corporation in which 
interests are held

Holdings at
beginning
of the year

Holdings at
end of

the year

The Company

Ng San Tiong Roland
- ordinary shares
 - interest held 3,457,000 3,457,000
 - deemed interest 345,325,771 345,325,771
- options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
 - $0.2790 between 23 August 2009 and 22 August 2012 1,000,000 1,000,000

Chee Teck Kwong Patrick
- ordinary shares
 - interest held 4,462,000 4,462,000
- options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
 - $0.2790 between 23 August 2009 and 22 August 2012 1,000,000 1,000,000
 - $0.1560 between 22 September 2010 and 21 September 2013 1,000,000 1,000,000

Tan Ee Ping
- ordinary shares
 - interest held 4,567,000 4,567,000
 - deemed interest 50,000 50,000
- options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
 - $0.2790 between 23 August 2009 and 22 August 2012 1,000,000 1,000,000
 - $0.1560 between 22 September 2010 and 21 September 2013 1,000,000 1,000,000
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Name of director and corporation in which 
interests are held

Holdings at
beginning
of the year

Holdings at
end of

the year

The Company

Tan Hup Foi
- options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
 - $0.2790 between 23 August 2009 and 22 August 2012 2,000,000 2,000,000
 - $0.1560 between 22 September 2010 and 21 September 2013 1,000,000 1,000,000

See Yen Tarn
- ordinary shares
 - deemed interest 2,350,000 2,350,000
- options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
 - $0.0677 between 1 August 2008 and 31 July 2011 4,000,000 4,000,000
 - $0.2790 between 23 August 2009 and 22 August 2012 2,000,000 2,000,000
 - $0.1560 between 22 September 2010 and 21 September 2013 3,500,000 3,500,000

Poh Chee Kuan
- ordinary shares
 - interest held 7,369,000 7,369,000
- options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
 - $0.2790 between 23 August 2009 and 22 August 2012 2,000,000 2,000,000
 - $0.1560 between 22 September 2010 and 21 September 2013 2,500,000 2,500,000

Teo Beng Teck
- ordinary shares
 - interest held 3,945,000 3,945,000
- options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
 - $0.2790 between 23 August 2009 and 22 August 2012 2,000,000 2,000,000
 - $0.1560 between 22 September 2010 and 21 September 2013 2,500,000 2,500,000

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Ng San Tiong Roland is deemed to have an interest in the shares of the wholly owned 

subsidiaries of the Company at the beginning and at the end of the financial year.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, debentures, 

warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning or at the end of the financial 

year.

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 

21 April 2010.

Except as disclosed under the “Share Options” section of this report, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the 

financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the 

directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any 

other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT cont’d



CSC Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2010 47
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Since the end of the previous financial year, in the normal course of business, the Company and its related corporations entered 

into transactions with companies in which a director has substantial interests as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements. 

However, the directors have neither received nor become entitled to receive any benefit arising out of these transactions other 

than those to which they are ordinarily entitled to as shareholders of these companies. In addition, professional engineer fee 

amounting to $24,000 (2009: $24,000) was paid to a director as disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

Except as disclosed above and in the accompanying financial statements, since the end of the last financial year, no director 

has received or become entitled to receive, a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation 

with the director, or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

SHARE OPTIONS

The CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004

The CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004 (the ESOS Scheme) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members 

at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 July 2004. The ESOS Scheme had expired on 21 July 2009. The ESOS Scheme 

is administered by a Committee comprising five directors, Tan Ee Ping, Chee Teck Kwong Patrick, Ng San Tiong Roland, See 

Yen Tarn and Poh Chee Kuan.

Other information regarding the ESOS Scheme is set out below:

(i) Subscription price:

(a) the exercise price of the options is determined at the average of the last dealt price of the Company’s shares on 

the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited prevailing on the five consecutive trading days immediately 

preceding the dates of grant of such options; or

(b) the discounted value of the share price determined under (a) above, provided that the maximum discount shall not 

exceed 20% of (a) above.

(ii) All options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

(iii) The options vest two years from the dates of grant.

(iv) The options granted expire on the fifth anniversary of the dates of grant unless they have been cancelled or lapsed prior 

to those dates.

(v) The exercise price, number of options and other terms of the options may be adjusted by the Committee in the event of 

any changes in the number of ordinary shares of the Company.
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At the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the ESOS Scheme on the unissued ordinary shares of the 

Company, are as follows:

Date of 
grant of 
options

Exercise 
price 

per share 

Options 
outstanding 

at 
1 April 2009

Options 
exercised

Options 
forfeited

Options 
outstanding 

at 
31 March 2010

Number 
of option 
holders at 

31 March 2010

3/5/2006 $0.0670 309,000 - (309,000) - -

1/8/2006 $0.0677 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 1

23/11/2006 $0.0952 1,000,000 (1,000,000) - - -

1/12/2006 $0.1008 500,000 - - 500,000 1

15/1/2007 $0.1890 500,000 - (500,000) - -

23/8/2007 $0.2790 38,320,000 - (7,400,000) 30,920,000 48

22/9/2008 $0.1560 48,750,000 - (9,320,000) 39,430,000 75
93,379,000 (1,000,000) (17,529,000) 74,850,000

Except as disclosed above, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options granted by the 

Company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year.

Details of options granted to directors of the Company under the ESOS Scheme are as follows:

Name of director

Options 
granted 

for financial 
year ended 

31 March 2010

Aggregate 
options 

granted since 
commencement 

of Scheme to 
31 March 2010

Aggregate 
options 

exercised since 
commencement 

of Scheme to 
31 March 2010

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding 
as at 

31 March 2010

Ng San Tiong Roland - 4,457,000 (3,457,000) 1,000,000
Chee Teck Kwong Patrick - 6,462,000 (4,462,000) 2,000,000
Tan Ee Ping - 5,367,000 (3,367,000) 2,000,000
Tan Hup Foi - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
See Yen Tarn - 10,500,000 (1,000,000) 9,500,000
Poh Chee Kuan - 11,369,000 (6,869,000) 4,500,000
Teo Beng Teck - 7,845,000 (3,345,000) 4,500,000

The options granted to See Yen Tarn and Poh Chee Kuan exceeded 5% of the total options available under the ESOS Scheme.

Except as disclosed above, no options have been granted to the controlling shareholders of the Company or their 

associates and no participant under the ESOS Scheme has been granted 5% or more of the total options since the 

commencement of the ESOS Scheme.
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The options granted by the Company do not entitle the holders of the options, by virtue of such holding, to any rights to 

participate in any share issue of any other company.

The CSC Performance Share Scheme 2008

The CSC Performance Share Scheme 2008 (the PSS Scheme) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at 

an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 25 July 2008. The PSS Scheme is administered by a Committee comprising five 

directors, Tan Ee Ping, Chee Teck Kwong Patrick, Ng San Tiong Roland, See Yen Tarn and Poh Chee Kuan.

Other information regarding the PSS Scheme is set out below:

(i) Awards represent the right of a participant to receive fully-paid shares free of charge,  upon the participant satisfying the 

criteria set out in the PSS Scheme.

(ii) The Committee has the absolute discretion on the following in relation to an award:  

(a) select eligible directors and employees to participate in the PSS Scheme;  

(b) determine the number of shares to be offered to each participant; and  

(c) assess the service and performance of the participants. 

(iii) All awards are settled by physical delivery of shares. 

No shares have been granted to the directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates or participants 

under the PSS Scheme since the commencement of the PSS Scheme. At the end of the financial year, there were no shares 

granted under the PSS Scheme.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this report are:

•	 Tan	Hup	Foi,	Chairman

•	 Chee	Teck	Kwong	Patrick,	independent	director

•	 Ng	San	Tiong	Roland,	non-executive	director

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 

Securities Trading Limited and the Code of Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings since the last directors’ report. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee 

met with the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their examination and 

evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.
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The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

•	 assistance	provided	by	the	Company’s	officers	to	the	internal	and	external	auditors;

•	 adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	the	internal	audit	function;

•	 report	of	the	internal	auditor	on	the	Group’s	internal	control	system;

•	 quarterly	financial	statements	of	the	Group	and	the	Company	prior	to	their	submission	to	the	directors	of	the	Company	

for adoption;

•	 independence	of	the	external	auditors	of	the	Company	and	the	nature	and	extent	of	the	non-audit	services	provided	by	

the external auditors; and

•	 interested	person	transactions	(as	defined	in	Chapter	9	of	the	Listing	Manual	of	the	Singapore	Exchange).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It has 

full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also 

recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors as required under Section 

206(1A) of the Companies Act and determined that the external auditors were independent in carrying out the audit of the 

financial statements. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be 

nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

AUDITORS

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chee Teck Kwong Patrick

Chairman 

See Yen Tarn

Group Chief Executive Officer

22 June 2010
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In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 53 to 123 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 

of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2010 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group 

for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and 

Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chee Teck Kwong Patrick

Chairman

See Yen Tarn

Group Chief Executive Officer

22 June 2010

STATEMENT BY DiRECTORS
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of CSC Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the 
Group), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2010, the income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of he Group for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 53 to 123.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This 
responsibility includes:

(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they 
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to 
maintain accountability of assets;

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2010 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows 
of the Group for the year ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated 
in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore

22 June 2010

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Members of the Company
CSC Holdings Limited
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Group Company
Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 126,095,774 128,418,349 7,523 13,105
Intangible assets 5 3,021,182 2,038,332 - -
Investments in:
- subsidiaries 6 - - 62,820,931 57,346,450
- associates 7 4,541,225 - 3,322,365 -
Financial assets, available- 

for-sale 8 - 2,047 - -
Trade and other receivables 11 14,953,966 18,814,892 - -
Other non-current assets 48,500 48,501 - -
Deferred tax asset 18 - - 26,583 -

148,660,647 149,322,121 66,177,402 57,359,555
Current assets
Inventories 9 23,757,938 26,329,767 - -
Development properties 10 12,430,638 10,995,023 - -
Assets classified as held for sale 13 593,158 - - -
Trade and other receivables 11 146,254,152 178,350,714 47,303,033 38,702,230
Cash and cash equivalents 12 31,943,619 29,886,837 6,503,307 4,209,939

214,979,505 245,562,341 53,806,340 42,912,169
Total assets 363,640,152 394,884,462 119,983,742 100,271,724

Equity attributable to equity holders of the 
Company

Share capital 14 64,526,042 64,378,246 64,526,042 64,378,246
Reserves 15 116,029,100 97,660,264 50,716,220 23,476,837

180,555,142 162,038,510 115,242,262 87,855,083
Minority interests 9,246,204 6,853,234 - -
Total equity 189,801,346 168,891,744 115,242,262 87,855,083

Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities 17 26,138,056 40,698,635 - 5,083,499
Deferred tax liabilities 18 6,144,130 3,529,345 - -

32,282,186 44,227,980 - 5,083,499
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities 17 34,102,803 31,987,155 2,792,422 2,973,106
Trade and other payables 19 94,340,765 125,474,931 1,943,464 4,360,036
Excess of progress billings over construction 

work-in-progress 20 10,827,505 12,234,416 - -
Current tax payable 2,285,547 12,068,236 5,594 -

141,556,620 181,764,738 4,741,480 7,333,142
Total liabilities 173,838,806 225,992,718 4,741,480 12,416,641
Total equity and liabilities 363,640,152 394,884,462 119,983,742 100,271,724

BALANCE ShEETS
As at 31 March 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group
Note 2010 2009

$ $

Revenue 21 285,059,122 568,097,034
Cost of sales (238,239,535) (474,231,018)
Gross profit 46,819,587 93,866,016
Other income 1,027,639 3,951,163
Distribution expenses (156,727) (188,634)
Administrative expenses (983,096) (1,540,873)
Other operating expenses (15,899,229) (38,206,664)
Results from operating activities 30,808,174 57,881,008

Finance income 66,965 205,039
Finance expenses (3,719,059) (4,931,171)
Net finance expenses 22 (3,652,094) (4,726,132)

Share of profit/(loss) of associates 2,868,645 (220,000)
Profit before income tax 30,024,725 52,934,876
Income tax expense 23 (3,990,617) (10,472,266)
Profit for the year 24 26,034,108 42,462,610

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 24,068,612 40,153,592
Minority interests 1,965,496 2,309,018
Profit for the year 26,034,108 42,462,610

Earnings per share (cents) 25

Basic 1.97 3.36

Diluted 1.94 3.29

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STaTEmENT
Year ended 31 March 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group
2010 2009

$ $

Profit for the year 26,034,108 42,462,610

Other comprehensive income
Translation differences relating to financial statements of foreign subsidiaries  

and associates 456,752 (622,407)
Realisation of foreign currency translation reserve arising from dilution of 

interests in subsidiaries - 17,715
Realisation of foreign currency translation reserve arising from disposal of  

an associate - 64,273
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets - (10,294)
Fair value of available-for-sale financial assets transferred to income statement 

upon disposal 9,934 -
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 466,686 (550,713)
Total comprehensive income for the year 26,500,794 41,911,897

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 24,502,703 39,603,701
Minority interests 1,998,091 2,308,196
Total comprehensive income for the year 26,500,794 41,911,897

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE iNCOmE
Year ended 31 March 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note
Share  
capital

Capital 
reserve

Reserve for 
own shares

Reserve
on 

consolidation

Fair 
value 

reserve

Share
option
reserve

Foreign
currency 

translation 
reserve

Other 
reserve

Accumulated  
profits

Total 
attributable to 
equity holders

of the 
Company

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 April 2008 58,057,408 17,798,271 - 116,137 360 3,056,005 (108,265) 125,646 50,349,084 129,394,646 4,070,318 133,464,964
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (10,294) - (539,597) - 40,153,592 39,603,701 2,308,196 41,911,897
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Issue of shares under share option scheme 14 4,697,493 - - - - (1,695,528) - - - 3,001,965 - 3,001,965
Conversion of redeemable convertible notes 14 1,623,345 - - - - - - (115,414) - 1,507,931 - 1,507,931
Cancellation of redeemable convertible notes - - - - - - - (10,232) - (10,232) - (10,232)
Value of employee services received for issue of share 

options - - - - - 2,209,373 - - - 2,209,373 - 2,209,373
Capital contribution by minority shareholder of a 

subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 12,589 12,589
Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 674,214 674,214
Dilution of interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 125,417 125,417
Purchase of treasury shares - - (151,369) - - - - - - (151,369) - (151,369)
Final dividend paid of 0.5 cents per share (tax-exempt 

one-tier) in respect of financial year 2008 - - - - - - - - (5,963,299) (5,963,299) - (5,963,299)
Special dividend paid of 0.4 cents per share (tax-

exempt one-tier) in respect of financial year 2008 - - - - - - - - (4,770,639) (4,770,639) - (4,770,639)
Interim dividend paid of 0.23 cents per share (tax-

exempt one-tier) in respect of financial year 2009 - - - - - - - - (2,783,567) (2,783,567) - (2,783,567)
Dividends paid to minority shareholder - - - - - - - - - - (337,500) (337,500)
Total transactions with owners 6,320,838 - (151,369) - - 513,845 - (125,646) (13,517,505) (6,959,837) 474,720 (6,485,117)
At 31 March 2009 64,378,246 17,798,271 (151,369) 116,137 (9,934) 3,569,850 (647,862) - 76,985,171 162,038,510 6,853,234 168,891,744

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EquiTy
Year ended 31 March 2010
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Note
Share  
capital

Capital 
reserve

Reserve for 
own shares

Reserve
on 

consolidation

Fair 
value 

reserve

Share
option
reserve

Foreign
currency 

translation 
reserve

Other 
reserve

Accumulated  
profits

Total 
attributable to 
equity holders

of the 
Company

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 April 2008 58,057,408 17,798,271 - 116,137 360 3,056,005 (108,265) 125,646 50,349,084 129,394,646 4,070,318 133,464,964
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (10,294) - (539,597) - 40,153,592 39,603,701 2,308,196 41,911,897
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Issue of shares under share option scheme 14 4,697,493 - - - - (1,695,528) - - - 3,001,965 - 3,001,965
Conversion of redeemable convertible notes 14 1,623,345 - - - - - - (115,414) - 1,507,931 - 1,507,931
Cancellation of redeemable convertible notes - - - - - - - (10,232) - (10,232) - (10,232)
Value of employee services received for issue of share 

options - - - - - 2,209,373 - - - 2,209,373 - 2,209,373
Capital contribution by minority shareholder of a 

subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 12,589 12,589
Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 674,214 674,214
Dilution of interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 125,417 125,417
Purchase of treasury shares - - (151,369) - - - - - - (151,369) - (151,369)
Final dividend paid of 0.5 cents per share (tax-exempt 

one-tier) in respect of financial year 2008 - - - - - - - - (5,963,299) (5,963,299) - (5,963,299)
Special dividend paid of 0.4 cents per share (tax-

exempt one-tier) in respect of financial year 2008 - - - - - - - - (4,770,639) (4,770,639) - (4,770,639)
Interim dividend paid of 0.23 cents per share (tax-

exempt one-tier) in respect of financial year 2009 - - - - - - - - (2,783,567) (2,783,567) - (2,783,567)
Dividends paid to minority shareholder - - - - - - - - - - (337,500) (337,500)
Total transactions with owners 6,320,838 - (151,369) - - 513,845 - (125,646) (13,517,505) (6,959,837) 474,720 (6,485,117)
At 31 March 2009 64,378,246 17,798,271 (151,369) 116,137 (9,934) 3,569,850 (647,862) - 76,985,171 162,038,510 6,853,234 168,891,744

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note
Share  
capital

Capital 
reserve

Reserve for 
own shares

Reserve
on 

consolidation

Fair 
value 

reserve

Share
option
reserve

Foreign
currency 

translation 
reserve

Other 
reserve

Accumulated  
profits

Total 
attributable to 
equity holders

of the 
Company

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 April 2009 64,378,246 17,798,271 (151,369) 116,137 (9,934) 3,569,850 (647,862) - 76,985,171 162,038,510 6,853,234 168,891,744
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 9,934 - 424,157 - 24,068,612 24,502,703 1,998,091 26,500,794
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Issue of shares under share option scheme 14 147,796 - - - - (52,596) - - - 95,200 - 95,200
Effect of share options forfeited during the year - - - - - (703,074) - - 703,074 - - -
Value of employee services received for issue of share 

options - - - - - 1,038,255 - - - 1,038,255 - 1,038,255
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 439,879 439,879
Purchase of treasury shares - - (140,767) - - - - - - (140,767) - (140,767)
Final dividend paid of 0.37 cents per share (tax-exempt 

one-tier) in respect of financial year 2009 - - - - - - - - (4,530,072) (4,530,072) - (4,530,072)
Interim dividend paid of 0.20 cents per share (tax-

exempt one-tier) in respect of financial year 2010 - - - - - - - - (2,448,687) (2,448,687) - (2,448,687)
Dividends paid to minority shareholder - - - - - - - - - - (45,000) (45,000)
Total transactions with owners 147,796 - (140,767) - - 282,585 - - (6,275,685) (5,986,071) 394,879 (5,591,192)
At 31 March 2010 64,526,042 17,798,271 (292,136) 116,137 - 3,852,435 (223,705) - 94,778,098 180,555,142 9,246,204 189,801,346

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EquiTy cont’d
Year ended 31 March 2010



CSC Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2010 59

Note
Share  
capital

Capital 
reserve

Reserve for 
own shares

Reserve
on 

consolidation

Fair 
value 

reserve

Share
option
reserve

Foreign
currency 

translation 
reserve

Other 
reserve

Accumulated  
profits

Total 
attributable to 
equity holders

of the 
Company

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 April 2009 64,378,246 17,798,271 (151,369) 116,137 (9,934) 3,569,850 (647,862) - 76,985,171 162,038,510 6,853,234 168,891,744
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 9,934 - 424,157 - 24,068,612 24,502,703 1,998,091 26,500,794
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Issue of shares under share option scheme 14 147,796 - - - - (52,596) - - - 95,200 - 95,200
Effect of share options forfeited during the year - - - - - (703,074) - - 703,074 - - -
Value of employee services received for issue of share 

options - - - - - 1,038,255 - - - 1,038,255 - 1,038,255
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 439,879 439,879
Purchase of treasury shares - - (140,767) - - - - - - (140,767) - (140,767)
Final dividend paid of 0.37 cents per share (tax-exempt 

one-tier) in respect of financial year 2009 - - - - - - - - (4,530,072) (4,530,072) - (4,530,072)
Interim dividend paid of 0.20 cents per share (tax-

exempt one-tier) in respect of financial year 2010 - - - - - - - - (2,448,687) (2,448,687) - (2,448,687)
Dividends paid to minority shareholder - - - - - - - - - - (45,000) (45,000)
Total transactions with owners 147,796 - (140,767) - - 282,585 - - (6,275,685) (5,986,071) 394,879 (5,591,192)
At 31 March 2010 64,526,042 17,798,271 (292,136) 116,137 - 3,852,435 (223,705) - 94,778,098 180,555,142 9,246,204 189,801,346

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 2010 2009
$ $

Operating activities
Profit for the year 26,034,108 42,462,610
Adjustments for:
Allowances (reversed)/made for:
- foreseeable losses on land held for sale 10 (1,300,000) 300,000
- foreseeable losses on construction work-in-progress 20 (1,056,911) 617,950
Amortisation of:
- intangible assets 5 - 235,000
- lease prepayment - 188,880
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 21,295,794 20,554,991
Loss/(gain) on disposal of:
- a subsidiary - (687,676)
- an associate - (116,087)
- property, plant and equipment 364,433 (700,456)
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised on:
- trade, progress billings and other receivables 11 (1,251,856) 2,494,412
- investments in and balances with associates (1,935,383) 1,051,129
- goodwill on consolidation - 2,310,759
- other non-current assets - 4,642
- property, plant and equipment 4 (1,780,825) 6,534,904
Inventories written down 113,749 582,752
Loss on dilution of interests in subsidiaries - 125,417
Net finance expenses 22 3,652,094 4,726,132
Property, plant and equipment written off 93,507 26,390
Share of (profit)/loss of associates (2,868,645) 220,000
Share option expense 1,038,255 2,209,373
Income tax expense 23 3,990,617 10,472,266

46,388,937 93,613,388
Changes in working capital:
Inventories 4,971,480 (2,212,444)
Development properties (135,615) -
Trade, progress billings and other receivables 37,653,480 4,972,868
Trade and other payables (31,116,393) (8,348,541)
Cash generated from operations 57,761,889 88,025,271
Income taxes paid (11,626,400) (12,055,679)
Interest received 35,883 45,779
Cash flows from operating activities 46,171,372 76,015,371

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH flOwS
Year ended 31 March 2010
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Note 2010 2009
$ $

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (10,173,974) (21,305,440)
Proceeds from disposal of: 
- financial assets, available-for-sale 4,749 -
- a subsidiary 26 - 1,021,302
- interest in an associate - 116,087
- property, plant and equipment 398,385 2,968,704
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 26 (1,745,295) (2,634,186)
Increase in non-trade amount owing by associates (9,137) (1,089,137)
Cash flows from investing activities (11,525,272) (20,922,670)

Financing activities
Interest paid (3,704,786) (4,931,449)
Dividend paid:
- shareholders of the Company (6,978,759) (13,517,505)
- minority shareholder of a subsidiary (45,000) (337,500)
Proceeds from:
- bank loans 12,742,302 4,256,975
- capital contribution from a minority shareholder - 12,589
- issue of shares under share option scheme 95,200 3,001,965
Purchase of treasury shares (140,767) (151,369)
Repayment of:
- bank loans (8,509,301) (16,051,453)
- finance lease liabilities (26,819,275) (21,576,746)
Decrease/(increase) in fixed deposits pledged 130,688 (228,484)
Cash flows from financing activities (33,229,698) (49,522,977)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,416,402 5,569,724
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 25,748,963 20,187,796
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currencies (26,039) (8,557)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12 27,139,326 25,748,963

Significant non-cash transactions

During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of $16,955,007 

(2009: $53,891,467) of which $6,781,033 (2009: $32,586,027) were acquired by means of finance leases. Cash payments 

of $10,173,974 (2009: $21,305,440) were made to purchase property, plant and equipment.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2010.

1 DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

CSC Holdings Limited (the Company) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and has its registered office at No. 2, 

Tanjong Penjuru Crescent, Singapore 608968.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out 

in note 6 to the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries together (referred to as the Group) and 

the Group’s interests in associates.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

2.2 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the accounting 

policies below.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars which is the Company’s functional currency.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 March 2010
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements (cont’d)

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the financial statements, and assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant 

risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year, are included in the following notes:

 Note 4 - Estimation of recoverable amounts, useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
 Note 5 - Assumptions relating to recoverable amounts of goodwill
 Note 7 - Estimation of recoverable amounts of investments in associates
 Note 11 - Measurement of impairment losses on trade, progress billings and other receivables
 Note 16 - Measurement of share-based payments
 Note 20 - Measurement of allowance for foreseeable losses on construction work-in-progress
 Note 21 - Estimation of revenue and profit recognised on foundation engineering contracts
 Note 26 - Valuation of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination

2.5 Changes in accounting policies

Overview

Starting as of 1 April 2009 on adoption of new/revised FRSs, the Group has changed its accounting policies in the 

following areas:

 Determination and presentation of operating segments

 Presentation of financial statements

 Disclosure of contractual maturity analysis

Determination and presentation of operating segments

As of 1 April 2009, the Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally 

is provided to the Group’s Executive Committee, who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker. This change 

in accounting policy is due to the adoption of FRS 108 Operating Segments. Previously operating segments were 

determined and presented in accordance with FRS 14 Segment Reporting. The new accounting policy in respect of 

operating segment disclosures is set out in note 3.20.

Comparative segment information has been re-presented in conformity with the transitional requirements of such 

standard. Since the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation and disclosure aspects, there is no impact 

on earnings per share.

Presentation of financial statements

The Group applies revised FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (2008), which became effective as of 1 April 2009. 

As a result, the Group presents in the consolidated statement of changes in equity all owner changes in equity, whereas 

all non-owner changes in equity are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Comparative information has been re-presented so that it also is in conformity with the revised standard. Since the 

change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STaTEmENTS cont’d
Year ended 31 March 2010

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

2.5 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

Disclosure of contractual maturity analysis

The Group applies the amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which became effective as of 1 April 

2009. As a result, the Group discloses the maximum amount of issued financial guarantees in the earliest time period 

for which the guarantees could be called upon in the contractual maturity analysis. Previously, the Group disclosed the 

maximum amount of issued financial guarantees in the contractual maturity analysis only if the Group assessed that it is 

probable that the guarantee would be called upon.

FRS 107 does not require comparative information to be restated and therefore, the contractual maturity analysis for the 

comparative period has not been re-presented. Since the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation and 

disclosure aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 

statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities, except as explained in note 2.5, which addresses 

changes in accounting policies.

3.1 Consolidation

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for under the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair 

value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition.

The excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 

the cost of acquisition is credited to the income statement in the period of the acquisition.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 

financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Where the accounting 

policies of subsidiaries are different from those adopted by the Group, adjustments have been made to their financial 

statements in order that accounting policies are consistently applied in the consolidated financial statements.

Associates 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over their financial and 

operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the 

voting power of another entity. Associates are accounted for using the equity method.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.1 Consolidation (cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements 

of associates, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant 

influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. The latest audited financial statements of the 

associates are used and where these are not available, unaudited financial statements are used. Any significant 

difference between the unaudited financial statements and the audited financial statements obtained subsequently is 

adjusted for in the subsequent financial year.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that interest (including 

any long-term investments) is reduced to zero and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent 

that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 

Jointly controlled operations

A jointly controlled operation is a joint venture carried on by each venturer using its own assets in pursuit of the joint 

operations. The consolidated financial statements include the assets that the Group controls and the liabilities that it 

incurs in the course of pursuing the joint operation and the expenses that the Group incurs and its share of the income 

that it earns from the joint operation.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates 

are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated 

in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Disposals

On disposal of a subsidiary or an associate any attributable amount of purchased goodwill not previously amortised 

through the income statement or which had previously been dealt with as a movement in Group reserves is included in 

the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Accounting for subsidiaries and associates by the Company

Investment in subsidiaries and associates are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at cost less accumulated 

impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STaTEmENTS cont’d
Year ended 31 March 2010

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.2 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency balances and transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the exchange 

rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date 

are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss 

on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, 

adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated 

at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date on 

which the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement, except for differences 

arising on the retranslation of monetary items that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign 

operation (see below) and available-for-sale equity instruments.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition 

of foreign operations, are translated to Singapore dollars for consolidation at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance 

sheet date. Income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates prevailing 

at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. When 

a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the foreign currency translation reserve is 

transferred to the income statement as part of profit or loss on disposal.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely 

in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form 

part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented 

within equity in the foreign currency translation reserve.

3.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 

includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 

condition for its intended use the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 

located, and capitalised borrowing costs.

Where part of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 

items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.3 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (or lease term, 

if shorter) of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern 

of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter 

of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end 

of the lease term.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold land and properties over the period of lease not exceeding 52 years

Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years

Office equipment, renovations and furniture and fittings 3 to 10 years

Motor vehicles and containers 5 or 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting date.

3.4 Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented as intangible assets. Goodwill arising from the 

acquisition of associates is presented together with interests in associates.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, and tested for impairment. Negative goodwill is 

recognised immediately in the income statement.

Customer contracts

Customer contracts relate to the value of contracts with customers. These assets are acquired in a business combination 

and are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Customer contracts are amortised in the income statement using the straight-line method over the estimated contract 

period of 3 to 6 months.

3.5 Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other 

financial assets are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.5 Financial instruments (cont’d)

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 

transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 

is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only when, the 

Group has legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 

liability simultaneously.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 

impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, excluding prepayments.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 

and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents 

for the purpose of the cash flow statement.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale and that are 

not classified in any of the previous categories. The Group’s investments in equity securities are classified as available-

for-sale financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other 

than impairment losses (see note 3.10) and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale monetary items (see note 

3.2), are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in the fair value reserve. When an 

investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All 

other financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts, and trade and 

other payables, excluding advance payments received for contracts.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.5 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share 

options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase of share capital (treasury shares)

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 

attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as 

treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, 

the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is 

transferred to/from accumulated profits.

3.6 Leases

When entities within the Group are lessees of a finance lease

Leased assets in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 

leases. Upon initial recognition, property, plant and equipment acquired through finance leases are capitalised at the 

lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 

asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Leased assets are depreciated 

over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. Lease payments are apportioned between finance expense and 

reduction of the lease liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 

constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted for 

by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

At inception, an arrangement that contains a lease is accounted for as such based on the terms and conditions even 

though the arrangement is not in the legal form of a lease.

When entities within the Group are lessees of an operating lease

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under the leases are recognised in the 

income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the 

income statement as an integral part of the total lease payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to the income 

statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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3.7 Inventories

Equipment and machinery, spare parts and raw materials

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase and other costs 

incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Cost of equipment and machinery is determined on specific identification cost basis. Cost of raw materials and spare 

parts is calculated using weighted average cost basis.

3.8 Development properties

Development properties are those properties which are held with the intention of development and sale in the ordinary 

course of business. They are stated at the lower of cost plus, where appropriate, a portion of attributable profit, and 

estimated net realisable value, net of progress billings. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business less costs to be incurred in selling the property.

The cost of properties under development comprise specifically identified costs, including acquisition costs, development 

expenditure, borrowing costs and other related expenditure. Borrowing costs payable on loans funding a development 

property are also capitalised, on a specific identification basis, as part of the cost of the development property until the 

completion of development.

3.9 Construction work-in-progress

Construction work-in-progress comprises uncompleted foundation and geotechnical engineering (“foundation 

engineering”) contracts.

Construction work-in-progress is measured at cost plus attributable profit recognised to date, net of progress billings and 

allowances for foreseeable losses recognised, and is presented in the balance sheet as construction work-in-progress (as 

an asset) or as excess of progress billings over construction work-in-progress (as a liability), as applicable. 

Costs include cost of direct materials, direct labour and costs incurred in connection with the construction.

Progress claims not yet paid by the customer are included in the balance sheet under progress billing receivables.

3.10 Impairment 

Impairment of financial assets (including receivables)

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  

A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition 

of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 

estimated reliably.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.10 Impairment (cont’d)

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by 

a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications 

that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an 

investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence 

of impairment.

The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and collective level.  All individually 

significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment.  All individually significant receivables found not to be 

specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. 

Receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together receivables 

with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries 

and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit 

conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between 

its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 

interest rate.  Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables.  Interest 

on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount.  When a subsequent event 

causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity securities are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that has 

been recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the fair value reserve in equity, to profit or loss.  The 

cumulative loss that is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss is the difference 

between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any 

impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss.  Changes in impairment attributable to time value are reflected 

as a component of interest income.

Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other 

comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, development properties and deferred 

tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such 

indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  For goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated 

each year at the same time, and as and when indicators of impairment are identified.
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3.10 Impairment (cont’d)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 

to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For 

the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group 

of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets 

or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit, or CGU”).  Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes 

of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which 

impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes.  Goodwill 

acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of 

the combination.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may 

be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to 

reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 

assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in 

prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An 

impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An 

impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognised separately, and 

therefore is not tested for impairment separately.  Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an associate is tested 

for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate may be impaired.

3.11 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered primarily 

through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held 

for sale, the assets (or components of a disposal group) are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting 

policies. Thereafter generally the assets (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 

value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets 

and liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, development properties, financial assets 

and deferred tax assets, which continue to be measured under different rules in accordance with the Group’s accounting 

policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are 

recognised in the income statement. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.
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3.12 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 

separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay future amounts. Obligations for contributions 

to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement in the 

periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 

is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a present 

legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation 

can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payments

The Company’s share option programme allows the Group’s full-time employees, executive and non-executive directors 

to acquire shares of the Company.

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, 

with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the 

awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service 

and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is 

based on the number of awards that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting 

date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment 

is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own 

equity instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how the equity 

instruments are obtained by the Group.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transactions costs are credited to share capital when the options 

are exercised.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, the fair value of options granted to employees of its subsidiaries is 

recognised as an increase in the cost of the Company’s investment in subsidiaries, with a corresponding increase in 

equity over the vesting period.
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3.13 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 

be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

3.14 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are accounted for as insurance contracts. A provision is recognised based on the Company’s 

estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the balance sheet date. The provision is assessed 

by reviewing individual claims and tested for adequacy by comparing the amount recognised and the amount that 

would be required to settle the guarantee contract. 

3.15 Revenue recognition

Contract revenue

As soon as the outcome of the foundation engineering contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are 

recognised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract revenue includes 

the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work and claims, to the extent that it is probable 

that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of a foundation engineering contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised 

only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognised 

immediately in the income statement. Allowance is made where applicable for any foreseeable losses on uncompleted 

contracts as soon as the possibility of the loss is ascertained.

Trading of building products and plant and equipment

Revenue from trading of building products, plant and equipment are recognised upon delivery to the customer which is 

taken to be the point in time when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer. 

Revenue excludes goods and services taxes and is arrived at after deduction of trade discounts. No revenue is recognised 

if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due.

Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income to be received. 

Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are earned. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.15 Revenue recognition (cont’d)

Sale of land

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue 

excludes goods and services or other sales taxes. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding 

recovery of the consideration due.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in the income statement when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is 

established.

3.16 Jobs Credit Scheme

Cash grants received from the government in relation to the Jobs Credit Scheme are set off against staff costs.

3.17 Finance income and expense

Finance income comprises mainly interest income on funds invested and imputed interest on non-current progress 

billing receivables that are recognised in the income statement. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the 

effective interest method.

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings and loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 

that are recognised in the income statement. All borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the 

effective interest method, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its intended 

use or sale.

3.18 Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the income statement 

except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
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3.18 Income tax expense (cont’d)

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 

tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition 

of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable 

profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse 

in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary 

differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets 

and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 

but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 

simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

3.19 Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 

dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting 

the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 

adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes 

and share options granted to employees.

3.20 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 

components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Executive Committee who 

is the Group’s chief operating decision maker, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and 

assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s Executive Committee include items directly attributable to a segment as 

well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily 

the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 

intangible assets other than goodwill.

3.21 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2010 

have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a significant impact 

on the consolidated financial statements.
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4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Note

Leasehold 
land
and 

properties

Plant
and 

machinery

Office 
equipment, 
renovations 

and
furniture

and fittings

Motor 
vehicles

 and 
containers Total

$ $ $ $ $

Group

Cost
At 1 April 2008 8,013,031 124,833,698 3,912,031 3,196,491 139,955,251
Additions - 52,094,435 1,504,856 292,176 53,891,467
Assets acquired in business 

combination 26 - 1,274,313 643,577 82,558 2,000,448
Disposal of a subsidiary 26 - (110,000) - - (110,000)
Disposals/Write-offs - (3,554,358) (72,825) (835,185) (4,462,368)
Translation differences on 

consolidation - (480,823) (33,599) (16,871) (531,293)
At 31 March 2009 8,013,031 174,057,265 5,954,040 2,719,169 190,743,505
Additions - 15,945,986 982,583 26,438 16,955,007
Assets acquired in business 

combination 26 338,722 728,453 44,044 107,844 1,219,063
Transfer to assets held for sale 13 (508,710) (2,295,634) - - (2,804,344)
Disposals/Write-offs - (5,758,613) (625,495) (403,894) (6,788,002)
Translation differences on 

consolidation 18,821 659,673 11,693 13,047 703,234
At 31 March 2010 7,861,864 183,337,130 6,366,865 2,462,604 200,028,463

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses

At 1 April 2008 178,560 33,894,963 2,302,542 1,167,233 37,543,298
Depreciation charge for the year 247,262 18,973,420 836,127 498,182 20,554,991
Impairment losses recognised 4(iii) - 6,439,238 95,666 - 6,534,904
Disposal of a subsidiary 26 - (86,174) - - (86,174)
Disposals/Write-offs - (1,910,977) (58,096) (198,657) (2,167,730)
Translation differences on 

consolidation - (51,464) (2,217) (452) (54,133)
At 31 March 2009 425,822 57,259,006 3,174,022 1,466,306 62,325,156
Depreciation charge for the year 248,914 19,694,255 942,127 410,498 21,295,794
Impairment losses reversed 4(iii) - (1,780,825) - - (1,780,825)
Transfer to assets held for sale 13 (26,544) (2,184,642) - - (2,211,186)
Disposals/Write-offs - (5,193,777) (523,416) (214,484) (5,931,677)
Translation differences on 

consolidation 563 224,528 4,481 5,855 235,427
At 31 March 2010 648,755 68,018,545 3,597,214 1,668,175 73,932,689

Carrying amount
At 1 April 2008 7,834,471 90,938,735 1,609,489 2,029,258 102,411,953
At 31 March 2009 7,587,209 116,798,259 2,780,018 1,252,863 128,418,349
At 31 March 2010 7,213,109 115,318,585 2,769,651 794,429 126,095,774
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Office 
equipment, 

renovations and 
furniture and 

fittings Motor vehicles Total
$ $ $

Company

Cost
At 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2009 23,303 6,384 29,687
Write-offs (1,797) - (1,797)
At 31 March 2010 21,506 6,384 27,890

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2008 8,765 2,235 11,000
Depreciation charge for the year 4,305 1,277 5,582
At 31 March 2009 13,070 3,512 16,582
Depreciation charge for the year 4,305 1,277 5,582
Write-offs (1,797) - (1,797)
At 31 March 2010 15,578 4,789 20,367

Carrying amount
At 1 April 2008 14,538 4,149 18,687
At 31 March 2009 10,233 2,872 13,105
At 31 March 2010 5,928 1,595 7,523

(i) Included in the above are property, plant and equipment acquired under finance lease arrangements with the 

following carrying amounts:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Plant and machinery 72,084,145 78,688,470
Office equipment, renovations and furniture and fittings 21,983 28,697
Motor vehicles and containers 553,565 632,173

72,659,693 79,349,340

 The Company does not have any property, plant and equipment acquired under finance lease arrangements.

(ii) Leasehold land and property and plant and machinery of the Group with total carrying amounts of $11,523,543 

(2009: $14,403,920) are mortgaged to banks as security for facilities extended by the banks to the Group (note 17).
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4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT (CONT’D)

(iii) In the previous year, the Group carried out an impairment assessment of its property, plant and equipment due to 

the intense competition in the foundation engineering business and the losses incurred by certain Group entities. 

The recoverable amounts of certain plant and equipment were estimated either using the fair value less costs to 

sell approach or the value in use approach.

 Under the fair value less costs to sell approach, the fair values were based on independent appraisals undertaken 

by professional valuers at the balance sheet date. The fair value is based on the amount for which an asset could 

be exchanged between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction. The appraisal takes 

into consideration the prevailing market prices of similar assets and the age and physical conditions of the assets. 

Where independent valuations were not undertaken, the fair values were estimated by management taking into 

account selling prices of recent transactions of plant and equipment of similar age and physical conditions. Under 

the value in use approach, the recoverable amount was estimated taking into consideration the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from continuing use of the assets using discount rates ranging 

from 9.5% to 12.5%. A total impairment loss of $6,534,904 was recognised on certain plant and equipment, of 

which $6,450,906 and $83,998 relate to impairment losses on plant and equipment in the foundation engineering 

business segment and others segment, respectively.

 In the current year, following improved economic conditions, the Group carried out an assessment  of the 

recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment 

were estimated either using the fair value less costs to sell approach or the value in use approach.

 Under the fair value less costs to sell approach, the fair values were estimated by management taking into account 

selling prices of recent transactions of property, plant and equipment of similar age and physical conditions. Under 

the value in use approach, the recoverable amount was estimated taking into consideration the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from continuing use of the assets using discount rates ranging 

from 9.1% to 12.5%. A total impairment loss of $1,780,825 was reversed on certain property, plant and equipment 

in the foundation engineering business segment.

 The impairment losses have been (reversed)/recognised in the following line items in the consolidated 

income statement:
2010 2009

$ $

Cost of sales (1,729,903) 6,470,789
Other operating expenses (50,922) 64,115

(1,780,825) 6,534,904
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4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT (CONT’D)

(iv) The following are the significant accounting estimates on the Group’s property, plant and equipment and judgements 

in applying accounting policies:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking 

into account the estimated residual value. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly 

in order to determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded at each financial year. Changes in 

the expected level of use of the assets and the Group’s historical experience with similar assets after taking into 

account anticipated technological changes could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of the 

assets; therefore future depreciation charge could be revised. Any changes in the economic useful lives could 

impact the depreciation charge and consequently affect the Group’s results. The residual value is reviewed at each 

reporting date, with any change in estimate accounted for as a change in estimate and therefore prospectively.

Impairment of assets

The Group has made substantial investments in plant and equipment for its foundation engineering businesses. 

Changes in technology or changes in the intended use of these assets may cause the estimated period of use or 

value of these assets to change.

The Group considers its asset impairment accounting policy to be a policy that requires extensive applications of 

judgements and estimates by management.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event 

has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable; (2) whether the carrying value 

of an asset can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the 

continued use of the asset in the business; (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow 

projections including whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the 

assumptions selected by management to determine the level, if any, of impairment, including the discount rates or 

the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections could materially affect the net present value used in the 

impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.
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5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Note
Goodwill on 
consolidation

Customer 
contracts Total

Group $ $ $

Cost
At 1 April 2008 4,045,216 1,555,500 5,600,716
Acquisition through business combination 26 1,051,835 235,000 1,286,835
Translation differences on consolidation (98,428) - (98,428)
At 31 March 2009 4,998,623 1,790,500 6,789,123
Acquisition through business combination 26 964,715 - 964,715
Translation differences on consolidation 18,135 - 18,135
At 31 March 2010 5,981,473 1,790,500 7,771,973

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 April 2008 649,532 1,555,500 2,205,032
Amortisation charge - 235,000 235,000
Impairment losses 2,310,759 - 2,310,759
At 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010 2,960,291 1,790,500 4,750,791

Carrying amount
At 1 April 2008 3,395,684 - 3,395,684
At 31 March 2009 2,038,332 - 2,038,332
At 31 March 2010 3,021,182 - 3,021,182

In the previous year, the amortisation charge of $235,000 and impairment losses of $2,310,759 were recognised in other 

operating expenses in the income statement.

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill

For the purpose of annual impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the following cash-generating units which represent 

the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes:

2010 2009

Gross Impairment
Carrying 
amount Gross Impairment

Carrying 
amount

$ $ $ $ $ $

Soil Investigation Pte Ltd (“SIPL”) 1,486,497 - 1,486,497 1,486,497 - 1,486,497
G-Pile Sistem Sdn. Bhd. (“G-Pile”) 1,810,759 (1,810,759) - 1,810,759 (1,810,759) -
Wisescan Engineering Services Pte Ltd 

(“Wisescan”) 1,051,835 (500,000) 551,835 1,051,835 (500,000) 551,835
Spectest Sdn. Bhd. (“Spectest”) 982,850 - 982,850 - - -

5,331,941 (2,310,759) 3,021,182 4,349,091 (2,310,759) 2,038,332

The Group has determined the recoverable amounts of SIPL, G-Pile, Wisescan and Spectest cash generating units based 

on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use was determined by discounting the expected future cash flows generated 

from the continuing use of each unit. The cash flow projections are based on financial budgets covering a three to five-

year (2009: three to five-year) period.
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5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

SIPL G-Pile Wisescan Spectest
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

% % % % % % % %

Revenue growth rate Nil Nil to 9.6 Nil -46.7 to Nil Nil Nil Nil -
Pre-tax discount rate 10.8 10.6 16.3 16.6 10.9 10.8 11.9 -

The revenue growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industry in which the cash-generating 

units operate and is consistent with past performance trends and management’s expectation of market development. The 

discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect the specific risks relating to the cash-generating unit.

Based on the above assumptions, the recoverable amounts of SIPL, Wisescan and Spectest cash generating units were 

higher than their respective carrying amounts.

In the previous year, impairment losses of $1,810,759 and $500,000 were recognised on the cash generating units 

relating to G-Pile and Wisescan, respectively. The impairment losses were included in other operating expenses in the 

income statement.

The Group believes that any reasonably possible changes in the above key assumptions relating to SIPL, Wisescan and 

Spectest are not likely to cause its recoverable amounts to be materially lower than its carrying amounts.

6 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2010 2009

$ $

Investments in subsidiaries

Unquoted shares, at cost 67,629,528 62,105,851
Impairment losses (9,344,310) (9,295,114)

58,285,218 52,810,737
Loans to subsidiaries 5,807,239 5,807,239
Impairment losses (1,271,526) (1,271,526)

4,535,713 4,535,713
62,820,931 57,346,450

The loans are unsecured, interest-free and settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. 

As the amounts are, in substance, a part of the Company’s net investment in the subsidiaries, they are stated at cost less 

impairment losses.
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6 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

The change in impairment losses in respect of loans to subsidiaries during the year is as follows:

Company
2010 2009

$ $

At 1 April 1,271,526 220,445
Impairment losses - 1,051,081
At 31 March 1,271,526 1,271,526

During the year, arising from the stiff competition in the markets in which the subsidiaries operate and the losses incurred 

by certain subsidiaries, the Company assessed the recoverable amount of its investments in and loans to subsidiaries. 

Based on this assessment, the Company recognised impairment losses on its investments in and loans to subsidiaries 

of $49,196 (2009: $151,593) and $Nil (2009: $1,051,081) respectively. The recoverable amount of the investments in 

subsidiaries were estimated using the “fair value less costs to sell” approach. The fair values of the underlying assets 

were estimated based on their expected selling prices and the fair values of the underlying liabilities were based on the 

estimated cash outflows to settle the obligations.

Company
Note 2010 2009

$ $

Balances with subsidiaries

Amounts owing by subsidiaries
- trade 12,805,721 11,340,502
- non-trade 35,811,444 30,295,075

48,617,165 41,635,577
Impairment losses (4,270,411) (3,879,734)

11 44,346,754 37,755,843
Amount owing to subsidiaries
- trade 19 - 213,387

All the balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The change in impairment losses in respect of amounts owing by subsidiaries during the year is as follows:

Company
2010 2009

$ $

At 1 April 3,879,734 2,168,859
Impairment losses 390,677 1,710,875
At 31 March 4,270,411 3,879,734

The Company assessed the collectibility of the balances, having considered the financial conditions of the subsidiaries 

and their ability to make the required repayments. Management believes that no impairment loss is necessary in 

respect of the remaining balances. If the financial conditions of the subsidiaries were to deteriorate, further impairment 

may be required.
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6 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Country of 
incorporation/

place of business
Effective equity held 

by the Group
2010 2009

% %
Held by Company

+ CS Construction & Geotechnic  
 Pte. Ltd. and its subsidiary:

Investment holding and 
piling and civil engineering works

Singapore 100 100

 + CS Geotechnic Pte Ltd Civil engineering, piling, foundation 
and geotechnical engineering works
(currently dormant)

Singapore 100 100

+ CS Bored Pile System Pte Ltd Bored piling works Singapore 100 100

+ THL Engineering Pte. Ltd. and its 
subsidiary:

Sales and rental of heavy equipment, 
machinery and spare parts 
(currently dormant)

Singapore 100 100

 + THL Foundation
   Equipment Pte. Ltd.

Trading and rental of construction 
equipment and related parts

Singapore 55 55

+ Kolette Pte Ltd Sale and sublet of land and property 
development

Singapore 100 100

+ CS Industrial Land Pte Ltd Sale and sublet of land and property 
development

Singapore 100 100

* Ching Soon Concrete Products  
 Sdn Bhd

Manufacturing and trading of 
reinforced concrete piles 
(currently dormant)

Malaysia 100 100

+ CS India Pte. Ltd. 
  and its subsidiary:

Investment holding Singapore 100 100

 # CS Prefab Steel 
 Private Limited

Manufacturing and supply of  
pre-fabricated steel products
(under voluntary liquidation)

India 100 100

+ L&M Foundation Specialist Pte Ltd 
and its subsidiaries:

Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works

Singapore 100 100

 * L&M Foundation Specialist  
 (Vietnam) Limited Company

Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works

Vietnam 100 100

 # L&M Foundation Specialist  
 (Middle East) L.L.C.

Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works  
(currently dormant)

United Arab 
Emirates

100 100
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6 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Country of 
incorporation/

place of business
Effective equity held 

by the Group
2010 2009

% %
Held by Company (cont’d)

* L&M Ground Engineering Sdn Bhd Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works 
(currently dormant)

Malaysia 100 100

* G-Pile Sistem Sdn. Bhd. and its 
subsidiary:

Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works

Malaysia 100 100

 * G-Pile Engineering  Sdn. Bhd. Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works

Malaysia 100 -

+ Soil Investigation Pte Ltd and its 
subsidiaries:

Soil investigation, laboratory testing, 
geotechnical instrumentation and 
monitoring works

Singapore 100 100

+ Wisescan Engineering Services  
Pte Ltd and its subsidiary:

Land surveying, tunnel and 
structural deformation monitoring 
survey, tunnelling survey

Singapore 70 70

   # Wisescan Topcon Engineering  
   (Ind.) Pvt. Ltd.

Consultancy services of land 
surveying and real time automatic 
monitoring system
(currently dormant)

India 42 42

     * Spectest Sdn. Bhd. 
        and its subsidiaries:

Providing piles instrumentation, 
installation, testing and monitoring 
services

Malaysia 70 -

   * Glostrext Technology 
      Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiary:

Providing piles instrumentation, 
installation, testing and monitoring 
services

Malaysia 70 -

+Glostrext Technology (S) 
Pte. Ltd.

Providing piles instrumentation, 
installation, testing and monitoring 
services

Singapore 70 -

* CSC Ground Engineering Sdn. Bhd. 
and its subsidiary:

Investment holding Malaysia 70 70

* Borneo Geotechnic Sdn Bhd Piling, foundation and geotechnical 
engineering works

Malaysia 70 70

 Ching Soon Construction Sdn Bhd Piling works and construction 
specialist (liquidated)

Malaysia - 100

@ CS Geotechnic Soil Investigation JV Soil investigation, geotechnical 
instrumentation and monitoring 
works

Singapore 100 100
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6 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

+ Audited by KPMG Singapore

* Audited by another member firm of KPMG International

# Audited by another firm of certified public accountants

@ Not required to be audited in the country of incorporation

7 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH ASSOCIATES
Group

2010 2009
$ $

Investments in associates

Investments in associates 2,984,660 286,016
Impairment losses (43,435) (286,016)

2,941,225 -
Loan to an associate 1,600,000 1,600,000
Impairment losses - (1,600,000)

1,600,000 -
4,541,225 -

Company
2010 2009

$ $

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 1,722,365 1,600,000
Impairment losses - (1,600,000)

1,722,365 -
Loan to an associate 1,600,000 1,600,000
Impairment losses - (1,600,000)

1,600,000 -
3,322,365 -

The loan is unsecured, interest-free and settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. As 

the loan is, in substance, a part of the Group’s and the Company’s net investment in the associate, it is stated at cost less 

impairment losses.

The changes in impairment losses during the year are as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Loan to an associate

At 1 April 1,600,000 520,000 1,600,000 520,000
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised (1,600,000) 1,080,000 (1,600,000) 1,080,000
At 31 March - 1,600,000 - 1,600,000



CSC Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2010 87

7 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH ASSOCIATES (CONT’D)

In the previous year, arising from the stiff competition in the market in which the associate operated, the Group assessed 

the recoverable amount of its investment in the associate. Based on the assessment, both the Group and the Company 

recognised impairment losses of $1,080,000 on their investment in the associate.

During the year, following the improvement in economic conditions and the increase in demand for precast concrete 

products, the Group reassessed the recoverable amount of its investment in the associate. Based on this assessment, 

the Group and the Company reversed impairment losses of $1,842,581 and $3,200,000 on their investment in the 

associate respectively.

The recoverable amount of the investment was estimated using the “fair value less costs to sell” approach. The fair values 

of the underlying assets in the associate were estimated based on their expected selling prices and the fair values of the 

liabilities were based on the estimated cash outflows to settle the obligations.

The impairment losses were included in other operating expenses.

Group Company
Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Balances with associates

Amounts owing by associates
- trade 40,870 114,633 - -
- non-trade 9,137 28,227 - 19,089

50,007 142,860 - 19,089
Impairment losses - (92,802) - (19,089)

11 50,007 50,058 - -

The amounts owing by associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The change in impairment losses in respect of amounts owing by associates during the year is as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

At 1 April 92,802 121,673 19,089 -
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised (92,802) (28,871) (19,089) 19,089
At 31 March - 92,802 - 19,089

The Group assessed the collectibility of the balances, having considered the financial conditions of the associates 

and their ability to make the required repayments. Management believes that no impairment loss is necessary 

in respect of the remaining balances. If the financial conditions of the associates were to deteriorate, further 

impairment may be required.
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7 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH ASSOCIATES (CONT’D)

Details of the associates are as follows:

Name of associate Principal activities

Country of 
incorporation/

place of business

Effective equity
held by the

Group
2010 2009

% %
Held by Company

# Excel Precast Pte Ltd and
 its subsidiary: 

Manufacturing and trading of 
precast concrete products

Singapore 40 40

# Excel Precast Sdn. Bhd. Manufacturing and trading of 
precast concrete products

Malaysia 40 -

Held by L&M Foundation Specialist Pte Ltd

# L&M Foundation, Philippines, Inc Piling, foundation and 
geotechnical engineering works
(currently dormant)

Philippines 40 40

 # Audited by another firm of certified public accountants

The summarised financial information relating to associates is not adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by 

the Group.

The financial information of the associates is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets 2,542,573 2,155,494
Current assets 20,731,103 6,558,982
Total assets 23,273,676 8,714,476

Non-current liabilities 4,203,735 4,321,004
Current liabilities 10,479,986 5,799,526
Total liabilities 14,683,721 10,120,530

Results

Revenue 44,099,206 6,006,988
Expenses (34,215,872) (8,174,766)
Profit/(loss) before tax 9,883,334 (2,167,778)
Income tax credit 111,621 56,719
Profit/(loss) after tax 9,994,955 (2,111,059)

The Group’s share of the contingent liabilities of the associates is $318,000 (2009: $206,000).
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7 INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH ASSOCIATES (CONT’D)

In the previous year, the Group had not recognised losses relating to an associate where the Group’s share of losses 

exceeds the carrying amount of its investment in the associate. In the previous year, the Group’s share of cumulative 

unrecognised losses was $769,428, of which $769,428 was its share of the previous year’s losses. The Group had no 

obligation in respect of these losses.

8 FINANCIAL ASSETS, AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Quoted equity securities, available-for-sale - 2,047

9 INVENTORIES
Group

2010 2009
$ $

Equipment and machinery 16,589,486 19,235,141
Spare parts 3,109,712 2,499,672
Raw materials 4,058,740 4,849,873

23,757,938 26,584,686
Allowance for inventory obsolescence - (254,919)

23,757,938 26,329,767

The cost of inventories recognised in cost of sales amounted to $81,753,455 (2009: $192,304,888).

Included in the above are inventories amounting to $11,431,976 (2009: $12,383,975) which were acquired under 

finance lease agreements.

The change in allowance for inventory obsolescence during the year is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

At 1 April 254,919 254,919
Allowance utilised during the year (254,919) -
At 31 March - 254,919
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10 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Properties in the course of development, at cost 12,430,638 -
Land held for development - 9,432,556
Land held for sale - 2,862,467
Allowance for foreseeable losses - (1,300,000)

- 1,562,467
Total development properties 12,430,638 10,995,023

The land was mortgaged to a bank as security for facilities extended by the bank to the Group in the previous year. The 

charge was discharged during the year (note 19).

As at 31 March 2010, the Group has started to develop the land held for development. Accordingly, the cost of the land 

held for development has been transferred to properties in the course of development.

The change in allowance for foreseeable losses during the year is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

At 1 April 1,300,000 1,000,000
Allowance (reversed)/made during the year (1,300,000) 300,000
At 31 March - 1,300,000

In the previous year, the carrying amount of the land held for sale was written down by $300,000 based on the estimated 

selling price less anticipated cost of disposal of the said land. During the year, the allowance on the land held for sale of 

$1,300,000 was reversed on disposal of the land. The allowance recognised and reversed are included in cost of sales.
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Non-current asset

Progress billing receivables 14,953,966 18,814,892 - -
Total non-current loans and receivables 14,953,966 18,814,892 - -

Current assets

Trade receivables 37,218,776 39,430,595 - -
Impairment losses (504,557) (349,017) - -

36,714,219 39,081,578 - -

Progress billing receivables 102,844,159 136,824,851 - -
Impairment losses (1,540,664) (3,207,353) - -

101,303,495 133,617,498 - -

Other receivables 290,277 613,448 13,355 2,972
Recoverables 1,210,883 623,856 - -
Amounts owing by:
- subsidiaries 6 - - 44,346,754 37,755,843
- associates 7 50,007 50,058 - -
- related corporations (trade) 936,724 811,440 - -
Impairment losses (13,330) - - -

923,394 811,440 - -
Deposits 4,787,412 2,751,011 2,000,000 -
Tax recoverable 520,710 326,761 930,674 930,674
Total current loans and receivables 145,800,397 177,875,650 47,290,783 38,689,489
Prepayments 453,755 475,064 12,250 12,741

146,254,152 178,350,714 47,303,033 38,702,230

Progress billing receivables include $40,751,755 (2009: $50,883,580) relating to retention amounts for construction 

work-in-progress.

Included in deposits of the Group and the Company is an amount of $2,000,000 (2009: $Nil) for the proposed acquisition 

of an equity interest in a company.  The deposit bears interest at 5.5% per annum.

The Group’s primary exposure to credit risk arises on its trade and progress billing receivables. Concentration of credit 

risk relating to trade and progress billing receivables is limited due to the Group’s many varied customers. The Group’s 

historical experience in the collection of accounts receivable falls within the recorded allowances. Due to these factors, 

management believes that no additional credit risk beyond amounts provided for collection losses is inherent in the 

Group’s trade and progress billing receivables.
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade, progress billings and other receivables, recoverables and amounts owing 

by subsidiaries, associates and related corporations at the balance sheet date by business segment is:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Business segment
Foundation engineering 143,800,415 189,065,315 29,376,549 23,761,055
Trading and leasing of equipment 11,501,238 4,166,530 1,455 2,247
Others 144,588 380,925 14,982,105 13,995,513

155,446,241 193,612,770 44,360,109 37,758,815

The ageing of trade, progress billings and other receivables, recoverables and amounts owing by subsidiaries, associates 

and related corporations at the balance sheet date is:

Gross
Impairment 

losses Gross
Impairment 

losses
2010 2010 2009 2009

$ $ $ $

Group
Not past due 92,344,985 - 134,871,017 (11,029)
Past due 0 – 30 days 9,183,685 - 13,380,857 (1,700)
More than 30 days 55,976,122 (2,058,551) 49,010,068 (3,636,443)

157,504,792 (2,058,551) 197,261,942 (3,649,172)
Company
Not past due 544,606 - 3,807,776 -
Past due 0 – 30 days 1,896,340 (65,000) 1,547,954 (7,903)
More than 30 days 46,189,574 (4,205,411) 36,301,908 (3,890,920)

48,630,520 (4,270,411) 41,657,638 (3,898,823)

The change in impairment losses in respect of trade, progress billings and other receivables and amount owing by related 

corporations during the year is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

At 1 April 3,556,370 2,887,812
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised (1,251,856) 2,494,412
Impairment losses utilised (245,963) (1,825,854)
At 31 March 2,058,551 3,556,370

Having considered the ageing of the receivables, credit-worthiness of its customers and historical write-off of receivables, 

the Group believes that no impairment loss is necessary in respect of the remaining receivables due to the good track 

record and reputation of its customers.
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12 CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS
Group Company

Note 2010 2009 2010 2009
$ $ $ $

Cash at bank and in hand 26,844,635 15,692,505 6,503,307 3,970,385
Fixed deposits 5,098,984 14,194,332 - 239,554
Cash and cash equivalents 31,943,619 29,886,837 6,503,307 4,209,939
Bank overdrafts 17 (4,706,497) (3,909,390)
Fixed deposits pledged as security (97,796) (228,484)
Cash and cash equivalents in the 

consolidated cash flow statement 27,139,326 25,748,963

Fixed deposits of a subsidiary amounting to $97,796 (2009: $228,484) are pledged to bank for facilities extended by the 

bank to the subsidiary.

The bank overdrafts are unsecured and guaranteed by the Company and related corporations.

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

% % % %

Fixed deposits 0.28 0.19 - 1.06
Bank overdrafts 5.26 5.46 - -

Interest rates reprice at interval of one month.

13 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
Group

Note 2010 2009
$ $

Assets classified as held for sale:

Leasehold property (i) 482,166 -
Plant and machinery (ii) 110,992 -

593,158 -

(i) On 3 February 2010, the Group entered into an option agreement to dispose of its leasehold property to a third 

party for a cash consideration of $670,000. The sale was completed in April 2010.

The leasehold property was mortgaged to a bank as security for facilities (note 17). The mortgage was discharged 

subsequent to the reporting date.

(ii) On 16 October 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of its plant and machinery 

to a third party for a cash consideration of $500,000. The sale was completed in April 2010.
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14 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
2010 2009

No. of 
shares $

No. of 
shares $

Issued and fully-paid ordinary shares with no 
par value:

At 1 April 1,225,243,725 64,378,246 1,147,864,781 58,057,408
Issue of shares arising from:
- exercise of share options 1,000,000 147,796 44,795,000 4,697,493
- conversion of redeemable convertible notes - - 32,583,944 1,623,345
At 31 March 1,226,243,725 64,526,042 1,225,243,725 64,378,246

In the previous year, a total of 17,736,416 ordinary shares and 14,847,528 ordinary shares were issued at a conversion 
price of $0.045 per share on 29 September 2008 and 27 March 2009 respectively, upon the conversion of the redeemable 
convertible notes.

The Group also issued 1,000,000 (2009: 44,795,000) shares during the year arising from share options exercised under 
the CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004 (note 16).

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company completed the buy-back of 850,000 (2009: 1,900,000) ordinary 
shares, representing 0.07% (2009: 0.16%) of the issued share capital on that date, under the terms of the Share Buyback 
Mandate dated 2 July 2008, approved by shareholders on 25 July 2008. The shares were bought back at an average 
market price, including incidental costs, at $0.17 (2009: $0.08) per share, for a total consideration of $140,767 (2009: 
$151,369). This amount is classified as a deduction from equity under “reserve for own shares”. As at 31 March 2010, 
the Company held 2,750,000 (2009: 1,900,000) of its own uncancelled shares.

The holders of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time 
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares (excluding treasury shares) rank equally 
with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group 
defines as net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by average shareholders’ equity excluding 
minority interests. 

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders 24,068,612 40,153,592

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company:
- 2010 180,555,142 -
- 2009 162,038,510 162,038,510
- 2008 - 129,394,646

Average shareholder’s equity excluding minority interests 171,296,826 145,716,578

Return on capital 14.1% 27.6%

The Board also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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15 RESERVES

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Capital reserve 17,798,271 17,798,271 17,798,271 17,798,271
Reserve for own shares (292,136) (151,369) (292,136) (151,369)
Reserve on consolidation 116,137 116,137 - -
Fair value reserve - (9,934) - -
Share option reserve 3,852,435 3,569,850 3,852,435 3,569,850
Foreign currency translation reserve (223,705) (647,862) - -
Accumulated profits 94,778,098 76,985,171 29,357,650 2,260,085

116,029,100 97,660,264 50,716,220 23,476,837

The capital reserve represents the assigned fair value of the warrants issued by the Company and the effect of the 
capital reduction of the Company’s ordinary shares from $0.05 to $0.01 per share during the financial year ended 31 
March 2004. The capital reserve is not distributable in accordance with Article 142 of the Articles of Association of 
the Company.

Reserve for own shares comprises the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Group (note 14).

The reserve on consolidation relates to the acquisition of minority interests by a subsidiary pursuant to a scheme 
of restructuring in prior years.

The fair value reserve in 2009 comprised the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments.

The share option reserve comprises the cumulative value of employee services received for the issue of share options. 
When an option is exercised, the related balance previously recognised in the share option reserve is transferred to 
share capital. When the share options expire, the related balance previously recognised in the share option reserve is 
transferred to accumulated profits.

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises:

(a) foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose 
functional currencies are different from the functional currency of the Company;

(b) the exchange differences on monetary items which form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, 
provided certain conditions are met.
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16 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004 

The CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004 (the ESOS Scheme) of the Company was approved and adopted by its 

members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 July 2004. The ESOS scheme had expired on 21 July 2009. The 

ESOS Scheme is administered by the Company’s Share Option Scheme 2004 Committee (the “Committee”), comprising 

five directors, Tan Ee Ping, Chee Teck Kwong Patrick, Ng San Tiong Roland, See Yen Tarn and Poh Chee Kuan.

Information regarding the ESOS Scheme is set out below:

(i) Subscription price:

(a) the exercise price of the options is determined at the average of the last dealt price of the Company’s 

shares on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited prevailing on the five consecutive trading days 

immediately preceding the dates of grant of such options; or

(b) the discounted value of the share price determined under (a) above, provided that the maximum discount 

shall not exceed 20% of (a) above.

(ii) All options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

(iii) The options vest two years from the dates of grant.

(iv) The options granted expire on the fifth anniversary of the dates of grant unless they have been cancelled or lapsed 

prior to those dates.

(v) The exercise price, number of options and other terms of the options may be adjusted by the Committee in the 

event of any changes in the number of ordinary shares of the Company.

Movements in the number of share options under the ESOS Scheme and their related weighted average exercise prices 

are as follows:

Weighted 

average exercise 

price

No. of  

options

Weighted 

average exercise 

price

No. of  

options
2010 2010 2009 2009

$ $

At 1 April 0.2016 93,379,000 0.1622 91,854,000
Granted - - 0.1560 49,650,000
Exercised 0.0952 (1,000,000) 0.0670 (44,795,000)
Forfeited 0.2073 (17,529,000) 0.2458 (3,330,000)
At 31 March 0.2017 74,850,000 0.2016 93,379,000

Exercisable at 31 March 0.2526 35,420,000 0.0843 6,309,000

Options exercised in 2010 resulted in 1,000,000 (2009: 44,795,000) shares being issued at a weighted average exercise 

price at $0.0952 (2009: $0.0670) each. Options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the year. The weighted 

average share price during the year was $0.1688 (2009: $0.1479) per share.
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16 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONT’D)

As at the end of the financial year, details of the share options granted under the ESOS Scheme on the unissued ordinary 

shares of the Company are as follows:

Date of 
grant of 
options

Exercise 
price 

per share 

Options 
outstanding 

at 
1 April 2009

Options 
exercised

Options 
forfeited

Options 
outstanding 

at 
31 March 

2010 Exercise period

3/5/2006 $0.0670 309,000 - (309,000) - 3/5/2008 to 2/5/2011

1/8/2006 $0.0677 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 1/8/2008 to 31/7/2011

23/11/2006 $0.0952 1,000,000 (1,000,000) - - 23/11/2008 to 22/11/2011

1/12/2006 $0.1008 500,000 - - 500,000 1/12/2008 to 30/11/2011

15/1/2007 $0.1890 500,000 - (500,000) - 15/1/2009 to 14/1/2012

23/8/2007 $0.2790 38,320,000 - (7,400,000) 30,920,000 23/8/2009 to 22/8/2012

22/9/2008 $0.1560 48,750,000 - (9,320,000) 39,430,000 22/9/2010 to 21/9//2013
93,379,000 (1,000,000) (17,529,000) 74,850,000

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share 

options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a Trinomial Option Pricing 

Model. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of 

non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

Date of grant of options

3 May 

2006

1 August 

2006

23 November 

2006

1 December 

2006

15 January 

2007

23 August 

2007

22 September 

2008

Fair value at measurement 

date $0.0394 $0.0390 $0.0559 $0.0607 $0.1243 $0.1006 $0.0262

Share price $0.0950 $0.0950 $0.1350 $0.1450 $0.2850 $0.3000 $0.1250
Exercise price $0.0670 $0.0677 $0.0952 $0.1008 $0.1890 $0.2790 $0.1560
Expected volatility 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%
Expected option life 2.5 years 2.5 years 2.5 years 2.5 years 2.5 years 2.5 years 2.5 years
Expected dividends - - - - - 1% 3%
Risk-free interest rate 3.11% 3.04% 3.04% 2.94% 2.99% 2.25% 1.72%
Pre-vesting forfeiture rate 3% 0% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
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16 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONT’D)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility (calculated based on the weighted average expected life of the 
share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

There are no market conditions associated with the share option grants.

The CSC Performance Share Scheme 2008

The CSC Performance Share Scheme 2008 (the PSS Scheme) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members 
at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 25 July 2008. The PSS Scheme is administered by a committee comprising 
five directors, Tan Ee Ping, Chee Teck Kwong Patrick, Ng San Tiong Roland, See Yen Tarn and Poh Chee Kuan.

Other information regarding the PSS Scheme is set out below:

(i) Awards represent the right of a participant to receive fully-paid shares free of charge, upon the participant satisfying 
the criteria set out in the PSS Scheme.

(ii) The Committee has the absolute discretion on the following in relation to an award:

(a) select eligible directors and employees to participate in the PSS Scheme;

(b) determine the number of shares to be offered to each participant; and

(c) assess the service and performance of the participants.

(iii) All awards are settled by physical delivery of shares.

No shares have been granted to the directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates or 
participants under the PSS Scheme since the commencement of the PSS Scheme. At the end of the financial year, there 
were no shares granted under the PSS Scheme.

17 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Group Company
Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 10,054,205 8,985,430 - 5,083,499
Finance lease liabilities 16,083,851 31,713,205 - -

26,138,056 40,698,635 - 5,083,499
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts 12 4,706,497 3,909,390 - -
Secured bank loans 6,887,824 3,668,425 2,792,422 2,973,106
Finance lease liabilities 22,508,482 24,409,340 - -

34,102,803 31,987,155 2,792,422 2,973,106

The bank loans are secured on the following:

(a) a legal mortgage over the Group’s leasehold property (note 13);

(b) a legal mortgage over the Group’s leasehold land and property and plant and machinery (note 4);

(c) guarantee by the Company and a related corporation; and

(d) joint and several guarantee by directors of a subsidiary.
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17 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

Finance lease liabilities

The Group has obligations under finance leases that are repayable as follows:

Group
Payments Interest Principal

$ $ $

2010
Repayable within 1 year 23,908,309 1,399,827 22,508,482
Repayable after 1 year but within 5 years 16,859,714 775,863 16,083,851

40,768,023 2,175,690 38,592,333
2009
Repayable within 1 year 26,645,629 2,236,289 24,409,340
Repayable after 1 year but within 5 years 33,137,357 1,424,152 31,713,205

59,782,986 3,660,441 56,122,545

Terms and debt repayment schedule 

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

Nominal 2010 2009
interest

rate
Year of 

maturity
Face
value

Carrying 
amount

Face
value

Carrying 
amount

% $ $ $ $

Group
Term loan I Prime rate + 1.25 2014 193,489 193,489 232,331 232,331
Term loan II SWAP + 1.25 2012 3,700,000 3,700,000 4,300,000 4,300,000
Term loan III 7.00 2011 - - 62,500 64,919
Term loan IV BL LEFS* 2014 1,732,599 1,732,599 - -
Term loan V COF + 2.00 2012 1,120,000 1,120,000 - -
Term loan VI BL LEFS* 2013 2,364,351 2,364,351 - -
Term loan VII BL LEFS* 2014 1,791,650 1,791,650 - -
Term loan VIII BL LEFS* 2014 2,687,500 2,687,500 - -
Term loan IX BLR + 1.25 2015 54,043 54,043 - -
Financing loan I 2.68 2011 250,000 250,000 - -
Financing loan II COF + 1.75 2011 255,975 255,975 - -
Debenture loan 2.70 2011 2,725,780 2,792,422 7,707,806 8,056,605
Secured bank loans 16,875,387 16,942,029 12,302,637 12,653,855
Finance lease liabilities 2.20% - 8.43 2011 - 2015 36,969,204 38,592,333 52,779,386 56,122,545

53,844,591 55,534,362 65,082,023 68,776,400
Company
Debenture loan 2.70 2011 2,725,780   2,792,422 7,707,806 8,056,605

* BL LEFS is the prevailing interest rate set by SPRING Singapore under the Local Enterprise Finance Scheme.



100 OUR PEOPLE : OUR STRENGTH

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STaTEmENTS cont’d
Year ended 31 March 2010
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The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of financial liabilities, including interest payments 

and excluding the impact of netting agreements:

Carrying 
amount Cash flows

Contractual
cash flows

Within
1 year

Within
2 to 5 years

More than
5 years

Group $ $ $ $ $
2010
Secured bank loans 16,942,029 17,781,615 7,339,235 10,442,380 -
Finance lease liabilities 38,592,333 40,768,023 23,908,309 16,859,714 -
Bank overdrafts 4,706,497 4,955,280 4,955,280 - -
Trade and other payables * 87,886,842 88,225,234 88,225,234 - -
Recognised financial liabilities 148,127,701 151,730,152 124,428,058 27,302,094 -
Financial guarantees 2,249,373 2,249,373 2,249,373 - -

150,377,074 153,979,525 126,677,431 27,302,094 -

2009
Secured bank loans 12,653,855 13,439,768 4,072,405 9,282,614 84,749
Finance lease liabilities 56,122,545 59,782,986 26,645,629 33,137,357 -
Bank overdrafts 3,909,390 4,087,377 4,087,377 - -
Trade and other payables * 124,729,336 125,066,132 125,066,132 - -
Recognised financial liabilities 197,415,126 202,376,263 159,871,543 42,419,971 84,749
Financial guarantees 2,342,982 2,342,982 2,342,982 - -

199,758,108 204,719,245 162,214,525 42,419,971 84,749

Carrying 
amount Cash flows

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 
1 year

Within
2 to 5 years

More than
5 years

Company $ $ $ $ $
2010
Bank loan 2,792,422 3,093,756 3,093,756 - -
Trade and other payables * 1,943,464 1,943,464 1,943,464 - -
Recognised financial liabilities 4,735,886 5,037,220 5,037,220 - -
Financial guarantees 207,119,257 207,119,257 207,119,257 - -

211,855,143 212,156,477 212,156,477 - -

2009
Bank loan 8,056,605 8,744,430 3,359,600 5,384,830 -
Trade and other payables * 4,360,036 4,360,036 4,360,036 - -
Recognised financial liabilities 12,416,641 13,104,466 7,719,636 5,384,830 -
5,384,830 -
Financial guarantees 188,956,219 188,956,219 188,956,219 - -

201,372,860 202,060,685 196,675,855 5,384,830 -

 * Excludes deposits received and advance payments received for contracts 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly 

different amounts.
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18 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

Deferred tax asset of the Company is attributable to the following:

Company
2010 2009

$ $

Deferred tax asset
Trade and other payables 26,583 -

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 

current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority. The amounts determined after 

appropriate offsetting are included in the balance sheet as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) 6,144,130 3,529,345 (26,583) -

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Trade payables 49,033,193 68,155,380 - -
Other payables 1,442,701 1,289,084 175,304 219,317
Deposits received 6,429,678 662,577 - -
Advance payments received for contracts 24,245 83,018 - -
Accruals 32,728,518 50,431,443 1,768,160 3,925,203
Amounts owing to:
- subsidiaries 6 - - - 213,387
- related corporations (trade) 4,682,430 4,853,429 - 2,129

94,340,765 125,474,931 1,943,464 4,360,036

The Group’s trade payables include bills payable amounting to $12,090,161 (2009: $9,442,565) which is guaranteed 

by the Company and a related corporation. Previously, the amount was secured by a legal mortgage on a subsidiary’s 

development properties (note 10).

The weighted average effective interest rate of bills payable of the Group at the balance sheet date is 2.83% (2009: 

3.10%) per annum.
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20 EXCESS OF PROGRESS BILLINGS OVER CONSTRUCTION WORK-IN-PROGRESS

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Cost incurred and attributable profit 597,152,416 1,035,197,186
Allowance for foreseeable losses (619,190) (1,676,101)

596,533,226 1,033,521,085
Progress billings (607,360,731) (1,045,755,501)

(10,827,505) (12,234,416)

The change in allowance for foreseeable losses during the year is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

At 1 April 1,676,101 1,326,546
Allowance (reversed)/made during the year (1,056,911) 617,950
Allowance utilised during the year - (268,395)
At 31 March 619,190 1,676,101

The Group recognises allowance for foreseeable losses taking into account the contracted revenue, estimated costs to 

completion, project duration and overruns. It is possible that the management estimates used are not indicative of future 

losses that it will incur. Any increase or decrease would affect profit or loss in the future years.

21 REVENUE

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Revenue from foundation engineering works 243,219,572 512,090,668
Trading of building products and plant and equipment 34,980,312 47,489,707
Rental income 4,716,247 8,516,659
Sale of land 2,142,991 -

285,059,122 568,097,034

As explained in note 3.15, revenue and profit recognition on an uncompleted foundation engineering project is 

dependent on estimating the total outcome of the foundation engineering contract, as well as the work done to date. 

Based on the Group’s experience and the nature of the foundation engineering activity undertaken, the management 

makes estimates of the point at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that the costs to complete, 

rectification costs and revenue can be reliably estimated. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of total costs or revenue 

may be higher or lower than estimated at the balance sheet date, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised 

in future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date. As at 31 March 2010, the management considered that 

all costs to complete and revenue can be reliably estimated.
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22 FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Interest income:
- fixed deposits 34,087 31,368
- others 4,498 14,411
Imputed interest on non-current progress billing receivables 28,380 159,260
Finance income 66,965 205,039

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale equity securities (9,934) -
Interest expense:
- bank overdrafts (145,683) (160,194)
- finance leases (2,447,975) (2,712,181)
- bank loans (763,755) (1,161,117)
- convertible notes - (74,223)
- bills payable (238,860) (721,141)
- others (112,852) (102,315)
Finance expenses (3,719,059) (4,931,171)
Net finance expenses recognised in income statement (3,652,094) (4,726,132)

23 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Current tax expense
Current year 1,482,721 11,125,035
Under provided in prior years 137,309 1,007,188

1,620,030 12,132,223
Deferred tax expense/(credit)
Movements in temporary differences 2,783,025 (1,050,142)
Over provided in prior years (412,438) (328,833)
Reduction in tax rate - (280,982)

2,370,587 (1,659,957)
3,990,617 10,472,266

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit for the year 26,034,108 42,462,610
Total income tax expense 3,990,617 10,472,266
Profit before income tax 30,024,725 52,934,876

Tax calculated using corporate tax rate at 17% 5,104,203 8,998,929
Effect of reduction in tax rate - (280,982)
Income not subject to tax (1,651,432) (220,382)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,300,645 1,258,946
Effect of share of results of associates (487,670) 37,400
(Over)/under provided in prior years (275,129) 678,355

3,990,617 10,472,266
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24 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The following items have been included in arriving at profit for the year:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Amortisation of:
- intangible assets - 235,000
- lease prepayment - 188,880
Allowances (reversed)/made for:
- foreseeable losses on land held for sale (1,300,000) 300,000
- foreseeable losses on construction work-in-progress (1,056,911) 617,950
Contributions to defined contribution plans, included in staff costs 2,423,205 2,509,130
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 21,295,794 20,554,991
Directors’ remuneration (excluding director’s fees) 1,985,955 2,934,552
Directors’ fees 226,000 306,000
Exchange (gain)/loss (136,601) 115,929
Loss/(gain) on disposal of:
- a subsidiary - (687,676)
- an associate - (116,087)
- property, plant and equipment 364,433 (700,456)
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised on:
- property, plant and equipment (1,780,825) 6,534,904
- goodwill on consolidation - 2,310,759
- investments in and balances with associates (1,935,383) 1,051,129
- trade, progress billings and other receivables (1,251,856) 2,494,412
- other non-current assets - 4,642
Inventories written down 113,749 582,752
Loss on dilution of interests in subsidiaries - 125,417
Non-audit fees paid or payable to auditors of the Company 59,000 55,400
Operating lease expenses 14,416,069 23,961,183
Property, plant and equipment written off 93,507 26,390
Professional fees paid to a director 24,000 24,000
Share option expense, included in staff costs and directors’ remuneration 1,038,255 2,209,373
Staff costs 42,862,123 59,500,087
Government grant income from Jobs Credit Scheme, included in staff costs (1,155,091) (135,465)
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25 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Basic earnings per share is based on:
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 24,068,612 40,153,592

Group
2010 2009
No. of
shares

No. of
shares

Weighted average number of: 
Issued ordinary shares at beginning of the year 1,225,243,725 1,147,864,781
Ordinary shares issued arising from exercise of share options 821,918 37,393,803
Ordinary shares issued arising from conversion of convertible notes - 8,973,861
Ordinary shares held as treasury shares (2,145,644) (252,740)
Weighted average number of shares used to compute earnings per share 1,223,919,999 1,193,979,705

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Diluted earnings per share is based on:

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 24,068,612 40,153,592
Imputed interest on convertible notes, net of tax effect - 61,605
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, adjusted 
for the effect of convertible notes 24,068,612 40,215,197

For the purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per ordinary share, the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue is adjusted to take into account the dilutive effect arising from the dilutive share options and 

convertible notes, with the potential ordinary shares weighted for the period outstanding.

The effect of the exercise of share options and convertible notes on the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue is as follows:

Group
2010 2009
No. of
shares

No. of
shares

Weighted average number of:
Ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 1,223,919,999 1,193,979,705
Potential ordinary shares issuable under share options 16,577,732 2,853,604
Potential ordinary shares issuable under convertible notes - 26,483,147
Weighted average number of ordinary issued and potential shares assuming 

full conversion 1,240,497,731 1,223,316,456
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26 ACqUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 

Acquisition of subsidiaries in financial year 2010

On 4 December 2009, the Group acquired a 70% equity interest in Spectest Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries (“Spectest”) 

for $1,991,099 satisfied by way of cash. For the year ended 31 March 2010, Spectest contributed a net profit of $27,564 

to the consolidated net profit for the year. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2009, the Group’s revenue and net 

profit would have been $286,322,633 and $26,415,988 respectively. In determining these amounts, management has 

assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition 

had occurred on 1 April 2009.

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities on the acquisition date:

Carrying 
amounts

Fair value 
adjustments

Recognised 
values

Note $ $ $

Plant and equipment 4 423,809 795,254 1,219,063
Trade and other receivables 477,380 - 477,380
Cash and cash equivalents 245,804 - 245,804
Trade and other payables (95,468) - (95,468)
Financial liabilities (127,850) - (127,850)
Current tax payable (43,038) - (43,038)
Deferred tax liabilities 18 (10,815) (198,813) (209,628)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 869,822 596,441 1,466,263
Minority interest (439,879)
Goodwill on consolidation 5 964,715
Consideration paid 1,991,099
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired (245,804)
Net cash outflow 1,745,295

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on applicable FRSs immediately before the acquisition. The 

values of assets, liabilities and the contingent liabilities recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair values.

The goodwill recognised on the acquisition is attributable mainly to the long standing presence of the acquired 

subsidiaries in its industry, the knowledge and the technical ability of the acquired subsidiaries’ workforce and the 

synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the acquired subsidiaries into the Group’s existing operations.

Acquisition of subsidiaries in financial year 2009

On 10 April 2008, the Group acquired a 70% equity interest in Wisescan Engineering Services Pte Ltd and its subsidiary 

(“Wisescan”) for $2,625,000 satisfied by way of cash. For the year ended 31 March 2009, Wisescan contributed a net 

profit of $161,189 to the consolidated net profit for the year. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2008, the Group’s 

revenue and net profit would have been $568,229,634 and $42,466,585 respectively. In determining these amounts, 

management assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if 

the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2008.
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26 ACqUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Acquisition of subsidiaries in financial year 2009 (cont’d)

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities on the acquisition date:

Carrying 
amounts

Fair value 
adjustments

Recognised 
values

Note $ $ $

Plant and equipment 4 1,527,839 472,609 2,000,448
Intangible assets 5 - 235,000 235,000
Other non-current asset 2,143 - 2,143
Trade and other receivables 1,779,667 - 1,779,667
Cash and cash equivalents 234,252 - 234,252
Bank overdraft (243,438) - (243,438)
Trade and other payables (1,034,990) - (1,034,990)
Financial liabilities (478,918) - (478,918)
Current tax payable (56,715) - (56,715)
Deferred tax liabilities 18 (105,000) (85,070) (190,070)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 1,624,840 622,539 2,247,379
Minority interest (674,214)
Goodwill on consolidation 5 1,051,835
Consideration paid 2,625,000
Add: Cash and cash equivalents acquired (net of bank 

overdraft) 9,186
Net cash outflow 2,634,186

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on applicable FRSs immediately before the acquisition. The 

values of assets, liabilities and the contingent liabilities recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair values.

The goodwill recognised on the acquisition is attributable mainly to the long standing presence of the acquired subsidiary 

in its industry, the knowledge and the technical ability of the acquired subsidiary’ workforce and the synergies expected 

to be achieved from integrating the acquired subsidiary into the Group’s existing operations.

Disposal of a subsidiary in financial year 2009

On 22 January 2009, the Group disposed of a subsidiary, Ching Soon Industries Pte Ltd. The effect of disposal on the 

financial results was not significant. The disposed subsidiary previously contributed net loss of $745,394 from 1 April 

2008 to the date of disposal.
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26 ACqUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Disposal of a subsidiary in financial year 2009 (cont’d)

The effect of disposal of a subsidiary was as follows:

Note $

Plant and equipment 4 23,826
Lease prepayment 314,800
Cash and cash equivalents 24,833
Other payables (5,000)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 358,459
Gain on disposal 24 687,676
Cash consideration received, satisfied in cash 1,046,135
Cash disposed of (24,833)
Net cash inflow 1,021,302

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Group has a system of controls in place to create an 

acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The management continually 

monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is 

achieved.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 

the Group’s activities.

In the opinion of the directors, the Group has taken appropriate quality control measures to mitigate the effect from any 

claims caused by product and construction defects, which may affect adversely its financial results, even though the 

Group is not covered by insurance against such events.

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 

procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The 

Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes reviews of risk management 

controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require 

collateral for trade receivables. Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which are 

regulated.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Financial assets, available-for-sale - 2,047 - -
Loans and receivables 160,754,363 196,690,542 47,290,783 38,689,489
Cash and cash equivalents 31,943,619 29,886,837 6,503,307 4,209,939
Intragroup financial guarantee 2,249,373 2,342,982 207,119,257 188,956,219

194,947,355 228,922,408 260,913,347 231,855,647

The maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Singapore 139,749,161 185,246,888 38,401,710 29,913,544
Malaysia 17,163,402 11,232,422 8,889,073 8,775,945
Others 3,841,800 211,232 - -

160,754,363 196,690,542 47,290,783 38,689,489

The maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables at the reporting date by business segment was:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Foundation engineering 146,730,555 192,123,531 30,307,223 24,691,729
Trading and leasing of equipment 11,844,220 4,180,820 1,455 2,247
Others 2,179,588 386,191 16,982,105 13,995,513

160,754,363 196,690,542 47,290,783 38,689,489

In relation to financial guarantees issued by the Company on behalf of its subsidiaries and an associate, the credit 
risk, being the principal risk to which the Company is exposed, represents the loss that would be recognised upon a 
default by the subsidiary or the associate. At the reporting date, the Group has issued guarantees to banks in respect 
of bank facilities granted to an associate amounting to $2,249,373 (2009: $2,342,982) and the Company has issued 
guarantees to banks in respect of bank facilities granted to subsidiaries and an associate amounting to $207,119,257 
(2009: $188,956,219). At the reporting date, the Group and the Company do not consider it probable that a claim will 
be made against the Company under the guarantees.

At the balance sheet date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Liquidity risk

To ensure continuity of funding, the Group’s policy is to use a mix of long-term and short-term financing. Short-term 
funding is obtained through overdraft and trust receipt facilities. Long-term funding is primarily used for acquisition 
of property, plant and equipment and development properties. The Group evaluates various alternative financing 
arrangements to balance its debt leverage.

Included in total assets of the Group at the balance sheet date are progress billing receivables and trade receivables 
totalling $152,971,680 (2009: $191,513,968). The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on the timely settlement 
of progress billings and trade receivables. The Group carefully monitors current and expected liquidity requirements to 
ensure that it maintains sufficient working capital and adequate external financing to meet its liquidity requirements in 
the short and longer term.

The Group maintains adequate short term facilities totalling approximately $120,132,838 (2009: $86,716,090) that can 
be drawn down to meet short term financing needs. As at 31 March 2010, $50,052,459 (2009: $13,351,955) of the 
facilities had been utilised. The short term facilities attract a short term interest rate imposed by the applicable banks 
from time to time.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Market price risk

The Group is exposed to risk of changes in building material prices due to the nature of foundation engineering works. 
The Group has no significant exposure to market price risk at balance sheet date because certain materials are procured 
at fixed prices at the inception of the contracts or supplied directly by customers. In addition, foundation engineering 
contracts have short tenures of 3 to 6 months, which limit the exposure to fluctuating prices.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to its interest-earning financial assets and interest-
bearing financial liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed by the Group on an on-going basis with the primary objective of 
limiting the extent to which net interest expense could be affected by an adverse movement in interest rates. The Group 
does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk.

Group Company
Carrying amount Carrying amount

2010 2009 2010 2009
$ $ $ $

Profile

Fixed rate instruments
Financial asset 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 -
Financial liabilities (41,634,755) (64,244,069) (2,792,422) (8,056,605)

(39,634,755) (64,244,069) (792,422) (8,056,605)

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 5,098,984 14,194,332 - 239,554
Financial liabilities (30,696,265) (17,884,286) - -

(25,597,281) (3,689,954) - 239,554
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

For the variable rate financial assets and liabilities, a change of 100 basis point (bp) in interest rate at the balance sheet 

date would increase/(decrease) profit or loss (and accumulated profits) (before any tax effect) by the amounts shown 

below. A decrease in 100 bp in interest rate would have an equal but opposite effect. This analysis assumes that all other 

variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

Group Company
Profit before tax Profit before tax

2010 2009 2010 2009
$ $ $ $

100 bp increase

Variable rate financial instruments (255,973) (36,900) - 2,396

There is no impact on equity. 

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the 

respective functional currencies of the Group’s entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the Euro, US 

dollar and Japanese Yen. Exposure to foreign currency risk is monitored on an ongoing basis by the Group to ensure that 

the net exposure is at an acceptable level.

The Group does not use derivatives to hedge its foreign exchange risk.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currencies is as follows:

Euro US dollar Japanese Yen
Group $ $ $

2010
Trade and other receivables 5,007,152 286,323 -
Cash and cash equivalents 2,717,606 97,186 267,439
Bank overdraft (16,159) - -
Trade and other payables (8,465,810) (612,132) (1,812,371)

(757,211) (228,623) (1,544,932)
2009
Trade and other receivables 95,238 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 904,477 120,065 -
Trade and other payables (4,006,610) (595,144) -

(3,006,895) (475,079) -
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of following major currencies against the functional currency of each of the Group’s entities at 

the balance sheet date would increase/(decrease) profit or loss (and accumulated profits) (before any tax effect) by the 

amounts shown below. Similarly, a 10% weakening would have had the equal but opposite effect. This analysis assumes 

that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Profit before tax
2010 2009

Group $ $

Euro (75,721) (300,690)
US dollar (22,862) (47,508)
Japanese Yen (154,493) -

There is no impact on equity.

Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts

The carrying amounts of financial instruments of the Group and the Company carried at cost or amortised cost are not 

materially different from their fair values as at the reporting date except as follows:

Carrying 
amounts Fair value

Carrying 
amounts Fair value

2010 2010 2009 2009
$ $ $ $

Group

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate bank loans (3,042,422) (3,236,917) (8,056,605) (8,215,353)
Finance lease liabilities (38,592,333) (38,132,239) (56,122,545) (54,163,901)

(41,634,755) (41,369,156) (64,179,150) (62,379,254)
Unrecognised gain 265,599 1,799,896

Company

Financial liability
Fixed rate bank loan (2,792,422) (2,986,917) (8,056,605) (8,525,055)
Unrecognised loss (194,495) (468,450)
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Fair values (cont’d)

Interest rates used in determining fair values

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the government yield curve at 

31 March plus an adequate credit spread, and are as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

Group % % % %

Fixed rate bank loans 2.68 – 7.10 5.00 – 7.00 7.10 5.10
Finance lease liabilities 2.60 – 5.00 2.60 – 5.52 - -

Estimation of fair values

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate fair values of the following significant classes of 

financial instruments:

Fixed rate bank loans, finance lease liabilities and non-current receivables

The fair value has been determined by discounting the relevant cash flows with current interest rates for similar instruments 

at the balance sheet date.

Investments in equity securities

The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the 

reporting date.

Floating interest rate bank loans

The carrying amounts of floating interest bearing loans, which are repriced within 1 year from the balance sheet date, 

reflect the corresponding fair values.

Other financial assets and liabilities

The notional amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade and other 

receivables, progress billing receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and short term borrowings) 

are assumed to approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity. All other financial assets and 

liabilities are discounted to determine their fair values.



CSC Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2010 115

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Fair values (cont’d)

Financial instruments by category

Set out below is an analysis of the financial instruments of the Group and the Company by category:

Note

Loans
and 

receivables

Available-
for-sale financial 

assets

Liabilities
at amortised 

cost Total
$ $ $ $

Group

2010
Assets
Trade and other receivables excluding 

prepayments 11 160,754,363 - - 160,754,363
Cash and cash equivalents 12 31,943,619 - - 31,943,619

192,697,982 - - 192,697,982

Liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 17 - - (60,240,859) (60,240,859)
Trade and other payables excluding 

advanced payments received for 
contracts 19 - - (94,316,520) (94,316,520)

- - (154,557,379) (154,557,379)

2009
Assets
Financial assets 8 - 2,047 - 2,047
Trade and other receivables excluding 

prepayments 11 196,690,542 - - 196,690,542
Cash and cash equivalents 12 29,886,837 - - 29,886,837

226,577,379 2,047 - 226,579,426

Liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 17 - - (72,685,790) (72,685,790)
Trade and other payables excluding 

advanced payments received for 
contracts 19 - - (125,391,913) (125,391,913)

- - (198,077,703) (198,077,703)

Company

2010
Assets
Trade and other receivables excluding 

prepayments 11 47,290,783 - - 47,290,783
Cash and cash equivalents 12 6,503,307 - - 6,503,307

53,794,090 - - 53,794,090

Liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 17 - - (2,792,422) (2,792,422)
Trade and other payables 19 - - (1,943,464) (1,943,464)

- - (4,735,886) (4,735,886)
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Fair values (cont’d)

Financial instruments by category (cont’d)

Note

Loans
and 

receivables

Liabilities
at amortised 

cost Total
Company $ $ $

2009
Assets
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 11 38,689,489 - 38,689,489
Cash and cash equivalents 12 4,209,939 - 4,209,939

42,899,428 - 42,899,428

Liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 17 - (8,056,605) (8,056,605)
Trade and other payables 19 - (4,360,036) (4,360,036)

- (12,416,641) (12,416,641)

28 DIVIDENDS

After the reporting date, the following dividends were proposed by the directors. The dividends have not been provided 

for and there is no income tax consequences.

Group and Company
2010 2009

$ $

Final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.40 cents (2009: 0.37 cents)  
per ordinary share 4,893,975 4,526,372

The dividends are subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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29 COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had the following commitments:

(a) The Group leases offices and equipment under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 6 

months to 30 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are usually revised at each 

renewal date to reflect market rentals. None of the leases include contingent rental.

 Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases:

2010 2009
$ $

Within 1 year 4,783,561 4,230,441
After 1 year but within 5 years 9,299,666 9,539,376
After 5 years 9,769,916 11,232,548

23,853,143 25,002,365

(b) Capital expenditure contracted for but not recognised in the financial statements is as follows:

2010 2009
$ $

Capital commitment in respect of:
- acquisition of property, plant and equipment 5,712,591 734,805

(c) The Group leases out certain areas of its leasehold building. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 

months to 4 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are usually revised at each 

renewal date to reflect market rentals. None of the leases include contingent rental.

 Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are receivable as follows:

2010 2009
$ $

Within 1 year 1,489,980 1,368,771
After 1 year but within 5 years 969,936 3,794

2,459,916 1,372,565
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30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) In August 2007, the Company was served with a Writ and Statement of Claim by Isyoda (M) Sdn Bhd (“Isyoda”), a 

company incorporated in Malaysia, relating to the additional purchase consideration of RM709,000 (approximately 

$304,000) for the Company’s acquisition of G-Pile Sistem Sdn. Bhd.

 The Group reached an agreement with Isyoda in July 2009 to resolve the matters out of court. The Group has 

recorded $206,043 as final settlement with Isyoda in the income statement in the current year.

(b) As at 31 March 2010, there were outstanding liquidated damages claims against the Group on projects undertaken 

by the Group.

 A claim approximating $3.5 million is currently under arbitration. Based on the assessment made by an external 

claim consultant, management is of the view that the Group has a valid defence against this claim. Accordingly, 

no liability has been recognised in the financial statements.

 There is another claim of approximately $6.5 million. Management is of the opinion that the Group has a valid 

defence against the claim and accordingly, no liability has been recognised in the financial statements in respect 

of this claim.
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31 RELATED PARTIES

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the activities of the Group. The directors and senior management are considered as key management 

personnel of the Group.

Key management personnel compensation comprised:
Group

2010 2009
$ $

Short-term employee benefits 5,274,471 6,862,397
Post employment benefits 164,168 159,680
Share-based payments 583,445 1,284,516

6,022,084 8,306,593

Directors and senior management also participate in the Group’s CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004. No share 

options (2009: 24,350,000) were granted to the directors and senior management of the Group during the year. At the 

balance sheet date, 43,890,000 (2009: 52,200,000) of the share options granted to the directors and senior management 

of the Company were outstanding.

Other related party transactions

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the transactions with related parties are as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$ $

Related corporations
Revenue from foundation engineering works 1,246,989 766,519
Revenue from rental and service income 367,769 154,962
Expenses for foundation engineering works 205,139 209,240
Operating lease expenses 1,103,985 4,745,428
Purchase of development properties 2,813,072 -
Purchase of plant and equipment 5,008,184 17,043,814
Upkeep of machinery and equipment expenses 504,053 523,649
Sale of plant and equipment 200,000 5,307,800

Associate
Revenue from rental and service income - 36,330
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STaTEmENTS cont’d
Year ended 31 March 2010

32 SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Business segments

The Group has two reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The 

strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require 

different marketing strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the Group’s Executive Committee reviews 

the internal management reports on a monthly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of 

the Group’s reportable segments:

Foundation engineering : Includes civil engineering, piling, foundation and geotechnical engineering, 

soil investigation, land surveying and other related services.

Trading and leasing of equipment : Sales and rental of heavy equipment, machinery and spare parts

Other operations include the sale and sublet of land, property development and the manufacturing and trading 

of precast concrete products. None of these segments meet any of the quantitative thresholds for determining 

reportable segments in 2010 or 2009.

The bases of measurement of the reportable segments are in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based 

on segment profit before income tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the 

Group’s Executive Committee. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such 

information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate 

within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.



CSC Holdings Limited  |  Annual Report 2010 121

32
 

SE
G

M
EN

T 
R

EP
O

RT
IN

G
 (

C
O

N
T’

D
)

(a
) 

B
us

in
es

s 
se

gm
en

ts
 (

co
nt

’d
)

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ab
ou

t 
re

po
rt

ab
le

 s
eg

m
en

ts

Fo
un

da
ti

on
  

en
gi

ne
er

in
g

Tr
ad

in
g 

an
d 

le
as

in
g 

of
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t
O

th
er

s
To

ta
l

31
/3

/2
01

0
31

/3
/2

00
9

31
/3

/2
01

0
31

/3
/2

00
9

31
/3

/2
01

0
31

/3
/2

00
9

31
/3

/2
01

0
31

/3
/2

00
9

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

Ex
te

rn
al

 r
ev

en
ue

24
5,

88
2,

40
4

52
3,

85
9,

66
0

35
,2

40
,4

83
42

,2
14

,1
94

3,
93

6,
23

5
2,

02
3,

18
0

28
5,

05
9,

12
2

56
8,

09
7,

03
4

In
te

r-
se

gm
en

t r
ev

en
ue

15
,7

63
,8

28
19

,1
18

,0
60

9,
80

8,
39

8
16

,1
58

,1
80

72
,6

14
19

6,
02

7
25

,6
44

,8
40

35
,4

72
,2

67

R
ep

or
ta

bl
e 

se
gm

en
t p

ro
fit

/(l
os

s)
be

fo
re

 in
co

m
e 

ta
x

22
,6

78
,3

80
58

,7
30

,2
63

4,
98

5,
88

5
8,

00
9,

50
8

(6
21

,6
90

)
(8

85
,4

20
)

27
,0

42
,5

75
65

,8
54

,3
51

Sh
ar

e 
of

 p
ro

fit
/(l

os
s)

 o
f e

qu
ity

 
m

et
ho

d 
in

ve
st

ee
s

17
0,

00
0

(2
20

,0
00

)
-

-
2,

69
8,

64
5

-
2,

86
8,

64
5

(2
20

,0
00

)
R

ep
or

ta
bl

e 
se

gm
en

t a
ss

et
s

32
7,

05
7,

57
6

36
6,

10
6,

07
2

40
,9

36
,8

07
30

,9
26

,5
49

18
,6

83
,6

03
11

,6
59

,5
04

38
6,

67
7,

98
6

40
8,

69
2,

12
5

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
as

so
ci

at
es

-
-

-
-

4,
54

1,
22

5
-

4,
54

1,
22

5
-

C
ap

ita
l e

xp
en

di
tu

re
18

,1
89

,5
51

62
,2

30
,6

22
1,

43
3,

16
5

12
5,

44
3

-
-

19
,6

22
,7

16
62

,3
56

,0
65

R
ep

or
ta

bl
e 

se
gm

en
t l

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
20

0,
18

4,
04

0
22

6,
84

1,
58

2
22

,2
00

,5
41

16
,6

48
,2

40
19

,0
77

,2
13

11
,4

23
,3

37
24

1,
46

1,
79

4
25

4,
91

3,
15

9

O
th

er
 m

at
er

ia
l i

te
m

s
A

llo
w

an
ce

 (r
ev

er
se

d)
/m

ad
e 

fo
r 

fo
re

se
ea

bl
e 

lo
ss

es
 o

n:
- 

la
nd

 h
el

d 
fo

r 
sa

le
-

-
-

-
(1

,3
00

,0
00

)
30

0,
00

0
(1

,3
00

,0
00

)
30

0,
00

0
- 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

w
or

k-
in

-p
ro

gr
es

s
(1

,0
56

,9
11

)
61

7,
95

0
-

-
-

-
(1

,0
56

,9
11

)
61

7,
95

0
D

ep
re

ci
at

io
n 

of
 p

ro
pe

rt
y,

 p
la

nt
 a

nd
 

eq
ui

pm
en

t
21

,7
99

,7
26

20
,8

49
,1

62
10

4,
18

9
32

,9
90

-
-

21
,9

03
,9

15
20

,8
82

,1
52

Im
pa

ir
m

en
t l

os
se

s 
(r

ev
er

se
d)

/ 
re

co
gn

is
ed

 o
n:

- 
pr

op
er

ty
, p

la
nt

 a
nd

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t

(1
,7

80
,8

25
)

6,
45

0,
90

6
-

-
-

83
,9

98
(1

,7
80

,8
25

)
6,

53
4,

90
4

- 
go

od
w

ill
 o

n 
co

ns
ol

id
at

io
n

-
2,

31
0,

75
9

-
-

-
-

-
2,

31
0,

75
9

- 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
 in

 a
nd

 b
al

an
ce

s 
w

ith
 

as
so

ci
at

es
(1

,5
20

)
(4

7,
96

0)
-

-
(1

,9
33

,8
63

)
1,

09
9,

08
9

(1
,9

35
,3

83
)

1,
05

1,
12

9
- 

tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
gr

es
s 

bi
lli

ng
s 

an
d 

ot
he

r 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
(1

,7
34

,8
47

)
2,

35
1,

15
2

47
6,

67
4

14
0,

41
4

6,
31

6
2,

84
6

(1
,2

51
,8

56
)

2,
49

4,
41

2
In

ve
nt

or
ie

s 
w

ri
tte

n 
do

w
n

-
54

2,
75

2
11

3,
74

9
40

,0
00

-
-

11
3,

74
9

58
2,

75
2



122 OUR PEOPLE : OUR STRENGTH

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STaTEmENTS cont’d
Year ended 31 March 2010

32 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

(a) Business segments (cont’d)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other segmental information:

2010 2009
$ $

Revenue
Total revenue for reportable segments 306,695,113 601,350,094
Other revenue 4,008,849 2,219,207
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (25,644,840) (35,472,267)
Consolidated revenue 285,059,122 568,097,034

Profit or loss
Total profit or loss for reportable segments 27,664,265 66,739,771
Other profit or loss (621,690) (885,420)

27,042,575 65,854,351
Elimination of inter-segment losses/(profits) 4,845,367 (610,710)
Unallocated amounts:
- other corporate expenses (4,731,862) (12,088,765)
Share of profit/(loss) of associates 2,868,645 (220,000)
Consolidated profit before income tax 30,024,725 52,934,876

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 367,994,383 397,032,621
Other assets 18,683,603 11,659,504

386,677,986 408,692,125
Elimination (36,636,204) (18,373,181)
Investments in associates 4,541,225 -
Other unallocated amounts 9,057,145 4,565,518
Consolidated total assets 363,640,152 394,884,462

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 222,384,581 243,489,822
Other liabilities 19,077,213 11,423,337

241,461,794 254,913,159
Elimination (80,788,551) (56,721,276)
Other unallocated amounts 13,165,563 27,800,835
Consolidated total liabilities 173,838,806 225,992,718

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STaTEmENTS cont’d
Year ended 31 March 2010
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32 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

(a) Business segments (cont’d)

Reportable 
segment totals Elimination

Consolidated 
totals

$ $ $

Other segmental information 2010

Capital expenditure 19,622,716 (2,667,709) 16,955,007
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 21,903,915 (608,121) 21,295,794

Other segmental information 2009

Capital expenditure 62,356,065 (8,464,598) 53,891,467
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 20,882,152 (327,161) 20,554,991

(b) Geographical segments

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segment, segment revenue is based on the geographical location 
of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Singapore Malaysia Other regions Elimination Consolidated 
$ $ $ $ $

2010
Revenue from external 

customers 247,382,839 31,874,132 5,802,151 - 285,059,122

Non-current assets 107,557,350 18,068,671 1,573,325 1,966,110 129,165,456

2009
Revenue from external 

customers 534,463,011 33,500,492 133,531 - 568,097,034

Non-current assets 119,679,374 16,573,674 757,349 (6,505,215) 130,505,182
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Particulars Tenure Site Area
(Sq m)

Approx Build-up 
area 

(Sq M)

1. Leasehold industrial land and building on Lots 

A1283900 & A1283901 at No. 2 Tanjong Penjuru  

Crescent, Singapore 608968.

60 years wef

1 July 1980

18,264.9 11,660.4

2. Leasehold industrial land comprising Lots 3920L & 

3610M (Joint development with Soilbuild) Mukim 

7 at Tuas South Avenue 2/5, Singapore 630000

60 years wef 

8 April 2000

29,919.57 36,304.41 

3. Leasehold land known as Lot 3923W, Mukim 7 at 

Tuas South Avenue 2/5, Singapore 630000

60 years wef 

8 April 2000 

2,560 2,560 

4. Leasehold office (MK23-V20069W) on Lot 

No MK23-5885V at 10 Ubi Crescent #06-18, 

Singapore 408564. 

60 years wef 

5 July 1997

231.0 231.0

5. Shoplot, Prima Tiara Phase 2 on Lot 1859, Mukim 

Batu at 2-G-6, Block 2, Prima Tiara, Jalan 6/38A, 

Taman Sri Sinar, Segambut, 52100 Kuala Lumpur, 

Malaysia. 

Freehold 61.4 61.4

6. Leasehold apartment, Medan Putra Condominium 

on Lot 56059, Mukim Batu at B-7-3A, 5, Jalan 

2/62D, Bandar Menjalara, 52200 Kuala Lumpur, 

Malaysia.

99 years wef 

26 Aug 1978

97.0 97.0

7. Leasehold apartment, Medan Putra Condominium 

on Lot 56059, Mukim Batu at B-9-3A, 5, Jalan 

2/62D, Bandar Menjalara, 52200 Kuala Lumpur, 

Malaysia.

99 years wef 

26 Aug 1978

97.0 97.0

8. 2 leasehold adjourning units of 1 ½ storey terraced 

factory on Lot Nos. P.T. 26437 & P.T. 26438, both 

in Mukim of Kajang, District of Hulu Langat, State 

of Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia.

99 years wef

26 Sept 1992

185.81 each 185.81 each

PROPERTIES OF THE GROuP 
As at 31 March 2010
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ANALYSIS OF ShaREhOlDiNGS 
As at 11 June 2010

Issued & fully paid-up capital  : $63,443,651.99

Class of equity security  : Ordinary Shares

Voting rights of ordinary shareholdings  : On a show of hands: One vote for each member

  On a poll: One vote for each ordinary share

SHAREHOLDINGS HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information available to the Company as at 11 June 2010, 65.62% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company is 

held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 - 999 92 0.65 23,461 0.00

1,000 - 10,000 4,624 32.53 34,207,118 2.79

10,001 - 1,000,000 9,441 66.41 575,263,311 46.87

1,000,001 and above 59 0.41 617,749,835 50.34

14,216 100.00 1,227,243,725 100.00

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholder No. of Shares % *

1 TH Investments Pte Ltd 341,825,771 27.92
2 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 21,807,473 1.78
3 OCBC Securities Private Ltd  21,485,000 1.75
4 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd   20,509,000 1.68
5 Ng Chwee Cheng 16,872,500 1.38
6 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 16,464,500 1.34
7 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 12,960,000 1.06
8 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 12,463,009 1.02
9 Lim Hua Tiong 10,205,000 0.83
10 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 8,844,250 0.72
11 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 8,486,750 0.69
12 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 8,463,500 0.69
13 OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 8,318,000 0.68
14 Poh Chee Kuan 7,369,000 0.60
15 Ang Soo Cheng 4,573,837 0.37
16 Tan Ee Ping 4,567,000 0.37
17 Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 4,548,250 0.37
18 Chee Teck Kwong Patrick 4,462,000 0.36
19 Chee Jin San 4,300,000 0.35
20 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 4,291,000 0.35

542,815,840 44.31

* The percentage of shareholdings was computed based on the issued share capital of the Company as at 11 June 2010 of 

1,224,243,725 shares (which excludes 3,000,000 shares which are held as treasury shares representing approximately 0.25% 

of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Number of Shares

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

TH Investments Pte Ltd(1) 341,825,771 27.92 3,000,000 0.25

Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd(1) - - 344,825,771 28.17

Ng San Tiong Roland(1) (2) 3,457,000 0.28 345,325,771 28.21

Ng Sun Ho Tony(1) - - 344,825,771 28.17

Ng San Wee David(1) - - 344,825,771 28.17

Ng Sun Giam Roger(1) - - 344,825,771 28.17

Ng Chwee Cheng(3) 16,872,500 1.38 23,126,000 1.89

Notes:

(1) TH Investments Pte Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tat Hong Investments Pte Ltd, which is a wholly owned subsidiary 

of Chwee Cheng & Sons Pte Ltd. Being joint trustees of the Chwee Cheng Trust, Mr Ng San Tiong Roland, Mr Ng Sun Ho 

Tony, Mr Ng San Wee David and Mr Ng Sun Giam Roger are deemed to be interested in 344,825,771 Shares held by TH 

Investments Pte Ltd. 

(2) Mr Ng San Tiong Roland is also deemed interested in 500,000 Shares held through nominees.

(3) Mr Ng Chwee Cheng is deemed interested in 23,126,000 Shares held through nominees.

ANALYSIS OF ShaREhOlDiNGS cont’d
As at 11 June 2010
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 13th Annual General Meeting of CSC Holdings Limited (“the Company”) will be held at 4th 

Floor, No. 2 Tanjong Penjuru Crescent, Singapore 608968 on Friday, 23 July 2010 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2010 

together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a tax exempt one-tier final dividend of 0.40 Singapore cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 

2010 (2009: Final dividend of 0.37 cents per ordinary share). (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 104 of the Articles of Association of 

the Company:

 Mr Poh Chee Kuan (Resolution 3)

 Mr Ng San Tiong Roland (Resolution 4)

 Mr Tan Hup Foi (Resolution 5)

 

 Mr Poh Chee Kuan will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Risk Management 

Committee, the Committee of the CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004 and the Committee of CSC Performance 

Share Scheme 2008 and will be considered non-independent.

 Mr Ng San Tiong Roland will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit Committee, 

Remuneration Committee, the Committee of the CSC Executive Share Option Scheme 2004 and the Committee of CSC 

Performance Share Scheme 2008 and will be considered non-independent. 

 Mr Tan Hup Foi will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee and a 

member of the Nominating Committee and will be considered independent. 

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$226,000 for the year ended 31 March 2010. (2009: S$306,000) (Resolution 6)

5. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the Company to fix 

their remuneration. (Resolution 7)

6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

NOTICE OF 13TH ANNUAL GENERAL mEETiNG
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AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

  

7. Authority to issue shares 

 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to 

(a) (i)  issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

 (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require shares to 

be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, 

debentures or other instruments convertible into shares, 

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the 

Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in 

pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was 

in force,

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted 

pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of 

the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph 

(2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares and Instruments to be issued other than on a pro rata basis 

to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued 

shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGT-ST for the purpose of determining the aggregate 

number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of issued shares shall 

be based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this 

Resolution, after adjusting for: 

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or 

subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and

(c) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares;

NOTICE OF 13TH ANNUAL GENERAL mEETiNG cont’d
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(3) (Until 31 December 2010 or such other expiration date as may be determined by SGX-ST), the limit on the aggregate 

number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the instruments, made or granted pursuant to this 

Resolution) of fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company set out 

in sub-paragraph (1) above, shall be increased to one hundred per centum (100%) for purpose of enabling the 

company to under take pro-rata renounceable rights issues;

(4) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the 

Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST 

and the Articles of Association of the Company; and 

(5) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until the 

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

[See Explanatory Note (i)] (Resolution 8)

8. Authority to issue shares other than on a pro-rata basis pursuant to the aforesaid share issue mandate at discounts not 

exceeding twenty per centum (20%) of the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST.

 That subject to and pursuant to the aforesaid share issue mandate being obtained, the Directors of the Company be 

hereby authorised and empowered to issue shares (other than on a pro-rata basis to the shareholders of the Company) 

at a discount (“the Discount”) not exceeding ten per centum (10%) to the weighted average price (“the Price”) for trades 

done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares 

is executed (or if not available for a full market day, the weighted average price must be based on the trades done on the 

preceding market day up to the time the placement or subscription agreement is executed), provided that in exercising 

the authority conferred by this Resolution :-

(a) the Company complies with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless 

such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST); and

(b) the Company may, until 31 December 2010 or such other expiration dates as may be determined by SGX-ST 

increase the Discount to an amount exceeding ten per centum (10%) but not more than twenty per centum (20%) 

of the Price for shares to be issued,

 unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until (a) the conclusion 

of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or (b) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 

Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

 [See Explanatory Note (ii)] (Resolution 9)

9. Authority to offer and grant awards under The CSC Performance Share Scheme 2008

 That the Directors of the Company be authorised to offer and grant awards in accordance with the provisions of The CSC 

Performance Share Scheme 2008 (“the PSS Scheme”) and to deliver such number of new shares as may be required to 

be delivered pursuant to the vesting of the awards under the PSS Scheme.

 [See Explanatory Note (iii)] (Resolution 10)



130 OUR PEOPLE : OUR STRENGTH

10. Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

 That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST:

(a) approval be given for the renewal of the mandate for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies or 

any of them to enter into any of the transactions falling within the categories of Interested Person Transactions as 

set out in the Company’s Annual Report with any party who is of the class of Interested Persons described in the 

Annual Report, provided that such transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and in accordance 

with the review procedures of the Company for such Interested Person Transactions as set out in the Company’s 

Annual Report (the “Shareholders’ Mandate”);

(b) the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force 

until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual 

General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier; and

(c) authority be given to the Directors of the Company to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing 

all such documents as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or expedient to give effect to the 

Shareholders’ Mandate as they may think fit.

[See Explanatory Note (iv)] (Resolution 11)

NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN that the Transfer Books and the Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 

25 August 2010 for the preparation of dividend warrants. Duly completed transfers received by the Share Registrar, M&C 

Services Private Limited, 138, Robinson Road #17-00 The Corporate Office, Singapore 068906, up to the close of the 

business at 5 p.m. on 24 August 2010 will be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed dividend. 

The proposed final dividend if approved at the Annual General Meeting will be paid on 3 September 2010.

By Order of the Board

Lee Quang Loong

Company Secretary

Singapore,

2 July 2010

NOTICE OF 13TH ANNUAL GENERAL mEETiNG cont’d
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EXPLANATORY NOTES:

(i) The Ordinary Resolution 8 in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the 

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting 

of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general 

meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares 

pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares in the 

capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders. The 50% limit 

referred to in the preceding sentence may be increased to 100% for the Company to undertake pro-rata renounceable 

rights issues.

 For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares will be calculated 

based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary Resolution is passed 

after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or 

vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed and any 

subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

 The 100% renounceable pro-rata rights issue limit is one of the new measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated 

in a press release entitled “SGX introduces further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 and 

which became effective on 20 February 2009 until 31 December 2010. The effectiveness of these measures will be 

reviewed by the SGX-ST at the end of the period. It will provide the Directors with an opportunity to raise funds and 

avoid prolonged market exposure by reducing the time taken for shareholders’ approval, in the event the need arises. 

Minority shareholders’ interests are mitigated as all shareholders have equal opportunities to participate and can dispose 

their entitlements through trading of nil-paid rights if they do not wish to subscribe for their rights shares. It is subject to 

the condition that the Company makes periodic announcements on the use of the proceeds as and when the funds are 

materially disbursed and provides a status report on the use of proceeds in the annual report.

(ii) The Ordinary Resolution 9 in item 8 above is pursuant to measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated in a press 

release entitled “SGX introduces further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 and which became 

effective on 20 February 2009. Under the measures implemented by the SGX-ST, issuers will be allowed to undertake 

non pro-rata placements of new shares priced at discounts of up to 20% to the weighted average price for trades done 

on the SGX-ST for a full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is 

executed, subject to the conditions that (a) shareholders’ approval be obtained in a separate resolution (the “Resolution”) 

at a general meeting to issue new shares on a non pro-rata basis at discount exceeding 10% but not more than 20%; and 

(b) that the resolution seeking a general mandate from shareholders for issuance of new shares on a non pro-rata basis 

is not conditional upon the Resolution.

 It should be noted that under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, shareholders’ approval is not required for placements of 

new shares, on a non pro-rata basis pursuant to a general mandate, at a discount of up to 10% to the weighted average 

price for trades done on the SGX-ST for a full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation 

to such shares is executed.
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(iii) The Ordinary Resolution 10 in item 9 above, if approved, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date 

of this Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a General 

Meeting, whichever is the earlier, to offer and grant awards under the PSS Scheme in accordance with the provisions of 

the PSS Scheme and to deliver from time to time such number of new shares as may be required to be delivered pursuant 

to the vesting of the awards under the PSS Scheme subject to the maximum number of shares prescribed under the terms 

and conditions of the PSS Scheme. The number of new shares to be issued under the PSS Scheme and such other share-

based incentive scheme of the Company, shall not exceed 15% of the total number of shares of the Company from time 

to time. 

(iv) The Ordinary Resolution 11 proposed in item 10 above, if passed, will authorise the Interested Person Transactions as 

described in the Annual Report and recurring in the year and will empower the Directors of the Company to do all acts 

necessary to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied by the 

Company in a general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date 

by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

NOTES:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint a proxy to 

attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

  

2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at No. 2 Tanjong Penjuru 

Crescent, Singapore 608968 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.

NOTICE OF 13TH ANNUAL GENERAL mEETiNG cont’d
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CSC HOLDINGS LIMITED 
Company Registration No. 199707845E
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

I/We, (Name)

of (Address)

being a member/members of CSC HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies 
to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 13th Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held at the 4th 
Floor, No. 2 Tanjong Penjuru Crescent, Singapore 608968 on 23 July 2010 at 10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We 
direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific 
direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the 
proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in 
demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to:  For Against
1 Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2010
2 Payment of proposed tax exempt one-tier final dividend of 0.40 Singapore cents per 

ordinary shares for the year ended 31 March 2010
3 Re-election of Mr Poh Chee Kuan as a Director
4 Re-election of Mr Ng San Tiong Roland as a Director
5 Re-election of Mr Tan Hup Foi as a Director 
6 Approval of Directors’ Fees amounting to S$226,000 
7 Re-appointment of KPMG LLP as Auditors
8 Authority to issue shares
9 Authority to issue shares up to discount of 20% 
10 Authority to offer and grant awards under The CSC Performance Share Scheme
11 Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions 

Dated this day of 2010

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares
(a) CDP Register

Signature of Shareholder(s) (b) Register of Members
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder
 

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy CSC HOLDINGS 

LIMITED’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the 
CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be 
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by 
them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must 
submit their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the 
time frame specified. If they also wish to vote, they must submit their 
voting instructions to the CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame 
specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.



NOTES :

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of 
Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If 
you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register 
of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or 
proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two 
proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/
her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at 
the Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in 
person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the 
instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at No. 2 Tanjong 
Penjuru Crescent, Singapore 608968 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised 
in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either 
under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or 
proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy 
thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it 
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 
of Singapore.

GENERAL:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed 
or illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company 
may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares 
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified 
by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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